

# **PQSCADA Sapphire**



# **User Manual**

Version 1.0.7.28

### **Contact Information**

Elspec Ltd.

P.O. Box 3019

4 Hashoham St., Zone 23

Caesarea Industrial Park

E-mail: info@elspec-ltd.com

Tel: +972-4-6272470

#### **Proprietary and Confidential**

Copyright © 2020, Elspec Ltd. All rights reserved.

All rights reserved. No part of this manual may be reproduced or copied in any form by any means–graphic, electronic, or mechanical, including photocopying, typing, or information retrieval systems–without the written permission of Elspec Ltd.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

1.		8
	1.1 Key Features	8
2.	LICENSE SELECTION GUIDE	10
3.	TERMS AND DEFINITIONS	13
4.	GETTING STARTED	
	4.1 Installing the Software	
	4.2 Launch Screen Layout	
	4.3 Upgrading the Software	 17
	4.4 Activating the License	
	4.4.1 Online Activation	 18
	4.4.2 Offline Activation	 19
5.		22
	5.1 Connect to a Server (Enterprise edition only)	24
	5.1.1 Connecting to a Remote Server	24
	5.2 Disconnect Server (Enterprise edition only)	24
	5.3 Add a Component (Professional and Enterprise editions only) _	25
	5.3.1 Data Acquisition and Processing	25
	5.3.2 Database (Enterprise edition only)	26
	5.3.3 General	26
	5.3.4 Tags	27
	5.3.5 Compliance	27
	5.3.6 PMU Mapping	27
	5.4 Attach a Component	28
	5.5 Detach Component	28
	5.6 Delete Data from a Component	28
	5.7 Delete Component	28
	5.8 Server Configuration	29
	5.8.1 Components	29
	5.8.2 Log	30
	5.8.3 General	31
	5.8.4 Tags	32
	5.8.5 Line Diagram	36
	5.8.6 Secondary Servers (Enterprise edition only)	36

Table of Contents

	5.8.7	Add-ons	37
	5.8.8	Events	38
	5.8.9	License	42
	5.8.10	Server Communication (Enterprise edition only)	42
	5.8.11	E-mail Configuration (Enterprise edition only)	 43
	5.8.12	SMS Configuration (Enterprise edition only)	43
	5.8.13	Logged-On Users (Enterprise edition only)	43
	5.8.14	User Credentials (Enterprise edition only)	43
	5.8.15.	Billings	44
	5.9. C	omponent Configuration	50
	5.9.1.	Component	50
	5.9.2.	Log	50
	5.9.3.	General	50
	5.9.4.	Data Acquisition and Processing	52
	5.9.5.	Power Quality	56
	5.9.6.	Database	58
	5.9.7.	Tags	58
	5.9.8.	Unit Configuration	59
	5.9.9.	Confirm the deletion by clicking the 'OK' button when prompted Energy	65
	5.9.10.	Query Settings	66
6.	INVES		67
	6.1. D	rag and Drop Files to PQSCADA Sapphire	69
	6.1.1.	Status window	69
	6.1.2.	File Record Types	70
	6.2. S	tart New Investigation Wizard	74
	6.2.1.	Importing Files\Folders from a Local Computer	 75
	6.2.2.	Importing Files from an FTP Server	76
	6.2.3.	Creating Investigation from a Component	77
	6.3. In	vestigation Bar	80
	6.3.1.	Save an Investigation	80
	6.3.2.	Share an Investigation	80
	6.3.3.	Export an Investigation	80
	6.3.4.	Open a Saved Investigation	80
	6.3.5.	Add Component to an Investigation	81
	6.3.6.	Rename an Investigation	81

	6.3.7. Move an Investigation Tab	81
	6.3.8. Close an Investigation Tab	
	6.4. Views	
	6.4.1. Add a New View	
	6.4.2. Rename a View	
	6.4.3. Move a View Tab	83
	6.4.4. Clone View	83
	6.4.5. Close a View Tab	83
	6.4.6. Actions Menu	84
	6.4.7. View Toolbar	85
	6.5. Charts	87
	6.5.1. Add a New Chart	
	6.5.2. Chart Types	
	6.5.3. Real time charts	110
	6.5.4. Min/Max View	112
	6.5.5. Drilling In	113
	6.6. Charts Tree	116
	6.6.1. Move Parameters Between Charts	116
	6.7. Templates	118
	6.7.1. Investigation Template	118
	6.7.2. Include Event in a Template	119
	6.7.3. Event Template	119
	6.7.4. Files Template	120
7.	POWER QUALITY MODULE	121
	7.1. Compliance Toolbar	123
	7.2. Starting a New Compliance Investigation	123
	7.3. Compliance Trend	124
	7.4. Drill In	125
	7.5. Rules Overview	125
	7.6. Events	125
8. I		127
	8.1. Home Page	127
	8 2 Energy Toolbar	: <b>_</b> : 129
	8.3. Add New Dashboard	1.30
	8.4. Resolution	100

8.5. Start Query	131
8.6. Widgets	132
9. OVERVIEW MODULE	136
9.1. Overview Toolbar	137
9.2. Map Components	137
9.2.1. Adding/Removing a Component to the Map	139
9.2.2. Adding/Removing Parameter to a Component	139
9.3. Line Diagram	140
9.3.1. Line Diagram parameters	140
9.3.2. Line Diagram tool bar	142
9.3.3. Widgets	142
10. SETUP	143
10.1. Users/Groups	143
10.1.1. Authentication Providers	143
10.1.2. Creating Users	145
10.1.3. Creating Groups	145
10.1.4. General tab	146
10.1.5. Assigning Permissions to Groups and Users	147
10.2. Client Settings	150
10.2.1. Localization Settings	150
10.2.2. Proxy Settings	152
10.2.3. Investigation Settings	153
10.2.4. PQ Settings	155
10.2.5. System Module Settings	155
10.2.6. Overview Settings	156
10.2.7. Security Settings	156
10.3. About Application	157
10.4. Install/Upgrade License	157
10.5. Download New Update	157
11. SCHEDULER	158
11.1. Add or Disconnect a Server	159
11.2. View mode	159
11.3. Tasks List	159
11.4. Log	160
11.5. Adding a task	160

11.5.1. Export Task Common Wizard	161
11.5.2. Specific export types	174
11.5.3. Report Task Common Wizard	176
11.5.4. Specific Report Types	179
11.5.4.2. Control and Maintenance Task (Enterprise edition only)	180
11.5.4.3. Modifying a Task	185
11.5.4.4. Deleting a Task	185
11.5.4.5. Opening an Attachment	185
12. SPECIAL FEATURES	186
12.1. CSV Import	186
12.1.1. Mapping selection	186
12.1.2. CSV Component	189
12.2. Event source detection	189
13. APPENDICES	191
Appendix A. Compliance	191
Appendix B. Loads and Connections	193
Appendix C. Historical Data	196
C.1. Binary and Summary Data	196
C.2. Recalculation Process	197

# 1. Introduction

In today's world, power distribution networks deploy an array of protection equipment, power quality analyzers, revenue meters, and other monitoring equipment to ensure high quality and reliable power flow, as well as energy efficiency.

The ability to analyze synchronized data from a variety of data sources by one system is essential for meeting today's highest level of reliability, quality, and energy efficiency.

PQSCADA Sapphire's multi-vendor support sets new standards in power monitoring management software, which enables the acquisition and analysis of all field-generated data on a central software solution, regardless of the IED manufacturer. PQSCADA Sapphire is an expandable platform in which additional capabilities can be easily added as add-ons, or independently developed by API to meet the customer's custom needs and applications.

PQSCADA can be installed in a single-node system, as well as in a distributed client/server structure.

## 1.1 Key Features

## Multi-Vendor Support

PQSCADA Sapphire acquires, processes, and stores recorded data from any recording device through a variety of communication protocols and file formats. PQSCADA Sapphire will automatically calculate and store ~5,000 power parameters, including individual harmonics from acquired waveform signals.

## **Simplifies IT Environment**

PQSCADA Sapphire simplifies your IT environment by eliminating the need to purchase, install, train users, and maintain multiple systems.

#### No Missed Events

PQSCADA Sapphire has sophisticated event detection capabilities, enabling the devices to record only raw data. PQSCADA Sapphire will find events according to user-defined thresholds during post-processing.

#### Secured Access

PQSCADA Sapphire data can be reached from any location using standard secured firewall-friendly protocols.

#### **Get Notifications**

PQSCADA Sapphire preconfigured scenarios enable sending emails, SMS's, and Push notifications to users.

#### **Easily Fix Misconfigurations**

PQSCADA Sapphire allows correcting device installation and configuration errors by recalculating recorded data, such as reverse polarity, swap phases, connection type, VT/CT ratio, and time inaccuracy which can be easily corrected in past and future measurements.

## **Reporting & Compliance**

PQSCADA Sapphire offers a comprehensive reporting and compliance engine, allowing the design of report templates and compliance policies according to various standards or custom requirements. Reports can be generated manually or on a daily, weekly, monthly, or yearly schedule. Reports can also be triggered by compliance policy violations or by event occurrence.

#### See the Whole Picture

PQSCADA Sapphire offers a unique set of charts and reports empowering the ability to plan, control, and make data-driven decisions. Get an overview of the electrical network and measuring devices over a geographic map.

## <u>Control</u>

PQSCADA Sapphire allows upgrading and/or configuring deployed devices within the network. The tasks automatically update the devices with any Firmware/Configuration files.

#### Synchronized Monitoring

A unique time synchronization algorithm assures that logged data from multiple units is synchronized and displayed on the same time scale, with a 0.5  $\mu$ s typical resolution. Each event on the grid is accurately analyzed for precise root cause analysis, behavior propagation, and can be traced to its source.

#### BlackBox Devices

PQSCADA Sapphire collects compressed recorded raw waveform data using ELSPEC PQZ patented protocol. Raw data is processed, stored, and retrieved upon demand as continuous information. This ensures that all the required information to keep the network fully functioning and safe is acquired.

# 2. License Selection Guide

Table 2-1 compares the available PQSACADA license options.

## Table 2-1. PQSCADA Sapphire License Comparison

File Protocol	Express	Professional	Enterprise
PQZIP	Import/Export	Import/Export	Import/Export
PQZ	Import/Export	Import/Export	Import/Export
COMTRADE	Import/Export	Import/Export	Import/Export
PQDIF	Import/Export	Import/Export	Import/Export
Excel	Export	Export	Export
CSV	Import/Export	Import/Export	Import/Export
	Supported prot	ocols	
PQZ	N/A	Yes	Yes
MODBUS	N/A	Per license	Per license
IEC 61850	N/A	Per license	Per license
	Investigatio	on	
Measurement points/investigation	2	Unlimited	Unlimited
Trend Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Grid Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Spectrum Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Event Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Unipede Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Statistics Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Scatter Event Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Scatter Parameters chart	N/A	Yes	Yes
Phasors	N/A	Yes	Yes
Energy Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
Cyclic Histogram	N/A	Yes	Yes
Summary Chart	Yes	Yes	Yes
	Tasks		
Schedule task	N/A	N/A	Yes
Triggered by event	N/A	N/A	Yes
Manual	Yes	Yes	Yes

File Protocol	Express	Professional	Enterprise
Reports			
Compliance report	Yes	Yes	Yes
Fault location	N/A	Per license	Per license
	Componen	ts	
Auto fetching	N/A	Yes	Yes
Number of Auto Fetching components Elspec brand	N/A	Per license	Per license
Number of Auto Fetching components other brands	N/A	Per license	Per license
	Server		
Concurrent users	1	1	Per license
Security	N/A	N/A	Yes
System Service	N/A	N/A	Yes
Remote access	N/A	N/A	Yes
Servers hierarchy	N/A	N/A	Yes
	DataBase		
DataBase size	3 months of continuous recording	1 year of continuous recording	Unlimited
SQL Light	Yes	Yes	Yes
MS SQL server	N/A	N/A	Yes
Postgres	N/A	N/A	Yes
	Client module and	features	
Overview	N/A	Per license	Per license
Tags	N/A	Per license	Per license
	Notificatior	IS	
Emails	N/A	N/A	Yes
SMS	N/A	N/A	Yes
	Calculated para	meters	
RMS	Yes	Yes	Yes
THD	Yes	Yes	Yes
Unbalance	Yes	Yes	Yes
PST	Yes	Yes	Yes
PLT	Yes	Yes	Yes
Active Power	Yes	Yes	Yes
Reactive power	Yes	Yes	Yes
Apparent Power	Yes	Yes	Yes
Power factor	Yes	Yes	Yes
Energy	Yes	Yes	Yes
Waveform	Yes	Yes	Yes
Under deviation	Yes	Yes	Yes
Over deviation	Yes	Yes	Yes
IL 15 Min	Yes	Yes	Yes

File Protocol	Express	Professional	Enterprise
IL 30 Min	Yes	Yes	Yes
TDD 15 Min	Yes	Yes	Yes
TDD 30 Min	Yes	Yes	Yes
TIF	Yes	Yes	Yes
Harmonics	up to 50	Yes	Yes
Harmonics %	up to 50	Yes	Yes
Inter-harmonics	Yes	Yes	Yes
Spectrum	Amplitude	Amplitude + Angle	Amplitude + Angle
RMS Fundamental	N/A	Yes	Yes
THD Even	N/A	Yes	Yes
THD Odd	N/A	Yes	Yes
Fundamental Waveform	N/A	Yes	Yes
Harmonics Waveform	N/A	Yes	Yes
Active Power Harmonics	N/A	Yes	Yes
Reactive Power Harmonics	N/A	Yes	Yes
Apparent Power Harmonics	N/A	Yes	Yes
CBC Frequency	N/A	Yes	Yes
HRMS	N/A	Yes	Yes
Crest Factor	N/A	Yes	Yes
K Factor	N/A	Yes	Yes
Positive Sequence	N/A	Yes	Yes
Negative Sequence	N/A	Yes	Yes
Zero Sequence	N/A	Yes	Yes
Cyclic Histogram	N/A	Yes	Yes
	Energy		
Energy	N/A	N/A	Per license

# 3. Terms and Definitions

Term	Definition
Component	A Component serves as a logical representation of either a physical device, which acts as a source of data, or an investigation. These representations are derived from various file types, including but not limited to pqzip, comtrade, pqdif, and more.
Feeder	The Feeder is a vital component of an electrical distribution system. It plays a crucial role in carrying electrical power from a designated source to various destinations within the system. The Feeder is specifically designed to deliver power at a precise voltage level, ensuring efficient and reliable distribution.
	Depending on the requirements of the electrical distribution system, the Feeder is designed to operate at specific voltage levels, such as 480 volts or 11,000 volts. This targeted voltage ensures that the power is delivered effectively and meets the needs of the connected devices or equipment.
Instance	A representation of a physical computer on which PQSCADA Sapphire is running.
Nominal value	Nominal value refers to a specific value assigned to a component, circuit, device, piece of equipment, or system under predetermined or specified conditions. It represents the expected or designated value that is considered standard or typical for the given entity.
Tag	"Tags" are utilized to effectively organize, and group components based on predefined characteristics. Tags serve as labels or markers that are assigned to components within the system, allowing for easy categorization and grouping of related items.
Task	Tasks are additional functionalities that enhance the capabilities of the software. They are designed to run on specific processes and provide valuable features for users. PQSCADA Sapphire supports three main task types: Control and Maintenance, Exports, and Reports.
Quantity	Refers to graphical representations of measured data displayed in a chart format. A Quantity is a collection of series that exhibit slightly different characteristics, such as minimum/maximum values, averages, or other relevant statistics.

## Table 3-1. Terms and Definitions

## 4. Getting Started

## 4.1 Installing the Software

Note: Before installing the software, ensure the following:

- There is at least 13 GB of free space on the computer for installation.
- You are the admin of the computer the software is being installed.
- 1. Download the PQSCADA Sapphire set-up file from the Elspec website.
- 2. Double-click the Elspec Sapphire Setup v1.x.x.x file to run the setup wizard.

The Welcome page appears (indicating the version being installed).

🍕 PQS Sapphire Setup	×
	FGPEC
- Inde and the second sec	
Welcome to the PQS Sapphire	
Setup Wizard	
The Setup Wizard will allow you to change the way PQS Sapphir installed on your computer or even to remove PQS Sapphire fron computer. Click "Next" to continue or "Cancel" to exit the Setup	e features are 1 your Wizard.
< <u>B</u> ack   lext >	Cancel

- 3. Click Next to start the installation.
- 4. Select the installation folder path.
- 5. Click Next to install.

The End-User License Agreement is displayed.

- 6. Read the license agreement; select I accept the terms in the License Agreement option and click Next.
- 7. Click **Install** to start the installation process.

Wait for the program to be installed.

🧛 PQS Sapphire Setup	×
	<b><u><u></u>GPEC</u></b>
	many.
Completing the PQS Sapphire Setup Wizard Click the "Finish" button to exit the Setup Wizard.	
< <u>B</u> ack <b>Einish</b>	Cancel

8. Click **Finish** to launch the PQS Sapphire application.

After the first installation of a client, or in every PQSCADA activation, the following message appears.

Install License	
Select License Activation Mode	
Online activation	
Offline activation	
Continue with Express mode	
Get Sapphire Professional Edition 30-days trial key	
Do not display this window again.	
	Back     Finish     Cancel

**Note:** To activate your PQScada Sapphire License, select one of the first two Activation Modes and continue as described in section 4.4.

9. Press **Finish** to continue in the **Express** mode (no license) to work in the limitations presented in Table 2-1.

## 4.2 Launch Screen Layout

Launching the PQSCADA Sapphire application opens in the Investigation module main screen.

Sapphire (Version: 1.0.6.11)	- & x
Coverview	<u>ên 10</u>
Drag files to create new investigation Drag files to an existing component	
- or -	
Start new investigation	

#### Figure 4-1. Investigation module main screen

The available PSCADA Sapphire modules are displayed on the Modules bar:

- **Overview** (see section 0)
- Power Quality (see section 7)
- Investigation (see section 6)
- Energy (see section 0)
- **System** (see section 5)

On the upper right corner are the following two icons:

- Setup icon (see section 0)
- Schedule icon (see section 0)

## 4.3 Upgrading the Software

There are two ways to upgrade the software.

The first one is when the Setup icon turns orange. This occurs when the computer is connected to an active internet and the application detects that a new file is available.

- 1. Press the Setup icon. A drop-down menu opens.
- 2. Select to Download the file.
- 3. Continue by following the software installation instructions (see section 4.1).

The second way is through Elspec's website:

- 1. Go to the Elspec website.
- 2. Copy the Installation file to your computer and follow the software installation instructions (see section 4.1).

## 4.4 Activating the License

## 4.4.1 Online Activation

To run Online activation, make sure your computer is connected to the internet.

Note: Activation for the Enterprise edition must run on the server machine.

1. Click the **Setup** icon (upper right corner of the application) and select **Install/Upgrade** license from the menu to launch the Upgrade License wizard.

ograde License	
Select License Activation Mode	
Online activation	
O Offline activation	
	Back Next Cancel

- 2. Mark the Online activation radio button.
- 3. Click Next to go to the License Key page.

Colored Lineares Antiputions Manda	Lines Kar		
Select License Activation Mode	License Key		
Please add your license key:			

- 4. Enter your license ID. It is recommended copying and pasting the License ID from the License Certificate received from Elspec. This will avoid issues of distinguishing between letters and numbers.
- 5. Click **Next** to run the activation.
- 6. On a successful license activation:
  - a. Click **Close** for a Professional license setup.
  - b. Click Next for an Enterprise license and the PQS service installation (see section 4.4.1.1).

## 4.4.1.1. Service Installation for Enterprise Edition

With the Enterprise edition license ID installation, the PQSCADA Sapphire service installation wizard opens automatically.

After installing the software, an Instance with SQLite DB is created.

If required, the user can configure the PQSCADA Sapphire to use a different type of database.

#### To create an instance with a different DB:

- 1. Select the **System** module.
- 2. Right-click the server instance and select **delete server**.
- 3. Right-click the server instance and select create server.

Configure the following options on the Database page:

**DB Type** – Select the database type in which PQSCADA Sapphire will store the data. PQSCADA Sapphire supports the following DB types:

- SQLite.
- MS SQL Server (MSSQL).
- PostgreSQL DB.

Select the DB type & configure the following options:

- **DB URL** enter the DB URL or click Browse to search for the SQL service.
- DB username enter your DB username.
- **Password** enter your DB password.

**Note**: The mentioned configuration is compatible with both MSSQL and PostgreSQL database systems.

- 4. Click **Test** to verify the connection with the DB.
- 5. Click **create** to close the wizard.

## 4.4.2 Offline Activation

This option is used by clients without an internet connection (e.g., secured production environment).

1. Click the **Setup** icon and select **Install/Upgrade** license from the menu to launch the Upgrade License wizard.

Note: The Enterprise edition activation must be performed on the server machine.

Online activation				
Offline activation	i.			
I have a license f	le received via Ema	lia		

- 2. Mark the **Offline activation** radio button.
- 3. Click **Next** to go to the License Key page.

- 4. Enter your license ID. It is recommended copying and pasting the License ID from the License Certificate received from Elspec. This will avoid issues of distinguishing between letters and numbers.
- 5. Click **Next** to open the Create License Request File page.



- 6. Select the following:
  - Save --store the license request file on your server.
  - Send by Email opens your default email client for sending the license request file by email.
- 7. Click **Finish** to close the wizard.
- 8. Copy the "request" license request file to the computer with an internet connection.
- 9. Browse to Elspec licensing website.

Sa English · Company	ny ∽ Careers Cont	act Us Elspe	c shop ∨ My Acc	ount 🗸	🛱 CART 🗸			0
gĠpec *	nalyzers & Recorders ~	PQ Softwa	are 🗸 Power Qu	ality Solutions	<ul> <li>Case Studies</li> </ul>	Knowledge Base	Support	۹
						2		
	Download	Partner	SW License	Ticket	Release Notes	FAQ		
Cat licence details	Activate li	conce	Desetivata li					
Get license details	Activate I	Cellse	Deactivate in	Letise				
Activate Licens	e							
			Drag & Drop	to Upload Fil	e			
			Brow	/se File				
L								

#### Figure 4-2. Elspec licensing website

- 10. On the Elspec licensing website, select Activate license.
- 11. Drop the "request" license file into the designated window.
- 12. Download the "response" license file to your local computer.

#### 4.4.2.1. Activating the License File

- 1. Open the license "response" file onto the PQSCADA Sapphire computer.
- Click the Setup icon and select the Install/Upgrade license to launch the Upgrade License wizard.

- 3. On the License Activation Mode, do the following:
  - Select the **Offline activation** radio button.
  - Click I have a license file received via email.
  - Browse to the license file location and select it.
- 4. Click Next.

#### 4.4.2.2. Service Installation for Enterprise Edition

With the Enterprise edition license ID installation, the PQSCADA Sapphire service installation wizard opens automatically.

After installing the service, an Instance with SQLite DB is created.

If required, the user can configure the PQSCADA Sapphire to use a different type of database, as described in section 0 above.

## 5. System Module

The System module in PQSCADA Sapphire is utilized for the configuration and monitoring of objects within the system. PQSCADA Sapphire supports two types of objects:

- **Instance:** An Instance represents a physical computer on which PQSCADA Sapphire is running. There are two types of instances supported by PQSCADA Sapphire:
  - Local Machine: In the Express and Professional editions, PQSCADA Sapphire runs as a user process on the local machine.
  - **Server:** In the Enterprise edition, PQSCADA Sapphire runs as a Windows service on either a local or remote location.
- **Component:** A Component is a logical representation of a physical device within PQSCADA Sapphire. Components are hosted under an Instance. PQSCADA Sapphire supports two main types of components:
  - **Investigation Component:** These components are created by manually fetching files for analysis within the system.
  - Auto Fetching Component: This type of component supports various communication protocols to automatically fetch data. Auto Fetching components are available in the Professional and Enterprise editions only. The number of auto-fetching components included in a specific license is defined (e.g., the Enterprise License includes 20 autofetching components by default, but the user can request to increase this number).



#### Figure 5-1. System Module

The **System module** screen in PQSCADA Sapphire is divided into two primary sections, separated by a splitter control line. The purpose and behavior of each section are as follows:

• Left Section: The left section of the System module screen showcases the connected Instances and their hosted Components. It provides a visual representation of the hierarchical structure of

Instances and the Components associated with each Instance. This section allows users to navigate and select specific Instances and Components for further configuration or monitoring.

• **Right Section:** The right section of the System module screen displays the properties of the selected object. When an Instance or Component is selected from the left section, its corresponding properties are presented in the right section. These properties may include information such as configuration settings, connectivity details, status indicators, or other relevant data specific to the selected object.

## 5.1 Connect to a Server (Enterprise edition only)

Once you have successfully created your service, a server will be automatically generated for you, the server will be configured to support the **HTTPS** protocol with **SQLite** DB integration, ensuring secure communication between your service and users.

## 5.1.1 Connecting to a Remote Server

If you wish to connect to a server that is located far away from your current location, please follow these steps:

Click the **Connect** button on the upper right corner of the **Components** tree to open the **Add Server** configuration window.

(The following is an example when connecting to the demonstration site, with "Demo" as the Username and Password).

Add Server		_
Server Address:	PQSCADA.com v	
Authentication:	PQSCADA User v	
User name:	Demo	
Password:	****	
	Stay logged in	
	(Add ) Cance	н )

In the **Add Server** configuration window, you will find several fields to fill in. Follow the steps below to complete this information:

- Server Address select the service URL. Click the Scan for server icon to search for active services in your network.
- Authentication Choose the authentication manager for the server connection.
- Username Enter your username associated with the remote server.
- **Password** Provide the password associated with your username for authentication purposes.
- To enable automatic login to the remote server whenever you launch PQSCADA Sapphire, mark the Stay logged in checkbox.
- After entering the necessary information, click the **Add** button to initiate the connection process.

## 5.2 Disconnect Server (Enterprise edition only)

- 1. Right-click the server in the Components tree.
- 2. Select Disconnect server.

# 5.3 Add a Component (Professional and Enterprise editions only)

**Note:** PQSCADA Sapphire supports various component types. Call our support team to integrate PQSCADA Sapphire with other component types of different vendors.

- 1. Click **Actions** on the top right corner of the **Components** section and select **Add component** from the menu.
- 2. Select a component type from the dropdown list and click Next.

nponent type D	ata acquisition and process	ing Database	General Com	pliance
elect component type:	BlackBox DFR G5			
		6		

**Note:** For this description, we have added the BlackBox DFR G5 component. This will ensure that most steps in the wizard are fully explored.

## 5.3.1 Data Acquisition and Processing

Contraction and and and and and and and and and an	C			
Device IP/Address:		s	can »	
File fetch type:	FTP	•	Test	
File source download directory path.	/PQZ/PQZDA_			
FTP port				
FTP user name:	user0			
FTP password:	******	8		
Data fetch type:	Https	•	Test	
User name:	user0			
Password:	*******	8		
PQZ port:				
Save configuration files				
Fetch data mode (push/pull):	Pull			
<ul> <li>Advanced settings</li> </ul>				

- 1. Select and enter the following **Regular settings** information:
  - Enable data acquisition marked by default for downloading data upon component creation. When the box is unchecked, the component will not hold data, but you will be able to drag and drop files with data to component.
  - **Device IP/Address** enter the device IP address/URL or click **Scan** >> to search for devices connected to your network.
  - File fetch type Select the protocol to fetch files from the device.
  - File source download directory path Select the location or file path on the device where files are stored (e.g., for a DFRG5 device, it is /PQZ/PQZDA\_).
  - FTP port Select the port connection to connect and fetch files from the device.
  - **FTP Username** enter the FTP username. By default, the username is set to the default username of the selected device (e.g., for a DFRG5 device, use user0).

**Note:** Each device has a default FTP username and password that can be changed by the user on the device. If not changed, leave the default.

- **FTP password** Enter the FTP password. By default, the password is set to the default password of the selected device (e.g., for a DFRG5 device, use aA123123).
- Data fetch type Select the protocol to read real time data from the device.
- **Username** enter a username for reading RT data. By default, the username is set to the default username of the selected device (e.g., for a DFRG5 device, use user0).
- **Password** enter a Password for reading RT data. By default, the username is set to the default username of the selected device (e.g., for a DFRG5 device, use aA123123).
- PQZ port Select the port connection to connect and read data from the device.
- Save configuration file <u>see section 5.9.8.4.</u>
- 2. Select and enter the following Advance settings information (Optional):
  - Mark the Start time checkbox and enter the date & time to begin the data acquisition.
  - Mark the End time checkbox and enter the date & time to exclude from the data acquisition.
- 3. Click the **Test** button to verify the connection with the device.
- 4. Select the **Download mode** from the dropdown list (All data/Only events) Only for G4K
- 5. Click Next to move to the tag page, where applicable, or click Finish, to add the new component.

## 5.3.2 Database (Enterprise edition only)

- 1. Select and enter the following information:
  - **DB Type** select the database type in which PQSCADA Sapphire will store your data. PQSCADA Sapphire supports two DB types:
    - o SQLite
    - MS SQL Server (MSSQL)
    - POSTGRESQL

If **MSSQL** was selected, configure the following options:

- **DB URL** enter the DB URL, or click the Browse button, to search for SQL service in your network.
- DB username enter your DB username.
- Password: enter your DB password

If **POSTGRESQL** was selected, configure the following options:

- **DB URL** enter the DB URL or click the Browse button.
- DB username enter your DB username.
- **Password**: enter your DB password
- 2. Mark the **Save as default** checkbox to keep these settings as default. You can use set defaults next time to fill in the default settings.
- 3. Click **Test** to verify the connection with the DB.
- 4. Click **Next** to move to the next step.

## 5.3.3 General

Give the component a name and click **Next**.

## 5.3.4 Tags

- 1. Configure the available <u>tags</u> if tags were configured in the **Instance** configuration.
- 2. Click **Next** to move to the next step.

## 5.3.5 Compliance

- 1. Mark the required compliances from the list (more than one compliance can be selected).
- 2. Click Finish. A request is sent to the server to add the new component.
- 3. Click Close.

## 5.3.6 PMU Mapping

A Phasor Measurement Unit (PMU) is a sophisticated monitoring device used in electrical power systems. It precisely measures voltage and current phasors, providing real-time information about the magnitude and phase angle of these electrical quantities.

PQSCADA gives the user the ability to use an existing mapping or create a new mapping file.

## 5.4 Attach a Component

An existing previously detached component can be attached to an instance. This may be particularly useful when exchanging processed data with colleagues, or when upgrading to a new computer.

#### To attach a component:

- 1. Right-click the instance and select Attach a component.
- 2. Select the DB type SQLite or MSSQL or POSTGRESQL (Enterprise edition only).
  - If MSSQL was selected, enter the required connection details, and click Next to display a list
    of available components. Mark the Create component checkbox next to each component
    you would like to attach and click Finish.
  - If **POSTGRES** was selected, enter the required connection details, and click **Next** to display a list of available components. Mark the **Create component** checkbox next to each component you want to attach and click **Finish**.
  - If **SQLite** was selected, select **Reattach existing components** and click **Next** to display a list of available components. Mark the **Create component** checkbox for each component you want to attach and click **Finish**. Alternatively, you can directly import a database file (SQLite extension), and Sapphire will automatically build the required folder structure.

## 5.5 Detach Component

Detaching a component will remove it from the instance. However, database files and folder structure will remain intact. You can later reattach the component.

- 1. Right-click the component that you wish to detach and click Detach.
- 2. Confirm by clicking Yes.

## 5.6 Delete Data from a Component

- 1. Right-click the component you want to delete data from and select **Delete data from the database in the time range**.
- 2. In the Delete data from the database in the time range, select the following:
  - Start time
  - End time
  - Mark the delete system events (Log) checkbox to also delete the events.
- 3. Click Delete.

## 5.7 Delete Component

Deleting a component will remove all database files and folder structure that is associated with the component. <u>This action is irreversible</u>.

- 1. Right-click the component that you wish to delete and click Delete.
- 2. Confirm by clicking Yes.

## 5.8 Server Configuration

Click the Instance object in the Components tree to change the Instance configuration. The available configuration tabs are displayed based on the Instance type and user authentication.

## 5.8.1 Components

The Components tab displays data of all hosted components with statuses of the selected instances.

Co	mpon	ents	General Log							
	Drag	a coli	umn header here to g	roup by that column						
			Connectivity	Name 🔺	Device IP/Address	Data acquisition	File processing	Historical data calcula	DB size in use (Mb)	
Þ		۲	•	Elspec Beit-Shean	192.168.10.148	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	23.925 GB	
		۲	•	Elspec HQ - G4K	82.166.96.72	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	14.999 GB	
		۲	•	Elspec HQ - G5	82.166.96.67	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	77.064 GB	
		۲	•	Elspec HQ - PureBB Dr	82.166.96.71	Fail to connect	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	12.904 GB	
		۲	•	Elspec HQ - PureB8 W	82.166.96.70	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	66.625 GB	
		۲	•	Elspec North America	50.252.118.169	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	41.244 GB	
		۲	•	Elspec Portugal	elspecportugal.dyndns	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	Waiting for data	25.17 GB	

Click the **Export** icon to export the displayed table to an Excel file.

Click the **Column settings** icon to select what columns to display. The available columns are according to the selected instance.

- **Connectivity** represented as a color indicator:
  - **Green** connection to the device is enabled and working.
  - **Red** connection to the device is enabled but doesn't work.
  - o Gray connection to the device is disabled.
- **Name** the name of the component.
- Device IP/Address the IP address of the device.
- Data acquisition displays the acquisition status of the component:
- Waiting for data downloading is finished; wait for the next connection attempt.
- Scanning folder component scans for new files in the device.
- Downloading percentage indication of the current file downloading progress.
- **Disabled** downloading is disabled.
- Fail to connect communication error.
- Files processing displays the status of the component file processing.
- Historical data calculation displays the status of the historical data calculation process.
- DB size in use shows the DB size of the component.
- **Optional columns** Product serial, HW version, Firmware version, Site name, Company name, Username, Product name, DB type, Component type, ID, serial port.
- **Data availability** the percentage of the available data (from the total), as set under client settings.

Click the expand  $\bigotimes$  icon to the left of the component to display more information about the component.

Click the **Edit** icon to the left of the component to show the basic configuration of the component and to select if to enable data acquisition, file process, and historical data calculation.

## 5.8.2 Log

The Log tab displays specific information related to log entries. This information can be used to troubleshoot problems, track the status of the system, and audit user activity.

27/02/2020 18:07:54:704 27/02/2020 18:04:41:188 27/02/2020 18:02:54:081	Information Warning	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 18:04:41.188	Warning	DO Samar				
27/02/2020 18/02/54 081		P 52 361161	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 10/03/34/001	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 18:00:49:016	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 17:08:15.908	Information	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 17:05:26.571	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 17:04:48.973	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 17:02:25.998	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 16:49:10.353	Information	admin	Configuration	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 16:07:30.426	Information	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 16:04:31.393	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 16:02:13.857	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 15:06:39.448	Information	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 15:03:41.335	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 15:01:36.848	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 14:38:31.409	Error	PQ Server	Fail to connect the	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 14:06:03.869	Information	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 14:02:58.334	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 14:00:38.277	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 13:51:42.642	Error	PQ Server	Fail to connect the	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 13:06:45:455	Information	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 13:03:44.307	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 13:01:31.592	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 12:06:41.647	Information	PQ Server	Finished to calculate.	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 12:03:20.026	Warning	PQ Server	Power Quality	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
27/02/2020 12:01:10.948	Information	PQ Server	Finished process file	ELSPEC Demo	1698a6fc-0f5c-4b83	
	2/02/2001 (18:04/81) (18:04/81) (18:04/81) (19:04/81) (	2/20/2020 18:20.48/16 // https://doi.org/10.1016/16/2020 17:20/202	2/20/2020         15/20/2020         15/2020           2/20/2020         15/2014         15/2014           2/20	2/20/2020 III:30:481         Information         PG Server         Printed protein to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:581         Information         PG Server         Printed protein to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:581         Information         PG Server         Printed protein to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:581         Information         PG Server         Finished protein to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:581         Information         PG Server         Finished to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:581         Information         PG Server         Finished to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:586         Information         PG Server         Finished to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:581         Information         PG Server         Finished to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:38.35         Nerving         PG Server         Finished to calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:38.35         Information         PG Server         Finished process the calculate.           2/20/2020 III:30:38.35         Information         PG Server         Finished process the calculate.           2/20/2020 II:30:38.34.36         Information         PG Server         Finished process the calculate.           2/20/2020 II:30:38.34.36         Information         PG Server         Finished process the calcul	2/20/2001         Biotestala         Al. Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         Lands           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         LSRE Cenno           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Findeds Splotter Bit Lands         LSRE Cenno           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Picet Cands         LSRE Cenno           2/20/2001         Biotestala         PIC Series         Picet Cands         LSRE Cenno           2/20/2001         Biotestala         Biotestala         LSRE Cenno         Zir/20/2001         LSRE Cenno	27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished globes field Links. Letters         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished globes field Links. Letters         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished globes field Links. Letters         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished globes field Links. Letters         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished globes field Links. Letters         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished globes field Links. Links? Channel         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished for Globes field Links. Links? Channel         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished for Globes field Links. Links? Channel         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished for Globes field Links. Links? Channel         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation         P1, Server         Finished for Globes field Links. Links? Channel         Indextediation           27/202201         Indextediation

## 5.8.2.1 Log tool bar

- Refresh log To refresh the log entries, click the Refresh log icon on the top right corner of the main screen.
- Export to CSV To export the log entries, click the Export to CSV icon on the top right of the main screen.
- Log filter To narrow down the view, click the Log filter icon on the top right corner of the main view. The Log filter window is displayed.

ime period	
Any time	
vent level	
Information	
Warning .	
Error	
aximum number of events	
1000	

#### 5.8.2.1.1. Log filter

In the Log filter menu, do the following:

- 1. Select the Time period.
- 2. Select the **Event level**:
  - Information includes general information on actions taken in PQSCADA Sapphire.
  - Warning includes malfunctions that the PQSCADA Sapphire will resolve by itself.
  - **Error** Includes malfunctions that the PQSCADA Sapphire was unable to resolve (e.g., failed Tasks due to an incorrect E-Mail address).
- 3. Enter the Maximum number of events to be displayed.
- 4. Click OK

#### 5.8.2.1.2. Create custom event

To create a custom event, click the **Create custom** event button. This will open a configuration window where you can enter the event name, time, and details. Once you have entered the information, click **Save** to create the custom event.

source;	G5 Component (IEEE519-2014 t *
Name:	
lime:	18/06/2023 03:03:29.612577 PN
Details:	

## 5.8.3 General

The General tab includes the following information for the selected Instance:

- **Name –** instance name
- Server version the version of the server
- Server URL the unique resource location of the instance
- Server ID
- Session timeout in hours Session will terminate after max number of hours.
- No limit 0

#### To change the Instance name:

- 1. Type the Instance name in the **Name** text box.
- 2. Click the Save button to apply changes.

## 5.8.4 Tags

Tags are used to organize and group components in PQSCADA Sapphire. Components can be assigned to multiple tags, and tags can be assigned to multiple components. This allows you to create a hierarchy of tags, which can be helpful for organizing your data and making it easier to find.

The Tags tab in PQSCADA Sapphire is divided into two sections:

The left section displays a list of enabled tags.

The **right** section displays the values of each of those tags when selected.

	Tag toolbar	Values t	oolbar
Convolution Power Causily Compared	Transmission         Every         System           Concent Machine         Concentration         The Concentration of the Concentediane of the Concentrati	Volars	in a

### 5.8.4.1 Tag tool bar

#### Add existing tags

To enable a tag, follow these steps:

- 1. Click Add **t** icon in the Tags toolbar to open the Tag selection window.
- 2. Mark the Tag checkboxes to enable.
- 3. Click Add to save and close the Tag selection window.
- 4. Click **Save** to apply the changes.

#### Cancel tags selection

To disable a tag, follow these steps:

- 1. Click the Tag you wish to disable.
- 2. Click the **Cancel** icon in the Tags toolbar.
- 3. Click **Save** to apply the changes.

#### Delete a tag

To delete a tag, follow these steps:

1. Click the Tag you wish to disable.

- 2. Click the **Delete** icon in the Tags toolbar.
- 3. Click **Save** to apply the changes.

## 5.8.4.2 Configure a Tag

The tag includes a Name, Description, and a list of values. The **tag values** can be either a closed list, editable by the system admin only, or an open list editable by any user.

#### Set the tag list as open/closed

The **tag values** can be either a closed list, editable by the system admin only, or an open list editable by any user.

- 1. Click the 🖿 icon next to the Tag name to expend the tag row.
- 2. Mark the Enable adding values checkbox.
- 3. Click **Save** to apply changes.

#### Add values to a tag

Each tag has its own values that can be added, canceled, or deleted.

- 1. Click the **Add** icon in the **Values** toolbar. The Tag value addition window will pop-up.
- 2. Enter the new value in the text box.
- 3. Click OK.
- 4. Click **Save** to apply the changes.

## 5.8.4.3 Create Tag

PQSCADA allows the users to create new tags.

- 1. Click the **Add** icon in the **Tags** toolbar to open the **Tag selection** window.
- 2. Click Create tag to display the new tag configuration data.
- 3. In the New tag configuration window, enter the following data:
  - Name the name for the new tag.
  - Description a description of the added tag.
- 4. Mark the checkbox to Enable adding values.
- 5. Type tag values in the text box and click **Add value**. They appear in the **Values field** and can be deleted by clicking the **Cancel** 🖾 icon.
- 6. Click Add to add the new tags to the tags list.
- 7. Click Save to apply changes.

## 5.8.4.4 Apply Tags to the Component Tree

- 1. Click on the Open tree setting button located on the splitter control.
- 2. Select the Instance to apply the Tags on.
- 3. Mark the **Show tags** checkbox to enable Tags.
- 4. Mark the Tags checkboxes you want to display in the **Components** tree. A list of the selected tags will be displayed in the bottom part of the **Server and component tree setting** pane. By default, the tag hierarchy is set according to the selection order.

- 5. To **filter tag** values, click on the expand icon **v** next to the tag checkbox and uncheck the values to be filtered.
- 6. Drag and drop tags (up or down) in the Selected tag hierarchy section to change the tags hierarchy.

## 5.8.5 Line Diagram

Graphical representation that uses lines to depict the relationships or connections between various elements or data points.

#### Add line diagram

1. Click the **Add** icon on the upper left corner of the Instance section.

The Add line diagram window appears.

- 2. Click Browse to find the line diagram (AutoCAD DXF, DWG JPEG and PNG files).
- 3. Click Upload. The drawing is added.
- 4. Repeat to add more diagrams.

#### Delete a Line diagram

- 1. Click the Line diagram you wish to disable.
- 2. Click the **Delete** icon in the Line diagram toolbar.
- 3. Click **Save** to apply the changes.

## 5.8.6 Secondary Servers (Enterprise edition only)

PQSCADA Sapphire allows the administrator to organize networked servers into a hierarchy. PQSCADA Sapphire servers are united into a master server – the secondary server hierarchy. Each PQSCADA Sapphire server can have more than one secondary server within a hierarchy. When the server gets to be secondary, it automatically inherits the configurations of the master.

## 5.8.6.1 Add Secondary Servers

- 1. Select the Secondary servers tab.
- 2. Click the Add 🗄 icon to open the Add Server configuration window.
- 3. In the Add Server configuration window, do the following:
  - Server Address select the server URL. Click Scan to search for active servers on your network.
  - Authentication select the authentication provider.
  - **Username** enter the Admin username.
  - **Password** enter the Admin password.
- 4. Click Add.

#### **Remove a Secondary Server**

- 1. Select the server you wish to remove from the Secondary server's table.
- 2. Click the **Delete** icon to remove the secondary server.
# 5.8.7 Add-ons

PQSCADA Sapphire is modular software enabling the user to extend the PQSCADA Sapphire capabilities to meet any application and/or requirement.

The PQSCADA Sapphire supports the following add-on extension types:

- **Gateway** (Professional and Enterprise edition only): designed to extend PQSCADA Sapphire communication options. Modbus (standard and fast) and IEC 61850 gateways are already implemented and are part of the professional and enterprise edition package.
- Converter designed to extend PQSCADA Sapphire importing options. COMTRADE and PQDIF converters (usually formats of non elspec's devices) are already implemented and are part of the PQSCADA Sapphire package for all editions.
- **Tasks** designed to extend PQSCADA Sapphire's reporting, exporting, and controlling capabilities. Various tasks were already implemented, and part of the PQSCADA Sapphire package depends on the license edition.

Addon name	Addon type	Addon status	Version	
PQDIF Converter	Converter	Valid	1.0.0.10	Uninstall
COMTRADE Conver	Converter	Valid	1.0.0.13	Uninstall
Dewetron Gateway	Gateway	Valid	1.0.0.3	Uninstall
Modbus Gateway	Gateway	Valid	1.0.0.0	Uninstall
Elcom Gateway	Gateway	Valid	1.0.0.0	Uninstall
PQZ Gateway	Gateway	Valid	1.0.0.1	Uninstall
IEC61850 Gateway	Gateway	Valid	1.0.0.0	Uninstall
Notification	Task	Valid	1.0.0.5	Uninstall
Export PQDIF	Task	Valid	1.0.0.17	Uninstall
Export PQZ	Task	Valid	1.0.0.18	Uninstall
Export Excel	Task	Valid	1.0.0.31	Uninstall
NRS Report	Task	Valid	1.0.0.27	Uninstall
IEEE519Consumers	Task	Valid	1.0.0.17	Uninstall
Export Comtrade	Task	Valid	1.0.0.19	Uninstall
Generic Report	Task	Valid	1.0.0.2	Uninstall
Export CSV	Task	Valid	1.0.0.12	Uninstall
EN50160 Report	Task	Valid	1.0.0.27	Uninstall
FOCT 32144-2013	Task	Valid	1.0.0.17	Uninstall
Digital Event Notifi	Task	Valid	1.0.0.1	Uninstall

The Addons tab displays a list of the installed add-ons in the Instance

When a new addon version is available, PQSCADA automatically notifies the user.

Addon name	Addon type	Addon status	Version	
PQDIF Converter	Converter	Valid	1.0.0.24	Uninstall
COMTRADE Conver	Converter	Valid	1.0.0.24	Uninstall Update Add-On
BMR Converter	Converter	Valid	1.0.0.3	Uninstall

# 5.8.7.1 Install a New Add-On

- 1. Click the Install Addon button in the upper right corner.
- 2. Click the **browse** icon to open Windows Explorer.
- 3. Select the Addon installation files and wait for validation.
- 4. Click the **Install addon** to start the installation.
- 5. Click **Close** to close the Install add-on window.

#### To uninstall an Addon

- 1. Click the **Uninstall** button from the addons table.
- 2. Click Yes in the Uninstall addon pop-up window.
- 3. Click **Close** to close the Uninstall addon pop-up window.

# 5.8.8 Events

The Events tab displays a list of all the Supported events for the Instance.

ments		tigation	Energy System				(th
	Connect Le	ocal Mach	nine				
	Co	omponents Lo	g General Tags Line diagram Addons Events Li	tense			
Local Machine	^ s	Supported eve	ints:		Load new ex	ents definitions from file	Create new event definitions
Q PODE 16/02/020 18/27/17		innet trace ID	Mana	Event time	Anomated		
Q P02P 16/02/2020 18/29/23		1	Din	Din			
PQS Server		2	Voltage Door	Die			
<ul> <li>LISPEC Demo</li> </ul>		2	vonage Drop	Lip			
PQSCADA Sapphire Demo Server		50	Inrush current	Inrush current			
		30	Interruption	Supply Voltage Interruptions			
		25	Notch	Notch			
		10	Swell	Swell			
		40	RVC	RVC			
		20	Transient	Tratsient			
		60	Agg Dip	Dip	1		
	12	80	Fault Location	Fault location	1		
	Setta	61	Agg Voltage Drop	Dip	1		
	Itee	70	Agg Inrush Current	Innush current	1		
	E.	90	Ago Swell	Swell	1		
	0						

- Load new events definitions from file Load new events definitions from an XML file by clicking.
- **Create new event definitions** new events can be created by clicking Create new event definitions to launch the **Create new event** wizard.
- When creating a new event, the event type can be defined as an **Aggregated** event that combines configurations (to combine up to 4 event types).

For the PQSCADA to present the aggregated events, the aggregated event must be calculated by the PQ server (for example, if you used dip & swell events to be aggregated, the dip and swell events must be calculated from the PQ server and NOT fetched from the device).

**Note:** To assign an event to a component, go to <u>Events</u> configuration under the <u>Power Quality tab</u> on the component configuration.

# 5.8.8.1 Create a New Dip Event

- 1. On the Event type page, select **Dip**.
- 2. Click **Next** to go to the Event configuration page.
- 3. On the Event configuration window, configure the following options:
  - Event name type the event name.
  - **Reference (Nominal)** refers to a standard or baseline value used as a point of comparison.
  - User tag used to distinguish between events of the same type.
  - **Threshold [% of Ref]** defines the trigger level limit that starts the event (percentages of the reference nominal).
  - **Hysteresis [% of Ref]** defines the end event limit in the nominal percentage. End event limit = Thresholds + Hysteresis.
  - Cancel [% of Ref] defines the limit in which an event will be canceled.
  - **Min. duration [ms]** defines the time length (in milliseconds) a parameter may pass out of bounds without failing.
  - Max. duration [ms] defines the maximum time allowed (in milliseconds) for an event to be active before it is canceled.
- 4. Click **Finish** to save changes.

**Note:** According to the configured feeder topology, a Dip event is automatically assigned to all voltage channels in the component.

# 5.8.8.2 Create a New Swell Event

- 1. On the Event type page, select Swell.
- 2. Click **Next** to go to the Event configuration page.
- 3. On the Event configuration window, configure the following options:
  - Event name type the event name.
  - Reference (Nominal) refers to a standard or baseline value used as a point of comparison.
  - User tag used to distinguish between events of the same type.
  - **Threshold [% of Ref]** defines the trigger level limit that starts the event (percentages of the reference nominal).
  - **Hysteresis [% of Ref]** defines the end event limit in the nominal percentage. End event limit = Thresholds + Hysteresis.
  - Cancel [% of Ref] defines the limit in which an event will be canceled.
  - **Min. duration [ms]** defines the time length (in milliseconds) a parameter may pass out of bounds without failing.
  - Max. duration [ms] defines the maximum time allowed (in milliseconds) for an event to be active before it is canceled.
- 4. Click **Finish** to save changes.

**Note:** According to the configured feeder topology, a Swell event is automatically assigned to all voltage channels in the component.

# 5.8.8.3 Create a New Supply Voltage Interruption Event

- 1. On the Event type page, select Interruption.
- 2. Click **Next** to go to the Event configuration page.
- 3. On the Event configuration window, configure the following options:
  - **Event name** type the event name.
  - Reference (Nominal) refers to a standard or baseline value used as a point of comparison.
  - User tag used to distinguish between events of the same type.
  - **Threshold [% of Ref]** defines the trigger level limit that starts the event (percentages of the reference nominal).
  - **Hysteresis [% of Ref]** defines the end event limit in the nominal percentage. End event limit = Thresholds + Hysteresis.
  - Cancel [% of Ref] defines the limit in which an event will be canceled
  - **Min. duration [ms]** defines the time length (in milliseconds) a parameter may pass out of bounds without failing.
  - **Max. duration [ms]** defines the maximum time allowed (in milliseconds) for an event to be active before it is canceled.
- 4. Click **Finish** to save changes.

**Note:** According to the configured feeder topology, an Interruption event is automatically assigned to all voltage channels in the component.

# 5.8.8.4 Create New RVC Event

- 1. On the Event type page, select **RVC**.
- 2. Click Next to go to the Event configuration page.
- 3. On the Event configuration window, configure the following options:
  - Event name type the event name.
  - Reference (Nominal) refers to a standard or baseline value used as a point of comparison.
  - User tag used to distinguish between events of the same type.
  - Threshold [% of Ref] An RMS voltage is in a steady-state condition if all 1/2 cycle 100/120 RMS values (50/60 Hz respectively) remain within the RVC threshold from the average of those 100/120 RMS values. The RVC threshold is set by the user as a percentage of Nominal.
  - End Threshold [% of Ref] define the end event limit.
  - Cancel Dip [% of Ref] defines the lower limit to cancel an event.
  - Cancel Swell [% of Ref] defines the upper limit to cancel an event.
  - **Delta steady-state** [%] define the maximum allowed difference between two steady-state conditions. Leave 0 to disable this condition.

If there isn't any change for 100 cycles the event ends.

4. Click **Finish** to save changes.

**Note:** RVC event is automatically assigned to all voltage channels in the components according to the configured feeder topology.

## 5.8.8.5 Create a New Transient event

- 1. On the Event type page, select **Transient**.
- 2. Click Next to go to the Event configuration page.
- 3. On the Event configuration window, configure the following options:
  - Transient type select Transient or Notch.
  - Event name type the event name here.
  - Reference (Nominal) refers to a standard or baseline value used as a point of comparison.
  - User tag user tag is used to distinguish between events of the same type.
  - **Envelope [% of Ref]** Transient event triggered when the measured waveform crosses a virtual envelope. Envelope size is defined in percentage from the nominal waveform peak.
  - **Max duration [ms]** defines the maximum time allowed (in milliseconds) for an event to be active before it is canceled.
- 4. Click Finish to save changes.

**Note:** The Transient event is automatically assigned to all voltage channels in the components according to the configured feeder topology.

# 5.8.8.6 Create a new Custom Event

- 1. On the Event type page, select **Custom event**.
- 2. Click **Next** to go to the General page.
- 3. On the **General page**, configure the following options:
  - Event name
  - User tag
  - **Min duration [ms]** defines the time length (in milliseconds) a parameter may pass out of bounds without failing.
  - **Max duration [ms]** defines the maximum time allowed (in milliseconds) for an event to be active before it is canceled.
- 4. Click **Next** to go to the Activate page.
- 5. On the **Activate page**, do the following:
  - Parameter selection Click the **Parameter A** button. The **Select parameter** window opens. Select a **Parameter**.
  - **Operator** Select an operator from the dropdown list, a **number**, % **or** + from the dropdown menu.
  - Reference Select Nominal, Previous sample (H. cycle), or Average.
  - Min duration defines the time length (in milliseconds) a parameter may pass out of bounds without failing.
  - Number of samples for average reference represents the count of the sample set considered when determining the average reference.
- 6. Click **Next** to open the Deactivate page.
- 7. On the **Deactivate page**, repeat the steps as on the Activate page.
- 8. Click **Next** to open the Cancel page.
- 9. On the **Cancel** page, either mark the **Enable cancelation** checkbox and enter values as in the above or leave it unchecked to disable cancelation.
- 10. Click **Finish** to save changes.

# 5.8.8.7 Create an Aggregated Event

- 1. On the Event type page, select Aggregated event.
- 2. Click Next to go to the Aggregated event configuration page.
- 3. On the Event configuration window, configure the following options:
  - Event name type a name for the event.
  - Select the Logic operator between events (And/Not/Or).
  - Select the event type from the dropdown list.
- 4. Mark if to Match groups.

The selected power topology rules the usage of phase-to-neutral or phase-to-phase parameters. Therefore, if not checked, an event will be triggered, for example, when there is a dip on V1N and swell in V12 (differential channel). When **Match groups** are marked, it will trigger an event only when the configured events are from the same topology group (V12, V23, V31, or V1N, V2N, V3N).

5. Click Finish to save changes.

# 5.8.8.8 Create an Oscillation Event

Refers to a phenomenon characterized by repeated back-and-forth movements or fluctuations around a central point.

# 5.8.9 License

- License type can be Express, Professional or Enterprise
- Maintenance status display maintenance expiration date
- **Number of concurrent users** number of people who can actively connect to the server at the same time.
- Number of Elspec component number of allowed Elspec component
- Number of Non Elspec component number of allowed Non Elspec component.
- Update license pressing on this link will open the upgrade license wizard.
- Deactivate license pressing on this link will open the deactivate license wizard.

# 5.8.10 Server Communication (Enterprise edition only)

Displays the Protocol type and port. For the https protocol, it also displays the Certificate.

- HTTP for unsecured communication. By default, the PQSCADA Sapphire service binds to port 80. If port 80 is already in use, the service automatically falls back to port 8080 and then to port 8081. The port can be manually configured in the HTTP port field.
- HTTPS for secure communication. By default, the PQSCADA Sapphire service binds to port 443. If port 443 is already in use, the port can be manually configured in the HTTPS port field. A valid certificate must be installed on the server machine and selected in the Certificate field.
- **Certificate** digital document that verifies the authenticity and integrity of something or someone. It is issued by a trusted authority, known as a Certificate Authority (CA), and contains information such as the name of the entity or individual being certified, a unique identification number, and a digital signature.

#### Approved certificates table

Table containing approved non-trusted certificates.

- Add certificate user will have the ability to add certificates.
- Delete certificate user will have the ability to delete certificates.
- Clean certificate clear all certificates from the table.
- Clean SSH fingerprints remove SSH fingerprints.

SSH fingerprints are cryptographic keys used for secure communication with SFTP servers, whether they are Pure or G5 servers.

# 5.8.11 E-mail Configuration (Enterprise edition only)

- 1. Enter the following configurations according to your SMTP server:
  - SMTP gateway enter the SMTP server hostname or IP address.
  - **SMTP port** enter the SMTP server port.

If the SMTP server requires authentication:

- **Username** the email username.
- **Password** the email password.
- From email source (example: <u>John@yourdomain.com</u>).
- Enable SSL mark if your SMTP server requires encryption.
- Allow attachments mark to allow PQSCADA to attach files to emails.
- 2. Enter an email address and click Test email configuration.
- 3. Click **Save** to apply changes.

# 5.8.12 SMS Configuration (Enterprise edition only)

- 1. Enter the following configuration according to your modem:
  - Modem port the serial com port to which your modem is connected.
  - **Baud rate** the Baud rate supported by your modem.
  - Data bits the number of bits per one character of data supported by your modem.
  - **Parity** the number of check bits supported by your modem.
  - Stop bits specify the number of bits used to indicate the end of data transmission.
  - Flow control the flow control supported by your modem.
  - Send attempts number of times PQSCADA Sapphire will send the SMS before failure.
- 2. Enter a phone number and click Test SMS configurations.
- 3. Click **Save** to apply changes.

# 5.8.13 Logged-On Users (Enterprise edition only)

Displays a list of currently logged-on users.

• **Delete current sessions** - terminates the current session that a user has established with the server.

# 5.8.14 User Credentials (Enterprise edition only)

• **Reset password** - Allows PQSCADA users to change their passwords (in case the option to reset password is added to his user profile).

The user credentials screen will include three fields:

- New password
- Confirm new password
- Old password

# 5.8.15. Billings

The Billing tab enables adding and configuring different electricity consumption billing methods and charges for use by the PQSCADA Energy module.

nponents Connect Actions	PQS Server											
	Events	Lice	nse	Server communicat	ion	E-mail configurations		SMS configurations		Logged or	users	
rch	Components	1	Leg	General	Tags	Line diagram	Secon	lary servers	Dillings		Addons	
Local Machine	^										+ =	C# C
POS Server	Billion configur	ations	La la ma	In In	Law La							
9 9 P02P 16/82/2020 18/29/23	Cost1		General Tantis	Seasons Special C	ays Shifts Char	Qes .						
Fure Component 3 Phase			Name:	Kost1								
			Decototions									
			Contraction	Basic billing								
			Billing Day:	7 *								
			Currency:	USD	*							
				0.000								
	2		Week starts at:	· Sunday								
	262			<ul> <li>Monday</li> </ul>								
	Proc											
	5											
	-											

# To add a new billing

- 1. Click the Add new Billing + icon.
- 2. Give a Name to the added billing in the TOU Configuration Name pop-up.
- 3. Added billings are displayed in the **Billing configurations** pane.

# 5.8.15.1. General

- 1. If required, modify the billing Name.
- 2. Add a Description.
- 3. Select the **Billing Day** of the month from the dropdown list (1–28).
- 4. Select the Currency from the dropdown list.
- 5. Select the Week start at to select the day the week starts.
  - a. Auto week start at will be according to client settings.

# 5.8.15.2. Tariffs

Different tariffs can be configured for a single billing configuration. The tariffs can include past/future Tariff changes.

- 1. Give the tariff a **Name**.
- 2. Select the Units (\$ or %).
- 3. Select the **Color** for the tariff.
- 4. Select the Start date. The end time is indefinite.
- 5. Type the value (price) for the Tariff.
- 6. Click the **Add** icon within the created tariff to add more tariffs under the same Tariff name (different Start date and/or Tariff).
- 7. Click the Add + icon of the Tariff tab to add and configure more tariffs with different names.
- 8. To delete a tariff, click the **Delete** icon (in the tariff or the Tariffs tab).

# 5.8.15.3. Seasons

- 1. Give a Name for the season.
- 2. Configure the Start Day by selecting the day and month or by defining the starting day.
- 3. Configure the End Day by selecting the day and month or by defining the last day.
- 4. Click the Add icon to add and configure more seasons.

To delete a created season, select it and click the **Delete** icon.

## 5.8.15.4. Special Days

- 1. Give a Name for the special days.
- Configure the Start Day and the End Day for the special days. The days can be configured by date (day and month) or by selecting an appearance (First/Second/Third/Fourth/Last) of a day in a month.
- 3. Click the **Add** + icon to add more special days.

To delete a created special day, select it and click the **Delete** icon.

# 5.8.15.5. Shifts

1. Click the **Add** + icon to add shifts (note that their total duration cannot exceed 24 hours).

2. Configure the Shifts (Name, Start time, Duration, and Color).

Edit the shift duration before editing its Start time.

4. Click the **Add** + icon to add more shifts.

To delete a created shift, select the shift and click the **Delete** icon.

# 5.8.15.6. Charges

- 1. Click the expand 💌 icon to show the fields to edit.
- 2. Give a Name to the charges.
- 3. Select the **Charge Type** from the dropdown list. The parameters and fields change according to the selected Charge Type.

## 5.8.15.6.1. Consumption

Charges are based on energy consumption.

- 1. Select the Units from the dropdown list.
- 2. Select the Calculation method from the dropdown list:
  - **TOU** Time of Use. This is a rate plan in which rates vary according to the time of day, season, and day type (weekday or weekend/holiday). Higher rates are charged during the peak demand hours, and lower rates during off-peak (low) demand hours. This rate structure provides price signals to energy users to shift energy use from peak hours to off-peak hours. The example below shows the pricing for an illustrative time-of-use rate plan. Red indicates high price periods (On-Peak), yellow indicates moderate price periods (Mid-Peak), and green indicates low price periods (Off Peak).

Time of day	Weekdays	Weekends	Special days\ Holydays
00:00 - 06:00	Off-Peak	Off-Peak	Off-Peak
06:00 - 17:00	Mid-peak	Off-Peak	Off-Peak
17:00 – 21:00	On-Peak	Off-Peak	Off-Peak
21:00 - 00:00	Mid-peak	Off-Peak	Off-Peak

- 3. Add **Seasons** (see section 0):
  - a. Select the **Season** from the dropdown list (see section 0).
  - b. Select the Week Structure from the dropdown list.
  - c. Double-clicking a Week Structure opens a floating window to Add a New Day Structure (Start time and Tariff from the dropdown list), with the option to save as a template.
- 4. Add **Special days** from the dropdown list (see section 0).
  - a. Double-clicking a Week Structure opens a floating window to Add a New Day Structure (Start time and Tariff from the dropdown list), with the option to save as a template.
  - b. Steps This is a rate plan in which rates vary according to predetermined consumption steps. When using only the Steps rate plan, there is no need to define Seasons, Special days, and Shifts.
    - Edit the first step (**From**, **To**) and select the **Tariff** (created in the Tariffs tab, see section 0) for the step.
    - Click the **Add** ticon to add more steps.

To delete a created step, select it and click the **Delete** icon.

• The created Steps can be saved as a template by clicking the **Save as template** icon.

- The example below shows the pricing for an illustrative Steps rate plan.
- Each step represents the measured kWh in the precondition rate limits. The 1st step represents the charge price for each kWh between 0–23, 2nd for each kWh between 23–53, 3rd for each kWh between 53–101, 4th for each kWh between 101–143, and the 5th for each kWh from 143 to 186.



# 5.8.15.6.2. Demand

Charges are applied to the electric bills of commercial and industrial customers based on the highest amount of power demand during any (typically 15-minute) interval during the billing period.

- 1. Select the **Units** from the dropdown list.
- 2. Select the Demand Calculation- Current.
- 3. Edit the first step (**From**, **To**) and select the **Tariff** (created in the Tariffs tab, see section 0) for the step.
- 4. Click the **Add +** icon to add more steps.

To delete a created step, select it and click the **Delete** icon.

The created Steps can be saved as a template by clicking the **Save as template** icon.

# 5.8.15.6.3. Fix

A type of charge. The Fix charge type can be used as a monthly "subscription fee" or can be used to create a refund or any other type of fixed value charge.

- 1. Select a **Tariff** from the dropdown list (see section 0).
- 2. Select the **Demand calculation** duration (**Day**, **Month**) for the fixed cost.

# 5.8.15.6.4. Tax

A type of charge that is usually added to one of the above rate plans. With this charge, you can add the required taxes to the billing (e.g., VAT).

Select a **Tariff** from the dropdown list (see section 0).

## 5.8.15.6.5. Penalties

A type of charge that is usually added to one of the above rate plans as a penalty if the set charge values are exceeded.

1. Select the Penalty parameter from the dropdown list.

#### Consumption

- Select the Units from the dropdown list.
- Select a **Tariff** from the dropdown list (see section 0)
- Define the consumption From and to values.

#### Demand

- Select the Units from the dropdown list.
- Select a **Tariff** from the dropdown list (see section 0)
- Define the consumption **From** and **to** values.

#### Custom

• Define the logic and formula for a custom penalty.

Sapphire (Version:1.0.4.29 - 1)									- # X
		inergy Sy	stem						89 45
Components Convect Actives *	PQS Server								300
	Events	License	Server commu	nication	E-mail configurations		SNS configurations		Logged on users
Search	Components	Log	General	Tags	Line diagram	Secons	dary servers	Billings	Addons
Local Machine									+ 0.04.05
* Prodoki sigen One leve	Bits configuration 341 -type One Cando 38 with penalty	Bound holds       Image: Constraint of the second seco	Beasers Saec     Sec     Sec	101 Days         150 Per           11 Factor         0.05 All           11 Factor         0.05 All           11 Factor         0.05 All           12 Factor         0.05 All           13 Factor         0.05 All           14 Factor         0.05 All           15 Factor         0.05 All           16 Factor         0.05 All           16 Factor         0.05 All           16 Factor         0.05 All           16 Factor         0.05 All	Starges	* * *	- 2		

- Formulas can be extended by clicking the **bracket** (0+) icon.
- To remove the formula extension, either right-click the extension line and click **Remove** or click the line and click the **Remove** button.

# 5.8.15.6.6. Add Charges

Click the **Add +** icon to add and configure additional Charges.

# 5.8.15.7. Export and Import Billings

Created billings can be exported and imported.

- To export a billing, click the **Export Billing** icon. The browser opens to select the name and location for saving the exported billing.
- To import a billing, click the **Import Billing** icon. The browser opens to select the billing to import.

# 5.8.14.1 Remove Billings

- 1. Select the Billing configuration to delete.
- 2. Click the **Remove Billing** icon.

# 5.9. Component Configuration

A Component is a logical representation of a physical device – a set of configuration parameters that are defined in two XML files:

- **Common** set of configurations that apply to all component types (e.g., component name).
- Specific set of configurations that apply to a specific component type (e.g., a device IP address, which is a specific configuration parameter for components that support LAN communication).

The configuration parameters are connected to a component configuration tab in the PQSCADA Sapphire (e.g., General, Data acquisition and processing, etc.). Therefore, different component types include different configuration parameters and different configuration tabs.

To view/modify the components configuration, click on the component object in the **Components** tree. The available configuration tabs are based on the component type and on user authentication.

# 5.9.1. Component

Refer to Section <u>5.8.1</u> for additional instructions.

# 5.9.2. Log

Refer to Section 5.8.2 for additional instructions.

# 5.9.3. General

The Component General tab includes editable fields and informative fields. The available fields vary according to the component.

- **Component type** informative only.
- **Name** the component name. By default, the investigation component name is set as the date & time of the component creation.
- ID each component has a unique ID provided by PQSCADA Sapphire (Informative only).
- **Use custom time zone** mark the checkbox to select a time zone from the dropdown list. The default time is that of the operating system.
- **Geographic coordinates** enter the geographic coordinates for the correct display on the map.
- Product name the name of the product (informative only).
- Product serial product serial no. of the physical device (Informative only).
- Site name the name of the site (informative only).
- HW version HW version of the physical device (Informative only).
- Firmware version SW version of the physical device (Informative only).
- Product version product version of the physical device (Informative only).
- Site description a description of the site (Informative only).
- **Operator name** the name of the operator (Informative only).
- Company name the name of the company (Informative only).
- Calibration date specific date when the device was calibrated (Informative only).
- **Reboot the device** Some devices can be rebooted manually.

• Additional informative fields may be presented, depending on component type.

# 5.9.4. Data Acquisition and Processing

Data can be acquired by downloading files, streaming data, or all the above. For example, acquiring data from G4K devices is possible by downloading PQZIP files using FTP and streaming real-time data by MODBUS.

The following description is for the BlackBox Fix G4 component type, ensuring most of the options in the Data acquisition and processing tab are fully explored; however, the available parameters and fields depend on the component type.

# 5.9.4.1. Data acquisition

- Enable data acquisition mark the Enable data acquisition checkbox to enable file downloading.
- **Device IP/Address** Enter the IP address of the device from which you want to acquire data. You can also click on the "Scan" button to search for other devices on your network.
- File fetch type Select the protocol that will be used for file fetching. This determines how the data files (such as Comtrade, PQZ, PQDIF, etc.) will be downloaded. Additionally, there is a "Data fetch" option, which allows downloading summaries (calculated data) directly from the unit without the need for PQSCADA to perform calculations. This method is faster and saves the data to the database as summaries.
- File source download directory path This option specifies the path to the folder where the data files are located. By default, the path is set to the default path of the selected device. For example, for the G4K device, the default path is "/CF\_UPMB/PQZIPDATA\_".

•

# 5.9.4.2. File fetch configurations

- FTP port the FTP port for downloading files from the instrument.
- FTP username the FTP site username for downloading files from the instrument.
- FTP password the FTP site password for downloading files from the instrument.
- Test click the Test button to verify the File fetch connection to the device.

# Limit download period:

Refers to a specified time duration which a file can be downloaded. Use these settings to limit the downloaded data to a specific time range:

- Mark the **Start time** box and enter the date & time to exclude data from the previous date. If it is not defined, the component will pull all the data from the device, from the oldest to the newest, and will continue pulling every newly generated file.
- Mark the End time box and enter the date & time to exclude data from a later date.

## **Download schedule:**

Mark the **Enable schedule** to select days and **Start time/End time** for configuring when file download should occur.

# 5.9.4.3. Data fetch configurations

- Data fetch type can be selected between http/https.
- Username the site username for reading data from the instrument.
- Password the site password for reading data from the instrument.
- PQZ port the port for reading data from the instrument.
- **Test** click the **Test** button to verify the data fetch connection to the device.

• **Gateway** – the gateway method is defined in the <u>component XML configuration file</u> and is presented as information. The gateway communication for G4K devices is Modbus or Json. Therefore, Port, Slave ID, and Modbus mapping need to be configured. For G5DFR and PureBB components, the gateway is PQZ, and the username and password need to be configured.

#### Modbus configurations:

Refer to the settings and parameters used to establish communication between devices using the Modbus protocol.

- **Modbus mapping** XML files that are used for mapping data. These mapping XML files contain configurations that define the conversion of data.
- **Modbus port** specific communication port used for transmitting Modbus protocol-based messages.
- Slave ID refers to a unique identifier assigned to a slave device on a Modbus network.
- Registers bits number in FC4 used for reading input registers.
- **Registers bits number in FC3** used for reading input registers.
- **High byte/Low byte** The high byte refers to the most significant byte in a multi-byte value, while the low byte refers to the least significant byte.
- **High word/Low word** The high word refers to the most significant word in a multi-word value, while the low word refers to the least significant word.

## 5.9.4.4. Advanced settings

- Fetch files every (min) set the file fetching period.
- Fetch historical data every (min) set the historical data fetching period.
- Fetch events every (min) set the events fetching period.
- Override existing database records with the newest data new data fetched to a component overrides existing data. Uncheck to discard new data with overlapping timestamps with existing data in the database.
- Allow files download while scanning with multiple FTP connections if multiple FTP connections are available, check to allow scanning and download simultaneously.
- Fetch unit configuration every (min) allows you to specify the interval at which the component will check for new configurations and update itself.
- Data availability type select how to calculate the data availability on binary or historical.

#### Website configurations (only for G4K):

- Website username the username to access the device's web UI.
- Website password the password to access the device's web UI.
- Website port the port to access the device's web UI.

#### Save files to backup folder:

Refers to storing files to a designated folder specifically created for backup purposes.

- Backup files directory path specific location where backup files are stored.
  - Validate the backup folder verifies the integrity of folder path.
- **Backup directory max size in MB** refers to the maximum allowed storage capacity or size limit for a backup directory. When reaches max size, truncate mode is ON.

#### Download mode (Only for G4K):

- All data to download all compressed PQZIP files when available.
- **Only events** that will be "pushed" when occurring. In this mode, the data availability will be faster and not when the file is scheduled to be closed and scanned by the PQSCADA component.

## PMU configurations:

Refer to the settings and parameters that are defined for a Phasor Measurement Unit (PMU). PMUs are devices used in power systems to measure and monitor electrical quantities such as voltage, current, and phase angles with high accuracy and precision. PMU configurations involve specifying various parameters to tailor the behavior and functionality of the PMU according to specific requirements.

- Send device command refers to the action of transmitting a specific command to the PMU device from a control or management system. This command is used to trigger a particular action or operation on the PMU.
- **PMU ID code** refers to the identification code assigned to a PMU. It is a unique identifier that distinguishes a particular PMU from others in a network or system.
- **Config protocol** defines the configuration protocol used for setting up or modifying the settings and parameters of a device or system.
- **Config port** communication port dedicated to configuring or modifying the settings and parameters.
- Data protocol defines the protocols and specifications for exchanging data.
- Data port port that is used for transmitting or receiving data.
- Frame rate refers to the frequency at which frames are displayed or captured.

Note: component and device configurations MUST be identical.

# 5.9.4.5. Firmware upgrade and configuration update

Settings for users with many similar units. The PQSCADA allows creating an upgrade/configuration task to upgrade/configure all units by a single task. The following parameters enable the user to set the details of the firmware/configuration files.

- Firmware upgrade IP
- Firmware upgrade port
- Firmware upgrade path
- Firmware upgrade username
- Firmware upgrade password
- Configuration update IP
- Configuration update port
- Configuration update path
- Configuration update username
- Configuration update password

# 5.9.4.6. Data Processing

- Enable file process mark the checkbox to enable the processing and storage of binary data.
- Enable historical data calculation mark the checkbox to enable the calculation of summary data.
- **Firmware upgrade connection type** select the connection type for upgrading the component firmware.
- Save configuration files <u>See section 5.9.8.4.</u>

# 5.9.5. Power Quality

The Power quality tab includes four sections that are displayed as a horizontal stackable list with expand/collapse functionality. The sections define the **Compliance**, **Events**, **Parameters**, and **Energy** to be calculated and stored as part of the <u>acquisition process</u> (see section 5.9.4 above). Note that calculating can extend the processing time.

Selecting a section expands the view showing the content within.

# 5.9.5.1. Compliance

The compliance section has two columns: **Recalculate** and **Compliance**. The Compliance column includes a list of supported compliance standards (see Appendix A for reference).

- 1. Mark the compliance you want to apply to the component (more than one can be marked).
- Mark Recalculate if you want the Instance to <u>recalculate</u> the data for the selected compliance (it may take a while).
- 3. Click **Save** on the top right of the screen to apply changes.

When marking **Recalculate**, the **Save configuration** window will pop-up. Under the save configuration window, do the following:

- Select the Start time for the recalculation.
- Select the End time for the <u>recalculation</u>, and click Save.
- To prioritize the <u>recalculation</u> over the acquisition process, mark the Stop Current calculation checkbox.
- **Ignore fetch from device** When checking the new feature's checkbox and parameter's recalculation checkbox, all parameters base that are selected as 'Calculated by device' will be calculated by PQ server without the need to manually change them.

Parameters (e.g., voltage RMS) and events (e.g., dip) required for the compliance process will automatically be selected in the Parameters and Events sections and highlighted in yellow.

# 5.9.5.2. Events

The Event section displays a list of events preconfigured in the <u>Instance Events</u> tab (see section 5.8.8). Events are acquired by PQSCADA Sapphire in one of the following modes:

- Fetch from device PQSCADA Sapphire acquires the events logs directly from the device.
- **Calculate by PQS server** PQSCADA detects and logs the events from the stored historical data. The events logs are additionally acquired directly from the device.

Events highlighted in yellow are required by the selected compliance standard.

- 1. Select the logging **Mode** for each of the listed events.
- 2. Check **Recalculate** if you want the Instance to <u>recalculate</u> the event detection. This applies to events in **Calculate by PQS server** mode.

If recalculation is not selected, the component will calculate the event only on the newly received data.

- 3. Click **Save** to apply changes.
  - If the **Recalculate** checkbox is marked, the save configuration window will pop-up. Under the save configuration window, do the following:
    - Select the **Start time** for the <u>recalculation</u>.
    - Select the End time for the <u>recalculation</u>.

- To prioritize the <u>recalculation</u> over the acquisition process, mark the **Stop Current** calculation checkbox.
- **Ignore fetch from device** When checking the new feature's checkbox and parameter's recalculation checkbox, all parameters base that are selected as 'Calculated by device' will be calculated by PQ server without the need to manually change them.

## 5.9.5.3. Parameters

The Parameters section displays a table with a list of parameters Group and their supported resolutions.

RMS, for example, refers to all RMS data from all channels, voltage, and/or current. Parameter Group can support multiple resolutions, such as 1/2 cycle, 10/12 cycles, 150/180 cycles, etc.

This section only applies to the <u>Summary</u> data (see Appendix C.1).

Parameters highlighted in yellow are required by the selected compliance standard and cannot be disabled.

**Note:** In most cases, the default calculated parameters are used. When a specific parameter that its calculation is not enabled by default is needed, the user can enable its calculation. Enabling all parameters will overload the system, and the processing might take an extremely long time.

- 1. Select the operation mode for the required cell in the table according to the component type. The options may vary:
  - Calculate historical data by Instance the instance will calculate and store <u>summary</u> data based on the stored <u>binary</u> data.
  - Calculated by device <u>Summary</u> data is fetched from the file.
  - Fetch historical from device <u>Summary</u> data will be fetched directly from the device using the component gateway.
  - Fetch instance from device –PQSCADA Sapphire will fetch real-time high-resolution data from the device using the component gateway. <u>Summary</u> data will be calculated by PQSCADA Sapphire. For example, PQSCADA Sapphire will fetch RMS V1 at a 1-second resolution as Instance data and will calculate and store summaries every 1 minute.
  - Receive report from device acquire data using the report option of the IEC61850 protocol.
  - Do not calculate PQSCADA Sapphire will not calculate nor fetch any summary data.
  - Do not calculate and delete PQSCADA Sapphire will not calculate <u>summaries</u> for future data and will delete <u>summaries</u> stored in the database.
- 2. Check Recalculate if you want the instance to recalculate a parameter.
- 3. Click Save to apply changes.
- 4. If **recalculate** was marked, the save configuration window will pop-up. Under the save configuration window, do the following:
  - Select the **Start time** for the <u>recalculation</u>.
  - Select the End time for the <u>recalculation</u>.

To prioritize the <u>recalculation</u> over the acquisition process, mark the **start recalculation and discard the data in the processing phase** checkbox.

## 5.9.5.4. Energy

Some system modules use the load current demand (for example, to define the allowed harmonics limits within the IEEE519 power quality report).

The load current is calculated as the current flow during the peak demand during the month. The value that is used will be the maximum value from the last 12 readings (so it is basically calculated over 12 months).

The Energy section enables setting the Maximum demand load current calculation type. Select the method from the dropdown list:

• **Auto** – when selecting Auto, mark according to what the calculation should be performed: By Total or by phase.

The system will use this calculation method when the last 12-months data is available; else, it will adjust itself to provide the value from the available data (less than 12 months).

• Manual - when selecting Manual, enter a value in the Demand load current value field.

Using the manual option allows the user to manually set a constant value so the system will not calculate it.

# 5.9.6. Database

The Database tab includes the following configurations:

- **DB type** display the DB type of the instance.
- DB URL display the DB URL of the instance.
- DB limit size (Mb) refers to the maximum allowable capacity of a database.
- **DB limit data duration (days)** refers to the maximum period for which data can be stored in a database.

**Note:** When the Database limit size or duration is exceeded in PQSCADA Sapphire, a data management mechanism called "Truncate" is activated. This mechanism automatically removes old data from the database to make space for new incoming data. The process involves the deletion of older data records, allowing the database to maintain a manageable size and prevent it from reaching its capacity limit.

# 5.9.7.Tags

The tags tab lists the enabled tags of the instance (see section 5.8.4).

Select the tag(s) from the dropdown list(s).

# 5.9.8. Unit Configuration

The Unit configuration tab organizes the Channel Configuration mapping for a component with waveform data. It consists of three sections: **Physical channels**, **Auxiliary channels**, and **Virtual channels**. These sections are displayed as a stacked list that can be expanded or hidden. Clicking on a section reveals its content. Additionally, **Time sync configurations** are available for G5DFR and pure devices.

## Time sync configurations:

- **Device time (UTC) –** Display device current time in UTC0.
- **Clock source –** Display the device current time sync.
- SNTP 1\2 Insert the IP of the NTP server.
- Signal strength Display the current time quality of the time sync.
- Sync with OS (only for SELF) by pressing on this button instrument time will be synchronized according to operating system (OS) of the computer.

## Unit configuration tab has two states:

- **Synchronize with component (Default state)** PQSCADA Sapphire imports the channel mapping configuration from the physical device. The data in the sections is informative only.
- Unsynchronized with component PQSCADA Sapphire ignores the channel mapping of the physical device. This state is used to fix or modify misconfigurations and incorrect connections as a post-process.

# 5.9.8.1. Physical Channels

A measurement device typically has multiple physical channels, each designated for a specific type of signal or measurement.

-			
On the better is the Neminal free	auonov (Uz) and Zara	NDC of ourront obonnold	oonfigurationa
	JUEIIUV ( TIZ) AIIU ZEIU		s connuurations.
······································			

ID	Channel	Signal type	Primary	Secondary	Phase shift	DC offset
33	Physical Voltage Channel 1	Voltage	400	400	0	0
34	Physical Voltage Channel 2	Voltage	400	400	0	0
35	Physical Voltage Channel 3	Voltage	400	400	0	0
36	Physical Voltage Channel 4	Voltage	400	400	0	0
37	Physical Current Channel 1	Current	50	50	0	0
38	Physical Current Channel 2	Current	50	50	0	0
39	Physical Current Channel 3	Current	50	50	0	0
40	Physical Current Channel 4	Current	50	50	0	0

Note: Physical channels store the waveform data as recorded by the physical device.

- **Channel** displays the name of the physical channel.
- Signal type the signal type of the physical channel (e.g., voltage, current).
- **Primary** the primary value (mainly for transformers).
- Secondary the secondary measured value (mainly for transformers).
- Phase shift enter a value if a shift in the waveform is required.
- **DC offset** enter a value isf a DC offset in the waveform is required.
- **Network nominal frequency** refers to the standard or expected frequency at which an electrical power network operates.
- Zero DC of current channels (G3500\G4500) Zero the DC component in I1, I2, I3 and IN when importing PQzip files.

# 5.9.8.2. Auxiliary Channels

The Auxiliary channels section in PQSCADA Sapphire provides a list of device auxiliary channels and their properties. It supports five types of auxiliary channels: Analog input, Analog output, Digital input, Digital output, and Relay.

Zéő         Analog Input 1         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           261         Analog Input 2         0.054         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           262         Analog Input 3         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           262         Analog Input 3         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           263         Analog Input 3         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           atalog output channet:          Neme         Analog Inm         Analog Inma         Clannet Units         Resultion         Round         0.004         0.02         A         •         0.00         0.02         A         •         Add of	Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           rition         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Bound         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Bound         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Bound         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Found         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Found         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Found         0.004         0.02 </th <th>ID</th> <th>Name</th> <th>Analog min</th> <th>Analog max</th> <th>Channel</th> <th>units</th> <th>Resolution</th> <th>Round at</th> <th></th> <th>Converted min</th> <th>Converted max</th> <th></th> <th></th> <th>Units</th>	ID	Name	Analog min	Analog max	Channel	units	Resolution	Round at		Converted min	Converted max			Units
261         Analog Input 2         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add on           262         Analog Input 3         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add on           263         Analog Input 4         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add on           ablg output chamels:         Intel on the intervention of the interventintervention of the intervention of the interventinter	Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Image: Second at the s	260	Analog Input 1	0.004		A	*		Round	*	0.004		A	*	Add custom unit
Z62         Analog Input 3         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           263         Analog Input 4         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           analog output diametic:         It         Name         Analog max         Channel units         Resolution         Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units           300         Analog output 3         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of	Round         •         0.004         0.62         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.62         A         •         Add custom unit           stion         Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit	261	Analog Input 2	0.004		A	-		Round	-	0.004		A	-	Add custom unit
Ze33         Analog Input 4         0.004         0.02         A         •         0         Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of           nalog output channels:         ID         Name         Analog max         Channel units         Resolution         Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units           300         Analog output 1         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add of	Round         •         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit           ution         Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units         Units           Round         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit	262	Analog Input 3	0.004		A	w		Round	*	0.004		A	*	Add custom unit
nalog output channels: 10 Name Analog min Analog max Channel units Resolution Round at Converted min Converted max Units 300 Analog output 1 0.004 0.02 A Y 0 Round Y 0.004 0.02 A Y Add	Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units           Round         0.004         0.02         A         Add custom unit           Bound         0.004         0.02         A         Add custom unit           Round         0.004         0.02         A         Add custom unit	263	Analog Input 4	0.004		A	-		Round	-	0.004		A		Add custom unit
	Round         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit	300	Analog output 1	0.004	0.02	A	- Units	0	Round	- L	0.004	0.02	A	×	Add custom unit
ID         Nume         Analog max         Channel units         Resolution         Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units           300         Analog output 1         0.024         A         •	Round at         Converted min         Converted max         Units           Round *         0.004         0.02         A *         Add custom unit           Round *         0.004         0.02         A *         Add custom unit           Round *         0.004         0.02         A *         Add custom unit           Round *         0.004         0.02         A *         Add custom unit           Round *         0.004         0.02         A *         Add custom unit           Round *         0.004         0.02         A *         Add custom unit	nalog	output channels:												
201 Analog output 2 0.004 0.02 A x 0 Round x 0.004 0.02 A x 0.00	Found         Course         Found         Add custom link           Found         0.004         0.02         A         Add custom link           Found         0.004         0.02         A         Add custom link	201							Round						Add susteen unit
301 India dispose 2 0.004 0.02 A - 0 Nound - 0.004 0.02 A - 400	Round         0.004         0.02         A         Add custom unit           Round         0.004         0.02         A         •         Add custom unit	301		0.004		A	-		Round	-			A .		
	Round	302		0.004		A	•		Nound		0.004		•		
303 Analog output 4 0.004 0.02 A • 0 Round • 0.004 0.02 A • Add									Reund	-			A		
Name Digital Input 1			Analog output 4 nput channels: Name Digital input 1	0.004	0.02	A			Tourio						
D         Name           0         Dipital result 1           10         Dipital result 2		03 ital i D 00 01	Analog output 4 nput channels: Name Digital input 1 Digital input 2	0.004	0.02	A			Tound						
D         Name           00         Digital input 1           10         Digital input 2           102         Digital input 2		303 igital i 100 101 102	Analog output 4 nput channels: Name Digital input 1 Digital input 2 Digital input 3	0.004	0.02	A			Tound						
D         Name           Digital input 1         Digital input 2           Digital input 2         Digital input 3           Digital input 4         Digital input 4		303 ligital i 100 101 102 103	Analog output 4 aput channels: Digital input 1 Digital input 2 Digital input 3 Digital input 4	0.004	0.02	A			NO UTILU						
ID         Name           00         Digital ripout 1           101         Digital ripout 2           0         Digital ripout 2           101         Digital ripout 2           101         Digital ripout 3		303 Digital i 100 101 102 103 104	Analog output 4 aput channels: Name Digital input 1 Digital input 2 Digital input 3 Digital input 4 Digital input 5	0.004	0.02	A			1.5741154						
Name           00         Poljatal ingust 1           101         Digital ingust 2           102         Digital ingust 3           103         Digital ingust 4           104         Digital ingust 5           105         Digital ingust 5		303 Digital i 100 101 102 103 104 105	Analog output 4 Analog output 4 Annee Digital input 1 Digital input 2 Digital input 2 Digital input 3 Digital input 4 Digital input 5 Digital input 6	0.004	0.02	A									
ID         Name           ID         Digital input 3           ID         Digital input 3           ID2         Digital input 3           ID4         Digital input 3           ID5         Digital input 4           ID6         Digital input 7		303 Digital i 100 101 102 103 104 105 106	Analog output 4 Analog output 4 Analog output 4 Digital input 1 Digital input 2 Digital input 3 Digital input 4 Digital input 5 Digital input 7	0.004	0.02	A									

## Analog input and output channels:

- **ID** displays the channel ID number.
- **Name** the new channel name.
- Analog min. the minimum value of the analog input (e.g., 4 mA).
- Analog max. the maximum value of the analog input (e.g., 20 mA).
- Channel units select the units to display the measurement. This combo box contains a list of optional units (e.g., Hz, °C, etc.).
- **Resolution** used for user parameters. For example, if the converted min & max defines 0–60 Celsius (temperature) and the user sets a resolution of 60, the Y-axis will have steps of 1C and if the set resolution is set to 120, the steps on the Y-axis will be 0.5.
- Round at for rounding the measured value (Round/Round up).
- Converted min. select the value to display when the reading is equal to the analog min value.
- Converted max. select the value to display when the reading is equal to the analog max value.
- Units click on Add custom unit and enter the new unit type.

#### Digital input, output, and Relay channels

- **ID** displays the channel ID number.
- **Name** the new channel name.

# 5.9.8.3. Virtual Channels

This section is used to map physical channels to power topologies.

For an explanation about loads and connection types, see Appendix B. Appendix B

tual ch	annels			_	_	_										
0																
Networ	nkc N	letwork	1													
- 10	0	Тар	1	Name	Nomina	4	Physical 1	Factor 1		Physical 2	_	Factor 2	Physical 1	Factor 3	Physical	4 Factor
1	×	V1N	Ψ.	VIN		Physica	I voltage channel 1 💌				Ψ.					-
2	¥	V2N	*	V2N		Physica	I voltage channel 2 💌				*		•			•
3	×	V3N	*	V3N		Physica	l voltage channel 3 💌				Ψ.					*
4	-	VN	-	VN		Physica	I voltage channel 4 -				-		-			-
12	-	V12	-			Physica	voltage channel 1 *		Physica	I voltage channel 2	-					•
13	-	V23	-			Physica	I voltage channel 2 *		Physica	al voltage channel 3	-					-
14	-	V31	-			Physica	I voltage channel 3 -		Physica	al voltage channel 1	-					-
Feeders																
+																
+ F	eeder '	1														
	Торо	logy:		WYE	*											
		8	-													
		ID		Tag	Name	Nominal	Physical 1		Factor 1	Physical 2 Fact	tor 2	Physical	3 Factor	r 3 Physica	4 Facto	r4
	5	w	Л	*		80	Physical current chann	el 1 👻		*			*		×	
	б	-	12	+		80	Physical current chann	el 2 -		-			-		-	
	7	-	13	-		80	Physical current chann	el 3 -		-			•		-	
		_	_	_												

The power topology elements are:

#### <u>Network</u>

The network properties encompass voltage, virtual channels, and feeders. A network is formed by combining multiple feeders that share a common voltage denominator. This means that the voltage remains consistent across all lines within the network.

- Add network Up to 5 networks are allowed.
- **Delete network** All associated Voltage and Current channels should be deleted to remove a network.

## Voltage channels

- **ID** Unique identifier of a channel, editable.
- Tag used for classifying the virtual channel to a specific phase.
- Name Channel descriptive name.
- **Nominal** Refers to the standard or expected value at which an electrical power network operates.

#### **Feeder**

The feeder properties include current, virtual channels, and power topology. Each feeder represents a specific electrical line or circuit within the network. The feeder properties provide information about the current flowing through the feeder, virtual channels associated with it, and the power topology configuration.

- **Topology** hierarchical power mapping.
- Add feeder Up to 5 feeders are allowed.
- Delete feeder All associated Current channels should be deleted to remove a feeder.

## Current channels

- **ID** Unique identifier of a channel, editable.
- Tag used for classifying the virtual channel to a specific phase.
- Name Channel descriptive name.
- **Nominal** Refers to the standard or expected value at which an electrical power network operates.

When configuring virtual channels in PQSCADA, potential differences play a crucial role. For example, to configure V1N (voltage between phase 1 and neutral), we assign the physical channel number of V1 to one physical channel and set the factor to 1. Similarly, we assign the physical channel number of N to another physical channel and set the factor to -1. This creates the potential difference between V1-VN.

Likewise, for configuring virtual channel I12 (current difference between two phases), we assign the physical channel number of I1 to one physical channel with a factor of 1 and assign the physical channel number of I2 to another physical channel with a factor of -1. This creates the current difference I1-I2.

In the files obtained from the meters, PQSCADA stores measurements from both physical channels and the virtual channels configured in the unit. If there is a configuration error, you can rectify it and perform a recalculation. PQSCADA will use the actual data from the physical channels and adjust the values based on the updated configuration.



Following is an example of a single network with 2 feeders:

## To add/modify voltage virtual channels for the network:

- 1. Under Virtual channels, Click the Add channel icon. A Network with one voltage channel and one feeder will be created by default.
- 2. Configure the following: Tag, Name, Nominal, Physical, Factor
- 3. Virtual Channel=  $\sum_{N=1}^{4} (Physical)_N X(Factor)_N$
- 4. Set the **Topology** under the Feeder (WYE, Delta).
- 5. Add/modify current virtual channels for the feeder.

- 6. Click **Save** to apply changes.
- 7. Under the save configuration, do the following:
  - Mark the **new time** checkbox.
  - Enter the time to apply the new configuration form.
  - Click **Save** to apply changes and start <u>Recalculation</u> (see Appendix C.2).

#### 5.9.8.3.1. Special Tags

#### ILEAK:

Kirchhoff low of currents states that for any node (junction) in an electrical circuit, the sum of <u>currents</u> flowing into that node is equal to the sum of currents flowing out of that node. If for example, we have three current lines going into a junction we can say that 11+12+13=0.

• What electricians do to find if there is a leakage in the system, is take all the current lines and measure if the sum of all the lines is 0. If not, there is a leakage. To configure it in the virtual channels you configure 11+12+13 (all the factors are 1) and you expect to see 0 current.

#### VLEAK:

Kirchhoff low for voltage states the sum of voltages in a junction V1=V2=V3. Usually, we put a meter between the neutral and the ground and if we measure a voltage, it means we have a leakage.

• There are also indexes (ID) which allow us to see the data according to channel (then the channels don't have anything that relates to differential channels like power unbalance etc. – it is standalone).

# 5.9.8.4. Configuration file

Enterprise customers required us to manage devices configuration files within PQSCADA Sapphire. This feature is mainly important for cases in which the customer replaces a unit for repair.

- This feature will support only Elspec devices e.g., G4k, G5(DFR ver. 1.2.1.X and above), G4500, G4kN.
- PQSCADA Sapphire will download and store the latest configuration files (up-to 10 latest files) automatically when this function is enabled.
- PQSCADA will have the option to upload a specific configuration file to the device when needed.
- When uploading configuration files to a device, the user will have the option to select which configuration chapters are required. Calibration parameters will not be uploaded.
- G5 and G4KN: a new configuration file will be added every 12 hours if any change is made.
- G4k and G4500: a new configuration file will be added with any configuration change.

## 5.9.8.4.1. Save configuration file

- 1. Navigate to the system module
- 2. Choose the requested component for which you want to manage configuration files.
- 3. Navigate to the 'Unit configuration' tab
- 4. Expand 'Configuration file' blue bar
- 5. Check\uncheck 'Save configuration files' checkbox

## 5.9.8.4.2. Upload configuration file

- 1. Under action column, Click on the 'Upload' button
- 2. Check the specific configurations you wish to upload to the device
- 3. Click on the 'Set Configurations' button to initiate the upload process

## 5.9.8.4.3. Delete configuration file

- 1. Under the action column, select the 'Delete' button corresponding to the file you want to remove
- 2. Confirm the deletion by clicking the 'OK' button when prompted

Following these steps, you can effectively manage configuration files for Elspec devices using PQSCADA Sapphire, including enabling/disabling automatic saving, uploading specific configurations, and deleting unnecessary files when needed.

# **5.9.9.** Confirm the deletion by clicking the 'OK' button when prompted **Energy**

The Energy tab defines how billing is calculated. Edit the fields as required.

- **Energy billing interval** this is a sliding window. The window width for calculating the Energy (for example, 15 minutes).
- Energy billing sub interval the sub-interval is the refresh rate (for example, 1 minute).

Using the above two sample values, assuming the first window is calculated over 10:00–10:15, the second window will be calculated over 10:01-10:16, and so on.

 Billing per feeder – select the Billing template for each Feeder from the dropdown list, as defined in the System module Billing tab (see section 5.8.15).
 For some components, it is according to its topology (WYE/Delta).

**Energy limits** – enter values for the following limits:

- Active energy in low limit
- Active energy in high limit
- Active energy out low limit
- Active energy out high limit
- Reactive energy in low limit
- Reactive energy in high limit
- Reactive energy out low limit
- Reactive energy out high limit
- Apparent energy low limit
- Apparent energy high limit

The limits are displayed graphically on the charts of the Energy module (right widget from Figure 0-1).



# 5.9.10. Query Settings

The Query Settings tab enables changing the scale factors and clock settings, this configuration provides flexibility and control over the data, enabling accurate and reliable analysis in cases where time discrepancies or adjustments are necessary for comprehensive **investigation and power quality** modules.

## **Time synchronization**

- The configuration described is particularly useful when the data time is incorrect or requires adjustment by shifting it forward or backward. It should be noted that this configuration applies only to the specific component and not the data source, which is the device itself. Changing the time shift will have an impact on the investigation and power quality modules, allowing for accurate analysis and assessment of the data.
- By adjusting the time shift, you can align the data with the correct time references or compensate for any discrepancies in timing. This is crucial for maintaining the integrity and accuracy of the data during analysis and investigation processes.
  - 1. Mark the Time shift checkbox to enable time-shifting.
  - 2. Select the time shift direction: Forward or Back.
  - 3. Enter the amount of time to shift in the time picker.
  - 4. Click Save to apply changes.

## **Regular channels:**

- **Primary PT** enter the new primary PT value.
- Secondary PT enter the new secondary PT value.
- Primary CT enter the new primary CT value.
- Secondary CT enter the new secondary CT value.
- V to I ratio enter the new V to I ratio of the clamps.

## Neutral channels:

- Change neutral setting if a Neutral channel requires different scaling factors check it.
- **Primary PT for neutral channel** inserts the new Primary PT for the neutral channel.
- Secondary PT for neutral channel inserts the new secondary PT for the neutral channel.
- Primary CT for neutral channel inserts the new Primary CT for the neutral channel.
- Secondary CT for neutral channel inserts the new secondary CT for the neutral channel.
- V to I ratio enter the new V to I ratio of the DC clamps.

## Notes:

- Query settings apply to the <u>Summary</u> data only (see Appendix C.1). Therefore, some parameters may not be recoverable in all situations.
- To apply scaling factors, swap phases, and reverse polarity on the waveform data. For full recovery, follow the steps in the <u>Unit configuration</u> tab (see section 5.9.8).

# 6. Investigation Module

The Investigation module is used to perform power quality analysis based on one or more measuring points (components). It provides a variety of powerful tools to assist in the data analysis process.

To fully understand how to operate this module, it is important to know how items are tied together and how to manipulate them.

The investigation module consists of four objects: **Investigation**, **Views**, **Charts**, and **Parameters**, in the following hierarchy:



# Investigation:

The Investigation is the highest level of the module's hierarchy. It includes data sources (components) and one or more views.

# Views:

Each View contains a single time interval and one or more charts.

# Charts:

Each chart within the PQSCADA contains at least one parameter. The software supports thousands of parameters across 12 different chart types (see section 6.5.2).

# Parameters:

A parameter is a numerical or measurable factor that can be plotted or represented in the selected chart. It represents a specific data point or characteristic that can be visualized or analyzed within the chart.



## Figure 6-1. Investigation screen

The **Investigation module** screen is divided into two main sections that are divided by a splitter control line (a vertical line between the two sections):

- Charts tree.
- The charts tree section can be hidden by clicking the Hide parameters tree kicon on the upper right corner of the Charts tree section.
- Charts section in the selected view.

Investigations and Views are displayed as tabs in the Investigation bar.

The position of the splitter control can be changed by clicking and dragging the splitter control to the left or right with a pointing device.

# 6.1. Drag and Drop Files to PQSCADA Sapphire

- 1. Click the **home** icon in the Investigation module (upper left corner).
- 2. Drag and drop supported files (e.g., Elspec PQZ, pqzip, Comtrade, pqdif) into the **Drag file to** create a new investigation folder.



#### Notes:

- New investigations are created using predefined templates.
- To open multiple files, hold down the SHIFT or CTRL keys and click on additional files. However, all the files must be of the same kind.
- A COMTRADE file consists of two files (.CFG and .DAT) that must have the same leading file name. Both files should be dragged and selected together.
- When files from PureBB or COMTRADE are dragged and dropped, a Network and Device Configuration window will automatically appear. This window provides a user-friendly interface for configuring the network and devices associated with the imported files. Users can conveniently specify the desired network settings and device parameters.

## Component name:

When a file is dragged and dropped, the component name will follow the format: **File Type, Date, and Hour**. The date and time in the component name will correspond to the exact date and time of the drag and drop action.

Example: PQZip 22/06/2023

# 6.1.1. Status window

When multiple files are dragged and dropped, a status window will be opened to provide an overview of the process. This status window displays the current state of the new component and all the files that are being imported.

## Buttons:

- **Minimize\maximize button** for minimizing and maximizing the status window.
- Clear all processed files remove all processed files from list.
- Close for closing status window.

## Statuses:

Component

- Completed component files process finished.
- **Processing –** there are files that are in processing state.
- Calculating historical data
- **Deleted –** component has been removed.
- Files
  - **Completed –** file process finished.
  - Wait for processing file in que.
  - **Failed –** something is wrong with the file.

# 6.1.2. File Record Types

In the world of electricity files recording there are two types of parameters that are interesting:

- Waveform the electricity wave in the time of an event.
- Calculated data the RMS (for example) at a certain time.

Note: The larger the resolution that is used, the more disk space is required.

Until pqzip was invented (controlling the large amount of data), companies used two methods. The first method ignored the calculated data and was only interested in knowing the waveform during an event, so the meters had a buffer of the last 3 seconds until the end of the event.

# 6.1.2.1. Comtrade

Comtrade allows for recording the waveform and static state of digital channels surrounding an event. However, meters using Comtrade typically stop recording the event after 3 seconds, even if the event is still ongoing.

PQSCADA is designed for pqzip and can generate waveforms from recorded harmonics. Comtrade provides the actual waveform data but requires knowledge of the number of samples, cycle start/end times, and frequency. Without these parameters, it becomes challenging to extract the data since FFT works best with cyclic signals, whereas Comtrade files contain event waveforms, which are less cyclic in nature. Hence, in PQSCADA, Comtrade files are saved as waveforms.

PQSCADA includes a mechanism that can automatically identify the configuration based on naming conventions (e.g., UL1 indicates a WYE topology with Channel 1). When opening a Comtrade file in PQSCADA, two situations may arise:

If the format is recognized (e.g., UL1, VL1), the file opens correctly.

If unfamiliar names like P\_H are encountered, PQSCADA prompts the user to define the feeders manually.

This allows for proper interpretation and visualization of the data within the PQSCADA software.

# 6.1.2.2. PQZIP

To record a waveform over time with 1024 samples in one cycle, we would typically need to record the value 1024 times (32 bits)  $\times$  50 times (for 50Hz)  $\times$  60 (seconds)  $\times$  60 (minutes). This applies to each phase, resulting in a significantly large file size when considering all voltage and current phases (usually 4 of each).

To address this issue, we can reduce the number of harmonics while retaining important data by introducing a tolerance. If the difference between amplitude/angle values within a specific harmonic fall below the tolerance, the current value is retained and written for the number of consecutive times the value remains below the tolerance.

	Amplitude	Phase
H1	230	0
H1	230	0
H1	230	0
H2	231	60
H2	236	60
H2	236.5	60
H3	0	0
H3	0	0
H3	0	0

The following table shows 3 harmonics for 3 cycles without compression.

The first harmonic has a constant value, the second harmony has two value changes, one of them is below the tolerance, and the third harmonic has zero value. In this case, without compression to each harmonic you need to save six values (one for amplitude and one for phase) so we have 18 values to record.

In the next table we can see the results after compression considering the tolerance.

	Amplitude	Phase	Number of cycles
H1	230	0	3
H2	231	60	1
H2	236	60	2

In this example, every change that was less than the tolerance was not written.

In the first harmony there was no change in value in all three cycles and therefore we added the parameter "number of cycles" which tells us that the value did not change for three cycles.

In the second harmony the second value change was above the tolerance and therefore it was written but the third changed value was smaller than the tolerance, so it was not recorded, and we recorded '236' and '60' for two cycles.

The third harmony values were less than the tolerance, so they were not recorded at all.

Now we have 9 records for all the harmonies instead of 18 before the compression (50% less and you need to remember that a waveform contains around 512 harmonies).

There are two kinds of tolerances: fixed quality and fixed ratio.

Fixed quality (which exist in G4) - fixed percentage from nominal (for example: 0.1% of nominal).

There are two issues with this method:

- 1. If the tolerance was not defined correctly, we may lose data for good because it is not recorded.
- 2. If a low tolerance is defined in a very loud network, a lot of data is recorded and holes in data start to appear.

**Fixed ratio** (exist in G5, pure and new G4) – we determine the amount space we want to use each month (e.g., 16GB every month). The max available is 32GB per month.

Every file contains a few records, and the unit can change the tolerance after every recorded file. So, if the last file was very big the tolerance for the next file grows so that less data is available, and vice versa, if the last recorded file was very small the unit can lower the tolerance for the next file so more accurate data is recorded. These changes happen to remain in the monthly set ratio (usually at the end of the month we get more data than we planned).

Another thing that has changed from G4 units to G5 pure and the new G4 is that in these units' a/d convertor is used. The waveform gets to the converter (after a few reductions because all electronics work on very a low voltage 1-5 V) as a waveform with values between 0-1.

The converter usually has a resolution of 2^24 bits (more than 16 million numbers), so every waveform sample gets a digital value according to the a/d resolution. The a/d converter does not know what the original waveform value was.

Only the PQSCADA knows the conversion rate between the real value of the waveform and the value of waveform exiting the a/d converter (malt factor). The PQZIP contains only the data coming from the a/d output, so when PQSCADA opens the file, it needs to add the conversion rate to know the original waveform value (there are also other malt factors to add such as the calibration malt factor).

The advantage of using that system is that if the client configured the channels wrong or any configuration changes, it is not a problem because we have the real raw data which is in the a/d output and all the calculations PQSCADA does on that raw data, so if there was a mistake in the configuration we can fix it in PQSCADA and the new calculation will take place on the original raw data.

The disadvantage of the system is that it takes a lot of time, especially for the parameter called flicker (PST). To overcome this issue, this parameter (and others) is calculated in the meter itself (it is already calculated in the meter in order to show them in real time chart web and lcd) and the calculation is inserted to the pqzip file as summarized (like RMS every minute, RMS every 10
minutes, RMS every hour, etc.) and from there to PQSCADA's DB so there is no need to calculate this parameter again showing the data in PQSCADA faster

The reason for the file sizes being bigger than what we asked (when we choose for example to save 20GB per month but 25GB are saved) is because of that summary calculated in the meter and inserted into the pqzip.

Another reason is that we insert the file energy data. Because we need to be super accurate when calculating energy (the electric bill we pay is based on energy parameters), the calculation must take place on the whole data and not on the compressed data which is less accurate.

Another reason is that we also insert the data of the auxiliary channels into the file. The general thinking is that they do not change a lot so why compress them. Therefore, if the data was 1 for 15 cycles it is compressed to one row value 1 for 15 cycles but whenever a change occurs (change from 1 to 0 or from 0 to 1) it is written in the file and it gets bigger.

### 6.1.2.3. PQDIF

PQDIF stands for "Power Quality Data Interchange Format." It is a standardized file format used for exchanging power quality data between different software applications and systems. PQDIF files contain comprehensive information about power quality measurements, including voltage and current waveforms, harmonics, flicker, transients, and other relevant power quality parameters.

PQDIF files are designed to be vendor-neutral, allowing interoperability between different power quality monitoring devices and software platforms. They provide a structured format for storing and exchanging power quality data, ensuring consistency and compatibility across different systems.

PQDIF files typically include metadata that describes the measurement setup, including device information, measurement locations, time stamps, and event details. The actual power quality data, such as waveforms and recorded values, are stored in a structured manner within the file

# 6.2. Start New Investigation Wizard

Launch the start new investigation wizard by one of the following methods from the **Investigation** module home screen:

- Click the **Start new investigation** button.
- Click the Add new investigation icon.

Add new investigation	
Data source	
Investigation name: Investigation 1	
Component	
○ File/Falder	
O FTP folder	
	Back Next Cancel

The investigation **Data source** can be from multiple locations.

# 6.2.1. Importing Files\Folders from a Local Computer

- 1. Type a name for the investigation.
- 2. Select File/Folder.
- 3. Click **Next** to go to the File/Folder page.
- 4. Select one of the following options:
  - Select files opens file explorer to select specific file/s.
  - Select folder opens file explorer to select a specific folder/s.

A list of the selected files/folders is displayed on the bottom part of the page.

Add new investigation	
Data source File/Folder	
Select Hes	
Seteral Road	
Location Clear All	
Back Finish Cancel	

5. Click **Finish** to start processing the files.

#### Notes:

- New investigations are opened based on predefined templates.
- Multiple files can be opened by holding down the SHIFT or CTRL keys and clicking on additional files, but they all must be the same kind.
- A COMTRADE file is a pair of two files (.CFG and .DAT). The leading file name must be identical for both files, and they must be dragged/selected at the same time.

# 6.2.2. Importing Files from an FTP Server

The FTP option was optimized to import PQZIP/PQZ files from Elspec BlackBox devices.

- 1. Type a name for the investigation.
- 2. Select FTP Folder.
- 3. Click Next to go to the FTP Folder page.

Add new investigation			
Data source FTP folder			
Device IP/Address:		Scan 20	
FTP port			
FTP user name:	ftpuser		
FTP password:	######################################		
File source download directory path:	/CF_UPMB/PQZIPDATA_		
Test			
Select files			
Select folders			
Location			Clear Al
		Back Finit	h Cancel

- 4. On the FTP Folder page, configure the following options:
  - **Device IP address** enter the FTP server address or click Scan >> to search for available devices on the network.
  - FTP port the FTP port for downloading files from the instrument.
  - **FTP username** the FTP site username for downloading files from the instrument.
  - FTP password the FTP site password for downloading files from the instrument.
  - **Test** click the Test button to verify the File fetch connection to the device.
  - Files source download directory path enter the path to the folder where the files are located. By default, the path is the default path of the selected device (e.g., for the G4K device it is /CF\_UPMB/PQZIPDATA, for G5\PURE it is /PQZ/PQZDA\_).
  - Select files will open Windows Explorer to select specific file/s.
  - Select folder will open Windows Explorer to select a specific folder/s.

After selecting, a list of the selected files/folders will be presented at the bottom part of the page.

5. Click Finish to start processing the files.

# 6.2.3. Creating Investigation from a Component

If data was already uploaded and processed, a new investigation can be performed based on existing components.

- 1. Type a name for the investigation.
- 2. Select the **Component** option.
- 3. Click **Next** to go to the Component page.

Components	5	ected Components	
Local Machine           Q. Apple 46(42)/2020 10.17.4.3           Q. Apple 46(42)/2020 10.17.4.3           Q. Apple 46(2)/2020 10.17.4.3           Q. Apple 40(2)/2020 10.17.4.3           P.OS Freet           State 2004 Seguine Dems Server           Chapter HD - G4K           Dates HD - AveR0 Drifts           Dates HD - AveR0 Drifts           Dates HD - AveR0 Drifts           Capeer North - AveR1 MIL           Capeer North - AveR1A           Capeer North AverLiss           Capeer North AverLiss	4 Open tree settings •	and Direg beet Cross	Corr A

- 4. Select the components to include in the investigation by one of the following methods:
  - Mark the component boxes in the Component section.
  - Click the Tag icon to sort components by tags (for more details on tags, see section 5.8.4).
  - Click the **Load Group** button in the **Selected Components** section to load components with Windows Explorer.

A list of the selected components appears in the Selected Components section. To save the selected list, click **Save Group**.

5. Click **Next** to go to the Time page.

#### 6.2.3.1. Time

- 1. Configure the following options:
  - **Time intervals** The time interval is a list of predefined time intervals. Selecting **All** will set the time interval for all the data available in the database. When selecting **Selected interval**, the time interval can be manually configured in the **from date** and **to date** fields.

Selecting **Real time** allows streaming and displaying real-time data from a Component into PQSCADA Sapphire. Four chart types are supported: Trend, Spectrum, Phasor, and Waveform.

- **Resolution** defines the displayed resolution of the selected parameter. Selecting Auto optimizes the resolution to the screen size, screen resolution, chart type, and selected parameter. The resolution depends on the time interval. When setting a small-time interval, the smallest resolution parameters show, and when increasing the time interval bigger resolutions are displayed.
- 2. Click **Next** to go to the Chart Type page.

### 6.2.3.2. Chart Type

1. Select one of the <u>chart type</u> options or a <u>Template</u>.

#### Notes:

- The Event chart leads to Event types. Check the event type to display.
- The Template chart leads to Templates. Select the template to display.
- 2. Click Next to go to the Parameters page.

#### 6.2.3.3. Parameters

Lomponents	Logical Channel	Additional		
Search	Parameter	Phase		Quantity
	rms	V1N		Min/Max
	RMS	V2N		Average
Elana Pait Chang	RMS - Fundamental	V3N		
Capec beit-shear	RMS - non-Fundamenta	al VN		
		V12		
		V23	-	
	Selected Parameters	1431		Clear All
	RMS, V1N, Min/Max			×
	RMS, V2N, Min/Max			×
	RMS, V3N, Min/Max			×
	THE VEN Mar Man			
	THD, VIN, Miny Max			

- 1. Select how parameters are tagged:
  - **Logical** parameters are tagged according to their logic when choosing a topology in virtual channels.

ID	Tag		Name	Nominal	Physical 1	
1 -	V1N	-	Virtual_0	230	Physical_37	Ŧ

**Note:** In cases where a component is connected to multiple feeders, a feeder selection feature is available. This allows users to choose a specific feeder associated with the component for further analysis or configuration.

• **Channels** – parameters are stored without any power topology and can be selected by a channel name as set by the user in virtual channels.

ID		Tag	Name	Nominal	Physical 1	l
1		V1N	Virtual_0	230	Physical_37	•

- Additional non-power parameters are selected (e.g., Temperature).
- 2. Select **Components** in the Component section. Multiple components can be selected by holding

down the SHIFT or CTRL keys and clicking on another component. Click the **Tag** icon to sort components by tag.

3. Select the **Parameter** in the parameter column. The list of parameters is dynamic and depends on the selected component and time interval.

Note: Only parameters calculated in the selected time range will be presented.

 Click the Phase value to select. A second click cancels the selection. Multiple phases can be selected. Quantity values are displayed. Quantities are graphical representations in a chart of the measured data. Each quantity consists of a collection of series with slightly different characteristics (e.g., Min/Max, Average, Sample).

- Min/Max the minimum and maximum values during a period.
- **Average** the average value during a period.
- **Sample** the native resolution of a parameter without any aggregation.
- 5. Click **Finish** to open the investigation.

#### Harmonics parameters

In the context of Harmonic Parameters, it is possible to define Harmonic Ranges. The selected parameters are listed under the selected parameters box, providing a comprehensive overview.

The following options are available for selecting harmonics within a given range:

- All: This option selects all harmonics within the specified range.
- **Odd**: This option selects only the odd harmonics within the specified range.
- **Even**: This option selects only the even harmonics within the specified range.
- **Multiple of 3**: This option selects only the harmonics that are multiples of 3 within the specified range.

# 6.3. Investigation Bar

The Investigation bar serves as a user-friendly interface that displays all open investigations and views in the form of convenient tabs. Additionally, it includes various tool icons that enable users to perform essential actions such as saving, sharing, and exporting the investigations. These tools empower users to efficiently manage their investigations, ensuring seamless collaboration and easy access to valuable data and insights.

# 6.3.1. Save an Investigation

- 1. Click the **Save** loon at the top right corner of the Investigation screen.
- 2. Select the folder to save the investigation.

# 6.3.2. Share an Investigation

1. Click the **Share** icon at the top right corner of the Investigation screen.

Your default email application will open with the investigation files attached.

2. Send the attached investigation files to selected recipients.

**Note:** The Investigation files contain the Investigation, views, charts, and parameter properties, as well as the parameter's data.

# 6.3.3. Export an Investigation

1. Click the **Export** icon **a** the top right corner of the Investigation screen.

A drop-down menu with the export formats will open.

Note: PQSCADA Sapphire uses a predefined editable XML export template for the word export.

2. Select the folder to save the investigation.

# 6.3.4. Open a Saved Investigation

A saved investigation can be opened in one of the following methods:

- 1. Click the **Home** icon, then drag and drop the .inv files into the **Drag file to create a new investigation** folder.
- 2. Double-click the **.inv** file to automatically open the Investigation module in the PQSCADA Sapphire application.
- 3. Click the **Import investigation** icon next to the Investigation tab in the Investigation bar and select **Import investigation**.

**Notes:** The data stored in an investigation file has the same resolution and time range as the one configured in the charts. Therefore, if a saved investigation is opened on a computer that does not have open communication with the data source (component), new data queries such as zoom in/out will not work, and an exclamation mark ! will appear next to the component name in the components tree.

# 6.3.5. Add Component to an Investigation

1. Right-click the Investigation tab and select **Add component** from the menu. The Components page is displayed.

omponents		Selected Components	
arch	i i	Load Group Save Group	Clear All
Local Machine	-	PQZIP 16/02/2020 18:29:23	6
PQDIF 09/02/2020 10:17:43	- 1	PQDIF 09/02/2020 10:17:43	
PODIF 16/02/2020 18:27:17			
POS Server	tings		
ELSPEC Demo	tes set		
POSCADA Sapphire Demo Server	en tr		
	d		
	-		
	-		

2. On the **Components** section, select component/s by marking the component checkbox. Click the **Tag** icon to sort components by tag.

A list of the selected components is displayed in the **Selected Components** section.

- Click Load Group to load components from a folder.
- Click Save Group to save the selected list.
- 3. Click **Finish** to close the Components window.

# Note: Once a component has been selected, it cannot be removed or deselected from the current selection.

### 6.3.6. Rename an Investigation

- 1. Right-click the **Investigation** tab in the investigation bar and select **Rename**.
- 2. In the Rename window, enter the new investigation name.
- 3. Click **OK** to apply the changes.

### 6.3.7. Move an Investigation Tab

Right-click the Investigation tab in the Investigation bar and select Move left or move right.

### 6.3.8. Close an Investigation Tab

Either click the tab close 🛛 icon or click the mouse center button.

# 6.4. Views

Views are the second level of an investigation. Views are multiple charts with one common length of time.

# 6.4.1. Add a New View

To add a view to an investigation, click the **Add new view** to investigation bar.

*	Investigat	ion 1 [	×	+ •	
	View 1	×	+		•

The Add investigation view wizard is launched.

Add investigati	on view		
Time Ch	art type		
Time interval:	All	w .	
From date:	01/01/1970 00:00:00.0000000		
To date:	18/02/2020 18:46:22.251782		
Resolution:	Auto		
			Back Next      Cancel

- 1. On the **Time** page, configure the following options:
  - **Time intervals** The time interval is a list of predefined time intervals. Selecting All will set the time interval for all the data available in the database. When selecting Selected interval, the time interval can be manually configured in the from date and to date fields.
  - **Resolution** Defines the displayed resolution of the selected parameter. Selecting Auto fits the best resolution to the screen size, the screen resolution, the chart type, and the selected parameter. Resolution depends on the time interval. When setting a small-time interval, the smallest resolution parameters are shown, increasing the time interval displays a larger resolution.
- 2. Click Next to go to the Chart type page.
- 3. On the Chart type page, select one of the chart type options or Template.
- 4. Click **Next** to go to the Parameters page.
- On the Parameters page, select the component(s) to view from the Components section. Multiple components can be selected by holding down the SHIFT or CTRL keys and clicking other components. Click the Tag icon to sort the components by tag.
- Select the parameter in the **Parameter** column on the right side of the Parameter page. The list of available parameters is dynamic and depends on the selected component, the time interval, and the type of parameters:
  - **Logical** parameters are tagged according to their logic when choosing a topology in virtual channels.



• **Channels** – parameters are stored without any power topology and can be selected by a channel name as set by the user in virtual channels.

	D	Tag	Name	Nominal	Physical 1	
1	-	V1N	Virtual_0	230	Physical_37	•

- Additional for non-power parameters such as Temperature, Pressure.
- 7. Select the **Phase** (or **Channel** for Channel parameters). A second click cancels the selection. Multiple Phases/Channels can be selected.
- 8. Depending on the selected Parameter, selects the **Quantity**. Quantities are graphical representations of measured data in a chart. Each quantity consists of a collection of series with slightly different characteristics (e.g., Min/Max, Average, and Sample). A second click cancels the selection. Multiple quantities can be selected.
  - Min/Max displays the minimum and maximum values during a period.
  - Average displays the average value during a period.
  - **Sample** displays the native resolution of a parameter without any aggregation.

After selecting, the list of the **Selected parameters** is displayed at the bottom of the page.

9. Click Finish to open the view.

### 6.4.2. Rename a View

- 1. Right-click the View tab in the investigation bar and select Rename.
- 2. On the Rename window, enter the new investigation name.
- 3. Click **OK** to apply the changes.

### 6.4.3. Move a View Tab

Right-click the View tab in the investigation bar and select **Move left** or **move right**.

### 6.4.4. Clone View

Allows you to clone the current view to do manipulations in the investigation.

### 6.4.5. Close a View Tab

Either click the tab close 🔀 icon or click the mouse center button.

# 6.4.6. Actions Menu

The Actions menu provides a list of features and actions that can be applied to the view. To access the Actions menu, click on the Actions button, and from the menu, select the desired options based on your requirements. Some possible selections from the Actions menu could include:

- Add new Chart Launches the Add new chart wizard (see section 0).
- Hide charts legend boxes Hides the chart legend box for all charts in the view.



- Change charts background color for changing the chart background color.
- Normalized display mode Normalizes the data of all the charts in the view. Voltage and current will be normalized to the nominal values, in%. Power will be normalized to the product of Voltage × Current nominals. To undo the Normalized display mode, click on Regular display mode.
- Save as template save the current view as a template for use in future investigations or for defining a file or an event template.
- Export exports this view to the selected file format (Word/Excel/to Clipboard).
- **Clone view** opens a new view with the same view characteristics. This can also be done by right clicking the view tab and selecting the Clone view.
- Add slave pane Enables investigating two time-ranges simultaneously in a single window. The left pane is the master of the slave pane on the right.
- Create new task opens the <u>Add new task</u> wizard based on the selected time frame and components of the view (see details in section Error! Reference source not found.).
  - Certain configurations of the investigation, including component selection and start/end time, will be copied to the task.
- Vertical + Horizontal crosshair adds the horizontal crosshair. To remove the horizontal crosshair, select Vertical crosshair.

# 6.4.7. View Toolbar

Once a view is established, the view settings can be modified from the View toolbar.

0 10/07/2016 17:21:28:683777	
đ	<b>Fixed time interval</b> – select a predefined time interval. Selecting All will set the time interval for all the data available in the database.
10/07/2016 17:21:28:683777	Start time – sets the start time of the view.
21/08/2016 07:13:33:823759	End time – sets the end start time of the view.
⊙	<b>Start new query</b> – click the start new query button after changing the selected time interval.
6 6	<b>Previous time/Next time</b> – move back to the Previous time frame. To move in the opposite direction, click the Next time frame icon.
<u>+₩</u> ▼	<b>Append back</b> – leaves the end time intact and moves the start time back by a selected amount.
	<b>Back</b> – shifts back the current time duration to a specified amount of time.
	<b>Forward</b> – moves forward the current time duration for a specified amount of time.
	<b>Append forward</b> – leaves the start time intact and moves the end time forward by a selected amount of time.
<b>₽</b> •	<b>Expand time</b> – expands the time interval equally in both directions at a specified magnitude. To return, click Previous time.
1	<b>Zoom/Drill modes</b> – PQSCADA Sapphire supports two zoom modes: drill and digital. The drill mode requires changes in the time frame of a new query from the server, and the displayed data is optimized to the time interval and screen resolution.
	<ul> <li>To zoom in, select the Zoom navigation mode; then, click the end of the scrollbar and drag it to the required zoom.</li> </ul>
	• To drill in, select the Drill navigation mode; then, right-click or left-click or center-click the pointing device and drag it to the required time interval. The drill action involves a new query from the database. For details on how to drill, see section 6.5.5.
tee	Fit charts in view – Organizes the chart size in two modes:
**	• Fit charts to screen – resized to the screen height.
	Best fit with scrolling –optimized chart height to the screen height to enable scrolling.
Resolution: Auto 💌	<b>Resolution</b> – defines the number of points to be displayed on the chart. In Auto mode, PQSCADA Sapphire optimizes the number of points to the screen resolution.

To understand resolution in PQSCADA, we need to grasp two key concepts: **"based on"** and **resolution**.

The term **"based on"** refers to the time interval over which a parameter was calculated. Each parameter is sampled from a waveform, typically consisting of about 1024 samples per cycle. The base represents the number of cycles (or time) used for calculation.

For example, if a parameter like RMS is based on 1 cycle, it means that the value of the calculated RMS is derived from a time interval of 1 cycle (approximately 1024 samples).

#### Note: The number of samples varies among meters is irrelevant for the base calculation.

Resolution, on the other hand, represents the average, minimum, and maximum values of the parameter within the base time range. To illustrate this, consider RMS based on 10 seconds with a resolution of 1 minute, within a 1-minute time frame. In this case, there are six 10-second points within 1 minute. Choosing the average value provides a single point that represents the average of those six points. Selecting min/max values displays the lowest and highest points among the six. Increasing the time frame to 10 minutes would yield 10 points, and so on. If the resolution matches or exceeds the base, a straight line with the same average, minimum, and maximum values is shown.

When initiating an investigation in PQSCADA, you can specify the base in which all parameters should be displayed. However, if some bases have not been calculated and saved to the database, they cannot be shown or selected by the user.

In instances where the time frame is short (e.g., half an hour), the resolution drop-down list does not include large resolutions, as they would generate too many data points to present effectively (e.g., a base cycle with a 10-minute resolution results in 1,800,000 points, which is impractical). PQSCADA calculates the number of pixels available and determines the smallest and largest resolutions that can be chosen based on the time division.

Auto-resolution is employed when sampling occurs at irregular intervals. PQSCADA utilizes knowledge of the base and pixel count to calculate the best resolution that matches the specific request.

To accommodate high-resolution bases with resolutions spanning months or years, PQSCADA employs a database within the unit. This database stores parameters with bases of 1 minute, 1 hour, and 1 day. The resolution is obtained from these unit summaries.

For further information on binaries and summaries, please refer to Appendix B.

# 6.5. Charts

In the PQSCADA Sapphire Investigation module, charts represent the third level of an investigation. They provide detailed visual representations of data and play a crucial role in analyzing and interpreting information.

**Note:** To determine the specific charts available for each license, please refer to Table 2-1 in Chapter 2.

# 6.5.1. Add a New Chart

To add a new chart in PQSCADA, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the **Actions** menu.
- 2. From the menu options, select "Add new chart."
- 3. This action will launch the Add Chart Wizard.

	5x 2 X
Grid	marine manual and a second and the second
Spectrum	
Event	and the second way was a second and the second as
Unipede	
Statistics	man man man man man
Scatter Event	0.01 02.02 02.00 02.00 02.00
Scatter Parameter	- RMS 11 Average = RMS 12 Average - RMS 12 Average
Phasor	Choose Trend chart to view electrical parameters for a selected time range as one or more graphs where the borizontal axis represents the time range and the vertical axis represents the selected normeter(s).
Energy	the noncontax and represents the time trings and the restance and represents the selected parameter (s).
Cyclic Histogram	
Summary	
Summary	
Summary	
Summary	
ummary	

- 4. Select one of the <u>chart types</u> (see chart types in the following section 6.5.2).
- 5. Click **Next** to go to the **Parameters** page or the **Event type** or **Scatter Event Chart Type** when selecting the Event or Scatter Event chart types.
- On the Parameters page, select the component(s) to view from the Components section. Multiple components can be selected by holding down the SHIFT or CTRL keys and clicking other components. Click the Tag icon to sort the components by tag.
- Select the parameter in the **Parameter** column on the right side of the Parameter page. The list of available parameters is dynamic and depends on the selected component, the time interval, and the type of parameters:
  - **Logical** parameters that are according to logic and can be calculated.
  - Channels parameters without any power topology.
  - Additional for non-power parameters (e.g., temperature, pressure).
- 8. Select the **Phase** (or **Channel** for Channel parameters). A second click cancels the selection. Multiple Phases/Channels can be selected.
- 9. Depending on the selected Parameter, selects the **Quantity**.
  - Min/Max the minimum and maximum values during a period.
  - Average the average value during a period.
  - **Sample** the native resolution of a parameter without any aggregation.

After selecting, the list of the **Selected parameters** is displayed at the bottom of the page.

10. Click Finish to open the view.

# 6.5.2. Chart Types

On the upper right corner of the charts, you will find three icons that provide various actions and functionalities for the displayed chart. These icons are:



- Move chart up/down: Clicking the arrows moves the chart up or down.
- **Close:** Clicking closes the chart.

#### The Chart Settings Menu:

٥

The Chart Settings menu in PQSCADA includes options that are applicable to all chart types. Many of these options are self-explanatory and can be easily understood. However, there are some options that may require further explanation and could be unique to specific chart types. These options provide additional customization and control over the chart's appearance and behavior.

#### Changing Chart Order:

When there are multiple charts in the charts tree, their order can be easily rearranged using a drag and drop functionality. Simply click and hold a chart, then drag it to the desired position within the charts tree. This feature allows users to organize and prioritize the charts based on their preferences or analytical needs.

#### Table-Type Chart Options:

For charts that display data in a table format, there are two specific options available:

- **Grouping Columns** By dragging each header cell to the upper bar, you can group the table based on the values in that column. Multiple cells can be dragged to create a hierarchy, allowing for more advanced grouping and organization of the table data. This feature enhances data analysis and facilitates a deeper understanding of the information presented in the table.
- **Table Tools Pop-Up Window** Right-clicking on the header row of a table-type chart opens the table tools pop-up window. This window provides additional options and functionalities specific to table-type charts. It may include features such as column customization, sorting, filtering, and other table-related tools. These options enable users to manipulate and explore the table data according to their analysis requirements.

٢	09	9/07/20	16 23:00:00:000	000	21/08/2016 00:00	0:00:000000
	•	ID 175	Name Frequency	₽↓	Phase Severity Sort Ascending	Start time 15/07/2016 09:17:3
	Na Phi Sta Eni	me: ase: art time: d time: ration:	Frequency 15/07/2016 ( 15/07/2016 ( 00:10.000000		Sort Descending Clear Sorting Group By This Column Hide Group Panel	
	Ch Fee Me	annels: eders: <u>Open e</u> essage:	194 Feeder 1 vent in new vie		Show Column Chooser Best Fit Best Fit (all columns)	
	۲	0	Rapid voltage	9	Filter Editor	17/07/2016 16:13:4
	(>)	0	Rapid voltage	0	Show Search Panel	17/07/2016 16:13:4

• The table tools pop-up window has various options to select, such as **Show Column Chooser** to select which columns to display.

### 6.5.2.2. Trend Chart

The Trend chart in PQSCADA is designed for visualizing the trend of parameters over a selected time range. It provides a graphical representation of how the parameters change over time, allowing users to analyze patterns, fluctuations, and trends in the data.

	Tre	nd																	
				-		-					-	-		-					
260 \	1	d						1								-	-	1	
220 \	1																		-
180 \	1			-				-									1	1	
140 \	1			-		-	•	-											-
11	/07/	2016	16	5/07		21/07	2	26/	/07	31	/07	05	/08	10	/08	15	/08	2	0/08
		RMS	V1N	Min/	Max	A R	MS V2N		Min/Ma	ax /	RM	IS V3N	Min/Ma	x					

#### Trend chart tools

The Trend chart tool menu in PQSCADA offers several options to customize and interact with the chart. These options include:

- **Hide/Show Legend Box** This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.
- **Hide/Show Crosshair** You can choose to hide or show the crosshair, which is a vertical and horizontal line that intersects at the cursor position on the chart. The crosshair helps in precise data inspection and analysis.
- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Hide/Show Grid Lines** This option allows you to hide or show the grid lines on the chart, providing visual reference lines that aid in data interpretation.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- Normalized Display Mode This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.
- **Axis Y Settings** You can customize the minimum, maximum, and step values on the Y-axis of the chart, allowing for better control over the displayed range and intervals.
- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- **Bring Parameter to Front** If two graphs overlap on the chart, you can bring a specific graph to the front for better visibility and analysis.
- Show/Hide Min/Max Values This option helps determine the minimum and maximum values of the displayed charts within the current time interval, providing quick insights into the data range.
- **Disable/Enable Curve Chart** You can choose to display the data in the charts according to the measurement resolution or enable curve chart mode, which smooths the individual measurements to create a continuous chart.

• Vertical + Horizontal Crosshair - This feature enables the display of both vertical and horizontal crosshairs, aiding in precise data inspection and analysis by providing reference lines at the cursor position.

### 6.5.2.3. Grid Chart

The Grid chart in PQSCADA allows users to view selected parameters within a specified time range in a tabular format.

09/07/2016 23:00:00:0	00000 💽 21/08/2014	6 00:00:00:000000	000#·#·	·	Alt Resolution: Aut	. •					
	Dreg a column nearlor there to group by that column										
Time Stamp	[V] RMS V1N Voltag	[V] RMS V1N Voltag	[V] RMS V2N Voltag	[V] RMS V2N Voltag	[V] RMS V3N Voltag	[V] RMS V3N Voltag	[V] RMS V1N Voltag	[V] RMS V2N Voltag	[V] RMS V3N Vel	ta i	
09/07/2016 23:00 00:000	280,2108	281.0010	279/539	2503241	283-5782	284,5139	280/6345	279.9437	284,2393		
09/07/2016 23:01:00:000	279,884	280.909	279,2777	280,2977	283,7833	284/6265	280.4867	279/8527	284,2316		
09/07/2016 23:02 00:000	280.1801	281.1014	279,0048	280,4093	285-7928	284(7401	280/0057	280.1045	284,2958		
09/07/2016 23:03:00:000	280.4127	281.1845	279.3099	250,5239	284.1052	284,8301	280.9572	280,2382	284,537		
09/07/2016 23:04:00:000	280.7555	281,3979	279/9011	250,0011	254.1255	284,8341	281.0999	280.3787	284,5492		
09/07/2016 23/05 00/000	280.8029	281.5145	279/9549	250,7825	284,0303	284,9058	281.1522	280.4669	284,458		
09/07/2016 23:00:00:000	278,6093	281,4817	277,0576	280,6055	281,9401	284,8708	280,9984	280/0343	284,3745		
09/07/2016 23:07 00:000	280.7637	281.5775	279.9825	250/0544	254.1795	284,8108	281.1775	280.3069	284,522		
09/07/2016 23:08:00:000	279:4720	281.547	277.1701	250,4125	281,9893	284,6332	281.2022	279.9681	284,3099		
09/07/2016 23:09:00:000	279.3098	282.0401	277.0552	280,4907	251.9115	285.1553	281.3088	279,7955	284,433		
09/07/2016 23:10:00:000	279.782	282,4879	277.5464	280.9235	282.3945	285,4795	281.9421	280.3336	284,9799		
09/07/2016 23:11:00:000	280.789	282/61/08	277.9041	250,7051	283,2887	255,0037	252.1921	280.3192	285.102		
09/07/2016 22/12/00/000	382,0429	382 (2317	180 1932	283 1 28	204 7878	105.0544	382.451	250 2205	265 1872		

#### Grid chart tools

The Grid chart tool menu in PQSCADA offers several options to customize and interact with the chart. These options include:

- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Export to Excel** The Export to Excel feature allows users to export chart data or grid table data directly to an Excel file for further analysis, reporting, or sharing purposes.
- Normalized Display Mode This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.
- **Resolution** The grid chart resolution can be set independently from the view resolution. The available resolution options depend on the selected time interval. In auto mode, the grid will include 100,000 points at a resolution equal to [time interval]/100,000. This allows users to adjust the level of detail and data density in the grid chart. In view mode, the grid resolution aligns with the resolution set for the view.
- Show/Hide status column Users can choose to add a status column in the grid chart, which indicates the data status for each entry. This column helps identify missing data or events, providing additional context for analysis.
- Show\hide percentile value This option is available if configured in the client settings. It is active when the number of time stamps is 100 or less and is achieved by increasing the resolution or decreasing the time interval. The percentile value represents a parameter value that exceeds a certain percentage (X%) relative to the remaining values. The percentile calculation is based on the average value of the parameter. To ensure accurate percentile calculations, it is recommended to use a resolution that is at least three times larger than the base resolution. For example, if the base resolution of the parameter is 10 minutes, a resolution of 30 minutes or higher should be used.

### 6.5.2.4. Spectrum Chart

The Spectrum chart in PQSCADA is specifically designed for analyzing frequency domain phenomena and visualizing selected parameters over a specific time range in a bar chart format. Unlike the Trend chart, the Spectrum chart does not use the time domain as the X-axis. Instead, the horizontal axis represents the harmonics, while the vertical axis represents the amplitude of each harmonic. A drill-in option is not available (the digital zoom option is enabled by default).

200 V - 🗟 📗					
80 V -					
20 V - 🗳 📶	100				
4 @		V		1	0
0	10	20	30	40	50

#### Spectrum chart tools

The Spectrum chart in PQSCADA offers a variety of tools and options to enhance your analysis and exploration of frequency domain phenomena. The Spectrum chart tool menu includes the following options:

- **Hide/Show Legend Box** This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.
- **Hide/Show Crosshair** You can choose to hide or show the crosshair, which is a vertical and horizontal line that intersects at the cursor position on the chart. The crosshair helps in precise data inspection and analysis.
- **Change background color -** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Hide/Show Grid Lines** This option allows you to hide or show the grid lines on the chart, providing visual reference lines that aid in data interpretation.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- Bring Parameter to Front If two graphs overlap on the chart, you can bring a specific graph to the front for better visibility and analysis.
- Show/Hide Min/Max Values This option helps determine the minimum and maximum values of the displayed charts within the current time interval, providing quick insights into the data range.
- **Disable/Enable fundamental** This option allows you to disable or enable the fundamental bar in the Spectrum chart. Disabling the fundamental bar rescales the Y-axis, providing a better view of the nonfundamental harmonics.
- Include/exclude flagged data This option enables you to include or exclude flagged data, which represents data influenced by power quality events (PQ events). This allows you to

analyze the harmonics with or without the influence of PQ events, providing a clearer view of the underlying harmonic content.

### 6.5.2.5. Event Chart

When creating an Event chart in PQSCADA, you have the flexibility to select from various Event types to analyze and visualize different types of events. The available Event types include:

- **System Events** These events pertain to the system-level operations and conditions. They provide insights into system-wide events such as system start-up, shutdown, alarms, or other system-related activities.
- **Power Quality Events** This category includes events related to power quality disturbances and anomalies. It helps in identifying and analyzing power quality issues such as voltage sags, swells, interruptions, harmonics, flicker, and other power quality-related events.
- I/O (Digital, Analog, Relay) Events These events are specific to input/output (I/O) operations in the system. They can represent events related to digital inputs, analog inputs, or relay operations. Examples include the activation of a digital input, changes in analog input values, or the status of relays.
- **Custom Events** This option allows you to define and configure custom events based on specific criteria or conditions that are relevant to your analysis. You can define events based on combinations of parameters, thresholds, logical expressions, or other custom rules

Once you have selected the Event type(s) for the Event chart, the events are displayed in a table format for the selected time range. The table provides comprehensive information about each event, including the occurrence time, duration, severity, and any additional relevant data associated with the event.

	Drag a column header here to group by that column											
	ED.	Name	Phase	Severity	Start time	End time	Duration	Value	Value (% from ref.)	Event Source	Component Name	
۲	175	Frequency		51	15/07/2016 09:17:32:811659	15/07/2016 09:17:42:811659	0010.000000	35,8516	6.88	Measuring device	Elspec NA	
۲	0	Repid voltage changes	V12	55	17/07/2016 16:13:48:924637	17/07/2016 16:13:49:008065	00:00:083447	0.2463	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
۲	0	Rapid voltage changes	V2N	55	17/07/2016 16:13:48:924637	17/07/2016 16:13:49:008085	00:00:083447	15.6247	0.06	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
6	0	Repid voltage changes	V2N	55	17/07/2016 16:13:48:924637	17/07/2016 16:13:49:008085	00:00.083447	0.1647	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
۲	0	Rapid voltage changes	V12	55	17/07/2016 16:13:48:924637	17/07/2016 16:13 49:008085	00:00:083447	23.0717	0.05	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
6	0	Repid voltage changes	V3N	55	22/07/2016 04:44 30:490281	22/07/2016 04:44 30:428683	00:00:006402	0	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
۲	0	Rapid voltage changes	V3N	55	22/07/2016 04:44 30:490281	22/07/2016 04:44 30:498683	00:00:006402	1.0119	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
6	0	Repid voltage changes	V31	55	22/07/2016 04:44 30:523616	22/07/2016 04:44 30:532019	00:00:006402	1.0887	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
•	0	Rapid voltage changes	V31	55	22/07/2016 04:44 30:523616	22/07/2016 04:44 30:532019	00:00:006402	0	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
6	0	Repid voltage changes	V31	55	22/07/2016 04:44:48:534050	22/07/2016 04:44:48:542472	00:00:006421	16,4376	0.08	PQ Server	Espec NA	
•	0	Rapid voltage changes	V3N	55	22/07/2016 04:44 48:534050	22/07/2016 04:44:48:542472	00:00:006421	9/8318	0.04	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
6	0	Repid voltage changes	V31	55	22/07/2016 04:44 48:534050	22/07/2016 04:44:48:542472	00:00.006421	0	0	PQ Server	Espec NA	
0	0	Panid unitana changer	1/25	55	22/07/2016 04:44 48:534050	22/07/2016 04:4148:542472	000000421	0	0	RO Securi	Fisher NA	

In the Event chart of PQSCADA, you can expand individual events to view more detailed information and access additional functionalities. Here's what you can expect when you click the event expand icon:

- **Detailed Bar** Clicking the expand icon O opens a detailed bar for the selected event. This bar provides additional information about the event, such as event type, occurrence time, duration, severity, and any other relevant details associated with the event.
- **Mask/Unmask Events** Within the detailed bar, you'll find checkboxes that allow you to mask or unmask events. Masking an event means excluding it from further analysis or visualization, while unmasking allows the event to be considered in subsequent evaluations.
- Link to Open Event in a Different View The detailed bar also includes a link that allows you to open the event in a different view based on a predefined <u>template</u>. This feature enables you to quickly switch to a dedicated view specifically designed for analyzing and investigating the selected event. The predefined template may include specific charts, parameters, or settings tailored to provide a comprehensive analysis of the event.

	Drag a column handler have to group by that bollution									A.		
	10	Name	Phase	Severily	Start time	End time	Duration	Voluei	Value (% from ref.)	Daniel Source	Component Name	
0	175	Frequency		51	15/07/2016 09 17:32:611059	15/07/2016/09/17/42/011059	0010000000	55,8510	6.11	Measuring device	Elspec NA	
NRSBDOR N	lames hases tart times nd times lurations hannelss eedlerss Open e lessages	Frequency 15/07/2016 09:17:32:8118 15/07/2016 09:17:42:8118 00:10:00000 134 Feeder 1 cent in new view	59 59									
0	0	Rapid voltage changes	V12,	55	17/07/2016 16 13:48:924637	17/07/2016 16:13:40:008065	00.00.083447	0.2463	0	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
0	0	Rapid voltage changes	V2N	55	17/07/2010 10 13:45 924037	17/07/2018 10 13:49:008085	00.00/083447	15.6247	0.05	PQ Server	Elspec NA	
1.6	0 0	Ranid unitaria chantee	V2N	55	17/07/2016 16 13:48:924517	17/07/2016 16 13:42:008065	0000083447	0.1647	9	PC Server	Elunar NA	

### Event chart tools

The Event chart in PQSCADA provides various tools and options for managing and analyzing events. Here are the available options in the Event chart tool menu:

- **Export chart to Excel** This option allows you to export the event chart data to an Excel file for further analysis or documentation purposes.
- Save columns order as default You can customize the order of columns and choose which columns to display in the event chart using the column chooser. By clicking this button, your column settings will be saved as a default template for all future event chart tables.
- Separate/aggregate PQ events By default, power quality events are aggregated in the Event chart. If multiple events of the same type occur simultaneously in different phases (within the same power topology), PQSCADA Sapphire will aggregate them into a single event. The aggregated event's start time is determined by the time the first phase entered the event condition, and the end time is determined by the time the last phase exited the event condition. The depth of the aggregated event represents the highest or lowest phase value within the aggregation.
- **Display oldest events first** This option allows you to choose the sorting order of events in the chart. Selecting this option will display the oldest events first.
- Set maximum events to display You can define the maximum number of events to display in the chart. The default value is set to 2000, but you can adjust it within the range of 1 to 100,000.
- Show/Hide masked events In compliance scenarios where flagged or non-flagged data is defined, this option allows you to control the visibility of masked events. Masked events refer to events that should be ignored based on specific criteria or flagged data. Choosing to show masked events will display all events, including those that should be ignored, while hiding masked events will show only events where no flagged data is present.
- Filter events by component data availability If you have knowledge that a specific component experienced a man-made event (e.g., power outage), you can choose to ignore events based on the data availability of that component. You can select the percentage of data availability that should be considered in the filtering process.

### 6.5.2.6. Unipede Chart

The Unipede chart is designed to display power quality events in a table format, adhering to the EN5016 standard. The table would contain relevant information about the occurrence and duration of these events, which can be valuable for power quality analysis.

Dips a	and Interruptions					<b>*</b> * <b>*</b>							
			Duration (ms)										
Valu	e (% from ref.)	10 < t < 200	200 < t x 500	500 < t x 1000	1000 < t x 5000	5000 < t < 60000							
▶ 90 >	× u ≥ 80	28	2	0	0	0 🔦							
80 >	> u ≥ 70	4	12	0	0	0							
70 >	× u ≥ 40	14	6	0	0	0							
40 >	× u ≥ 5	0	0	0	0	0							
5 > 1	u	0	0	0	0	0 👻							
Swells													
				Duration (ms)									
Valu	ie (% from ref.)	10 < t ≤ 500		500 < t ≤ 5000	5000 < t x 6000								
▶ U ≥	120		0		0	0 🔦							
120	> u > 110		2		0								

#### Unipede chart tools

The Unipede chart in PQSCADA offers a variety of tools and options to enhance your analysis and exploration of frequency domain phenomena. The Unipede chart tool menu includes the following options:

- Separate/aggregate PQ events By default, power quality events are aggregated in the chart. If multiple events of the same type occur simultaneously in different phases (within the same power topology), PQSCADA Sapphire will aggregate them into a single event. The aggregated event's start time is determined by the time the first phase entered the event condition, and the end time is determined by the time the last phase exited the event condition. The depth of the aggregated event represents the highest or lowest phase value within the aggregation.
- Show/Hide masked events In compliance scenarios where flagged or non-flagged data is defined, this option allows you to control the visibility of masked events. Masked events refer to events that should be ignored based on specific criteria or flagged data. Choosing to show masked events will display all events, including those that should be ignored, while hiding masked events will show only events where no flagged data is present.
- **Export chart to Excel** This option allows you to export the Unipede chart data to an Excel file for further analysis or documentation purposes.

### 6.5.2.7. Statistics Chart

The Statistics chart in PQSCADA is designed to display calculations based on parameter values divided into bins representing specific value ranges. It provides both **Relative** charts, where the parameter values are divided into bins, and **Cumulative** statistics calculations, which are represented by a continuous line accumulating the values of the bins.

The **Relative** charts show the distribution of parameter values across different bins or value ranges. Each bin represents a specific range, and the chart displays the count or percentage of parameter values falling within each bin.

On the other hand, the **Cumulative** statistics calculations chart represents a continuous line that accumulates the values of the bins. This line provides information about the cumulative distribution of the parameter values, allowing you to analyze the overall trend and distribution patterns.

In addition to the graphical representation, the Statistics chart also includes a **statistic data table**, which presents detailed information about the parameter values, bins, and corresponding statistics. This table can provide valuable insights into the distribution and statistical characteristics of the parameter data.



• **Parameter Name** - This refers to the selected parameter for which the statistics are being calculated. It represents the specific parameter you have chosen to analyze.

#### Statistic data table

- Statistic Type The Statistics chart can operate in two modes:
  - Global In this mode, the statistical calculations are based on the entire range of the parameter, providing insights into the overall distribution and characteristics of the parameter values.
  - **Range -** In this mode, the statistical calculations are focused on the selected range displayed in the chart. If you zoom in on a specific range, the percentage values will refer to that zoomed-in interval or the entire range, depending on the configuration.
- **Count** This represents the total number of data points included in the statistical calculation. It indicates the number of data samples or measurements considered for the analysis.
- **Flagged Data Count** This indicates the number of data points that were ignored or excluded from the statistical calculation due to certain flags or predefined criteria. Flagged data points are typically excluded to ensure the accuracy and integrity of the statistical analysis.
- Average This represents the average value of the selected parameter during the specified time interval and within the defined parameter range. It provides an indication of the central tendency or typical value of the parameter.
- **Minimum** This shows the minimum measured value of the selected parameter within the specified time interval and parameter range. It represents the lowest recorded value observed during the analyzed period.
- **Maximum** This indicates the maximum measured value of the selected parameter within the specified time interval and parameter range. It represents the highest recorded value observed during the analyzed period.

- Standard Deviation The standard deviation is a measure of the dispersion or variability of the parameter values. It quantifies the average amount by which the parameter values deviate from the mean (average) value. A higher standard deviation indicates a greater spread of values, while a lower value suggests a more concentrated distribution.
- **5% Low** This refers to the lower percentile value, specifically the value below which 5% of the parameter values fall. It provides information about the lower boundary of the parameter distribution.
- **95% High** This represents the upper percentile value, specifically the value below which 95% of the parameter values fall. It provides insights into the upper boundary or threshold of the parameter distribution.

In the Statistics chart, the parameter range you have selected is automatically divided into a specified number of subranges. By default, **the chart splits the range into equal subranges ranging from 5 to 50**, and this configuration can be adjusted through the Chart Setting menu.

**Each subrange is represented as a bar in the chart**, and the height or length of the bar corresponds to the relative statistic value for that specific subrange. The relative statistic value represents the calculated statistic (e.g., average, minimum, maximum) for each subrange in relation to the entire parameter range.

To **drill** into a specific subrange and focus on a narrower range of values, you can use the left-click and drag functionality. Simply click and hold the mouse button while dragging it across the desired subrange. This action allows you to zoom in and examine the statistics and distribution within the selected range in more detail.

By **zooming** into a specific subrange, the chart adjusts the displayed statistics and percentage values to reflect the zoomed-in interval. This provides a closer view of the selected subrange and allows for a more detailed analysis of the parameter values within that range.



#### Statistic chart tools

The Statistic chart in PQSCADA offers a variety of tools and options to enhance your analysis and exploration of frequency domain phenomena. The Statistic chart tool menu includes the following options:

- **Hide/Show Legend Box** This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.
- **Hide/Show Crosshair** You can choose to hide or show the crosshair, which is a vertical and horizontal line that intersects at the cursor position on the chart. The crosshair helps in precise data inspection and analysis.
- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Hide/Show Grid Lines** This option allows you to hide or show the grid lines on the chart, providing visual reference lines that aid in data interpretation.

- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- Normalized Display Mode This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.
- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Hide/Show statistics data** The Hide/Show Statistics Data option in the Statistics chart allows you to toggle the visibility of the statistics table. When this option is enabled, the statistics table is displayed along with the chart, providing detailed information about the calculated statistics for each subrange.
- Range mode toggle between Range mode and Global mode
- Back to default range allows you to return the chart to its original range after zooming in.
- Set number of ranges controls the number of bars or subranges displayed in the chart.
- **Bring Parameter to Front** If two graphs overlap on the chart, you can bring a specific graph to the front for better visibility and analysis.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- **Change percentage values** allows you to modify the low and high percentage values for the chart.
- Set Min/Max range values enables you to specify the minimum and maximum range values for the parameters.
- Include/exclude flagged data This option enables you to include or exclude flagged data, which represents data influenced by power quality events (PQ events). This allows you to analyze the statistics with or without the influence of PQ events, providing a clearer view of the underlying harmonic content.

### 6.5.2.8. Scatter Event Chart

The Scatter Event chart in PQSCADA allows you to view events based on various standards, including CBEMA, NRS, ITIC, IEEE1668 (Type 1, 2, 3), SEMI F47-0706, AS 61000.3.100, and custom definitions. This chart provides a graphical representation of events in relation to their severity and duration, helping you analyze power quality issues based on different standards.



#### Scatter Chart types:

 CBEMA – The chart displays power quality events such as DIPs, SWELLs, and INTERRUPTIONS. It also includes area layers indicating prohibited and no damage regions. The X-axis represents event duration, while the Y-axis represents event deviation, helping users understand the impact of voltage variations on their equipment.



• **NRS** – The chart displays power quality events such as DIPs, SWELLs, and INTERRUPTIONs. It also includes area layers that divide the chart into several regions. The X-axis represents event duration, while the Y-axis represents event deviation, providing insights into the impact of voltage variations on electrical equipment.



• ITIC - The chart displays power quality events such as DIPs, SWELLs, and INTERRUPTIONS. It also includes area layers that divide the chart into several regions. The X-axis represents event duration, while the Y-axis represents event deviation, providing insights into the impact of voltage variations on electrical equipment.



- **IEEE1668 (Type 1, 2, 3)** This chart focuses specifically on Dip events and provides separate charts for different types of dips:
  - **Type 1:** Displays dip events that occurred in 1 phase.
  - **Type 2:** Displays dip events that occurred in 2 phases.
  - **Type 3:** Displays dip events that occurred in 3 phases.



• SEMI F47 - focuses on Dip events. The X-axis represents the duration of the event ranging from 0ms to 1000ms. The Y-axis represents the percentage deviation from the nominal value. The green area indicates the unaffected region, while the red area represents the region where mis operation may occur.



• **AS 61000.3.100** - chart displays Dip, Swell, and Interruption events. The chart distinguishes between Phase-to-Earth and Rural areas with dotted lines. The voltage level in kV is determined based on the component's nominal voltage channel. For line-to-line voltage channels, the nominal is the selected type of threshold, and for L-N voltage channels, the threshold is the channel nominal multiplied by the square root of 3.



• **Custom** - allows users to select specific power quality (PQ) events and choose an area layer (CBEMA/NRS/ITIC) to be displayed on the chart.

#### Scatter Event chart tools

- The Scatter Event chart tool menu includes the following options:
- **Hide/Show Legend Box** This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.
- **Hide/Show Crosshair** You can choose to hide or show the crosshair, which is a vertical and horizontal line that intersects at the cursor position on the chart. The crosshair helps in precise data inspection and analysis.
- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Hide/Show Grid Lines** This option allows you to hide or show the grid lines on the chart, providing visual reference lines that aid in data interpretation.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- Separate/aggregate PQ events By default, power quality events are aggregated in the chart. If multiple events of the same type occur simultaneously in different phases (within the same power topology), PQSCADA Sapphire will aggregate them into a single event. The aggregated event's start time is determined by the time the first phase entered the event condition, and the end time is determined by the time the last phase exited the event condition. The depth of the aggregated event represents the highest or lowest phase value within the aggregation.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- Show/Hide masked events In compliance scenarios where flagged or non-flagged data is defined, this option allows you to control the visibility of masked events. Masked events refer to events that should be ignored based on specific criteria or flagged data. Choosing to show masked events will display all events, including those that should be ignored, while hiding masked events will show only events where no flagged data is present.

### 6.5.2.9. Scatter Parameters Chart (Professional and Enterprise only)

The Scatter Parameters chart allows reviewing scattered dots of a specific parameter in relation to another parameter. One parameter is represented by the horizontal axis, and the other parameter is represented by the vertical axis. This chart helps visualize the relationship or correlation between the two parameters.



#### Scatter Parameter chart tools

The Scatter Parameter chart tool menu includes the following options:

- **Hide/Show Legend Box** This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.
- **Hide/Show Crosshair** You can choose to hide or show the crosshair, which is a vertical and horizontal line that intersects at the cursor position on the chart. The crosshair helps in precise data inspection and analysis.
- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Hide/Show Grid Lines** This option allows you to hide or show the grid lines on the chart, providing visual reference lines that aid in data interpretation.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- Normalized Display Mode This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.
- **Axis Settings** You can customize the minimum, maximum, and step values on the X-axis and Y-axis of the chart, allowing for better control over the displayed range and intervals.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- Add/Remove regression line This option allows you to add or remove a regression line on the Scatter Parameters chart. A regression line is a line that represents the best-fit trend of the data points, minimizing the distance between the line and the scatter points.
- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Filter on** This option allows you to apply a filter based on a third parameter's normal operating condition. By enabling this feature, you can hide data points that fall outside the specified range of the third parameter.

### 6.5.2.10. Phasor (Professional and Enterprise only)

The Phasor chart allows you to view the amplitude and angle of a phasor for a selected time range. The chart represents the changes in both the amplitude and phase of the phasor over time. It provides a graphical representation of the phasor's behavior and allows for the analysis of its magnitude and phase angle variations.



#### Phasor chart tools

The Phasor chart tool menu includes the following options:

- **Hide/Show Legend Box** This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.
- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- Normalized Display Mode This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- Set zero origin By default, it is set to 3 o'clock, but you can click "Set zero origin" to choose a different origin point.
- **Show limit series** define a limit radius that will be displayed in the phasor chart, helping to visualize any specified limits or boundaries.

### 6.5.2.11. Energy Chart

In the Energy data chart, you can view energy data from multiple components for a selected time range. There are four layout types available:

#### Stacked bars

Energy data from multiple components is displayed on top of each other in stacked bars.



#### Side-By-Side Bars

Energy data from multiple components is displayed next to each other in separate bars.



#### Trend

Energy data is displayed over time as a trend. When multiple components are selected, the chart can show the summary trend of all components.



#### **Pie Chart**

Energy distribution between different components is represented in a pie chart format.



#### Energy chart tools

The Energy chart tool menu includes the following options:

• **Hide/Show Legend Box** - This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.

- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- **Split to Charts** When multiple parameters are displayed on the same chart, this option splits the chart into separate charts based on the displayed parameters. You can revert to the non-split chart by dragging and dropping the parameters from the Chart Components tree.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- **Chart layout** Click on "Select new chart layout" to choose from different layout options such as Side-by-Side, Trend, or Pie. The default layout is set in the investigation settings.
- **Change Color** This option enables you to change the color of any graph on the chart, providing visual differentiation between parameters and aiding in data analysis.
- Show total series (Trend only) By clicking this option, the chart will display the total energy series, which represents the combined energy consumption of all selected components. This is applicable only in the Trend layout.

### 6.5.2.12. Cyclic Histogram (Professional and Enterprise only)

The Cyclic Histogram allows you to visualize overlaid waveform cycles for a selected time range. This feature is made possible by the continuous recording mechanism of Elspec BlackBox analyzers. The histogram displays the deviation from the expected ideal waveform by overlaying the waveforms. To view this chart, you need to select the "waveform cycle statistics" parameter.





#### Cyclic histogram chart tools

The Cyclic Histogram chart tool menu includes the following options:

• **Hide/Show Legend Box** - This option allows you to hide or show the legend box that displays the parameter names and their corresponding colors on the chart.

- Reset zoom to 100% allows you to restore the original zoom level of the chart.
- **Export** You can export the chart information using different methods such as copying the chart to the clipboard, exporting the chart as an image file, or exporting the chart to Excel for further analysis or reporting.
- **Change background color** Gives you the ability to customize the background color of the Spectrum chart to suit your preferences or improve visual clarity.
- Edit chart title Allows you to modify the name of the chart.
- Edit axis Y scale allows you to select the number of steps of the Y axis.
- **Grid** allows you to control the grid lines displayed on the chart. It provides the following functionalities:
  - Show/Hide Grid Lines You can choose to show or hide the grid lines on the chart. When enabled, grid lines are displayed to assist in visually aligning and interpreting data points.
  - Change Grid Line Color You have the option to change the color of the grid lines. This allows you to customize the appearance of the grid to suit your preferences or to enhance visibility.
  - Change Grid Line Spacing You can adjust the spacing between grid lines. This allows you to control the density or frequency of grid lines displayed on the chart. Increasing the spacing results in fewer grid lines, while decreasing the spacing increases the number of grid lines.
- **Normalized Display Mode** This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.

**Note:** The data used for the Cyclic Histogram chart is waveform samples. When requesting a large time range, such as more than a few seconds or minutes, a significant amount of data is involved. As a result, the response time for generating the chart may take 10-15 seconds or even longer, depending on the requested period. It's important to be aware of this potential delay when working with larger time ranges to ensure a smooth user experience.
### 6.5.2.13. Summary Chart

The Summary chart allows you to view the key statistics of selected parameters for a specific time range. It provides the following information:

- **Minimum Value** Displays the lowest recorded value of each parameter within the selected time range.
- **Maximum Value** Shows the highest recorded value of each parameter within the selected time range.
- **Average Value** Represents the average (mean) value calculated from all data points of each parameter within the selected time range.

		Parameter	Min	Max	Average	
	SPEC Demo	RMS V1N (Auto)	106.611 V	289.149 V	233.999 V	
Ľ	SPEC Demo	RMS V2N (Auto)	103.128 V	257.023 V	233.851 V	
Ŀ	SPEC Demo	RMS V3N (Auto)	101 611 1/	252 200 V	222 497 1/	

#### Summary chart tools

The Summary chart tool menu includes the following options:

- **Export to Excel** The Export to Excel feature allows users to export chart data or grid table data directly to an Excel file for further analysis, reporting, or sharing purposes.
- **Normalized Display Mode** This mode normalizes the data in the chart, particularly for voltage, current, and power parameters. The values are adjusted based on their nominal values, providing a standardized view for comparison and analysis.

### 6.5.3. Real time charts

Real-time charts in PQSCADA provide live monitoring and visualization of power quality data as it is being collected. With real-time charts, users can observe and analyze power quality parameters and trends as they occur.

PQSCADA's real-time charts offer a dynamic and interactive display of power quality data, presenting it in a visually appealing and easily understandable format. Users can customize the charts to show specific parameters of interest, such as voltage, current, frequency, harmonics, and more.

### 6.5.3.1. Add a new real time chart

Real time charts can be added via creation of **new investigation** and **new view**. Make sure that the selected component is a **live** unit.

To add a new real time chart in PQSCADA, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the **'Add New investigation'** button to initiate the process of creating a new investigation.
- 2. The 'Add new Investigation' Wizard will appear.
- 3. On the data source page, click the 'Next' button to move forward.
- 4. Select a live component and click the 'Next' button.
- 5. Set the Time interval to 'Real time' to ensure that chart displays live data, click the 'Next' button.

Time interval:	Real time	c
From date:	01/01/1970 12:00:00.000000 AM	Y
To date:	01/01/2100 12:00:00.000000 AM	×
Resolution:	Auto	*

- 6. Choose the type of real time chart you want to add, such as Trend, Phasor, Spectrum, or waveform, click the '**Next'** button.
- 7. Select the parameters you want to include in the chart. You can choose from a variety of power quality parameters. Once you've made your selections, click the **'Finish'** button.

#### 6.5.3.2. Real time tool bar

Start\pause button - used to control the streaming of real-time data in a chart.

**Fit charts in view** – Organizes the chart size in two modes:

- Fit charts to screen resized to the screen height.
- Best fit with scrolling –optimized chart height to the screen height to enable scrolling.
  - **Resolution** defines the number of points to be displayed on the chart. In Auto mode, PQSCADA Sapphire optimizes the number of points to the screen resolution.

#### Note:

• Old data is deleted when changing resolution.

• Add\Remove parameters option is available while real time is in Pause mode.

### 6.5.4. Min/Max View

The Min/Max View is a feature in PQSCADA Sapphire that optimizes the representation of data considering the request and response time. When dealing with a large amount of waveform data over an extended time interval, such as a year, the resolution of the display and human eye becomes a limitation.

For example, when displaying RMS values over a year, there are millions of data points representing each cycle (60Hz x 60sec x 60min x 24hours x 365days). With limited screen resolution, each pixel on the screen represents many cycles, making it difficult to identify spikes and aberrations.

To address this, the Min/Max View was introduced. In this view, each horizontal pixel on the screen is represented as a vertical bar, 1 pixel wide. The top end of the bar represents the maximum measured value, and the bottom end represents the minimum measured value. This representation allows significant aberrations to be clearly visible, even within the limited screen space.

By drilling into a specific event or time range, the view can be zoomed in to focus on the original length of time over which the event occurred. This allows for a detailed analysis of the event and its characteristics.



### 6.5.5. Drilling In

When investigating collected data in PQSCADA Sapphire, drill-in options provide a way to focus on specific locations or regions within the chart, helping to identify the cause of failure or anomalies. There are three drill-in options available:

- Active Region This option allows drilling into the active region of interest, which is typically determined by user interaction or specific criteria set by the system.
- Single Region With this option, users can drill into a single specific region on the chart. By
  selecting a particular area or time range, the data within that region is expanded for closer
  inspection.
- **Multiple Regions** allows users to select and drill into multiple regions of interest on the chart. This is useful when there are multiple areas or time ranges that require closer examination.

#### 6.5.5.1. Active Region

To use the Active Region drill-in option in PQSCADA Sapphire, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the **Drill navigation mode** icon located on the view toolbar. This enables the drill-in functionality.
- 2. Left click and drag the mouse along the desired region on the chart that you want to drill into. As you drag the mouse, a blue shadow will highlight the selected region, and the corresponding time interval will be displayed below the chart.
- 3. **Release the mouse button** to drill into the selected region. The chart will be zoomed in to display the drilled-in region in more detail.
- 4. To navigate back to the **previous time frame**, click on the Previous time frame icon, typically represented by a left-pointing arrow. This will revert the chart view to its previous state before drilling in.
- 5. If you wish to further enlarge or explore another region of interest, repeat the above steps to continue drilling in and analyzing specific regions along the chart.



### 6.5.5.2. Single Region

To use the single Region drill-in option in PQSCADA Sapphire, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the **Drill navigation mode** icon located on the view toolbar. This activates the drill-in functionality.
- 2. **Right-click and drag the mouse** along the desired region on the chart that you want to drill into. As you drag the mouse, a red shadow will highlight the selected region, and the corresponding time interval will be displayed below the chart.
- 3. **Release the mouse button** to drill into the selected region. The chart will be zoomed in to display the drilled-in region in more detail, and a new chart tab will be created specifically for that region.
- 4. If you wish to further enlarge or explore another region of interest, repeat the above steps by right-clicking and dragging the mouse to select and drill into additional regions.
- 5. You can also continue using the Single Region feature by left-clicking and dragging the mouse within the already drilled-in region to zoom in further and analyze specific areas within that region.



### 6.5.5.3. Multiple Regions

To use the single Region drill-in option in PQSCADA Sapphire, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the **Drill navigation mode** icon located on the view toolbar. This activates the drill-in functionality.
- 2. **Center-click and drag the mouse** along the desired region on the chart that you want to drill into. As you drag the mouse, a green shadow will highlight the selected region, and the corresponding time interval will be displayed below the chart.
- 3. **Release the mouse center button** to select the region. The selected region will be highlighted, and the time interval will be recorded.
- 4. Repeat steps 1-3 to select additional regions of interest. Each selected region will be highlighted with a green shadow.
- 5. Once you have selected all the desired regions, **double-click** any of the selected regions with the left mouse button.
- 6. The drilled-in region will be displayed, and a new chart tab will be created specifically for that region.
- 7. Repeat steps 5-6 for each of the selected regions to create separate drill-in chart tabs for each region.
- 8. To further enlarge the region of interest, you can continue using the Active Region or Single Region drill-in options within the already drilled-in region, following the respective steps provided earlier.



Figure 6-2. Selected regions

# 6.6. Charts Tree

The chart tree in PQSCADA Sapphire provides a list of parameters displayed on the chart. Here are the icons and their functionalities located on the chart tree bar:



Use the following icons located on the chart tree bar:

- **Hide chart** Click to hide or unhide the chart from the view.
- Add Parameter Click to add\remove parameters to\from the chart.
  - Add/remove event type Click to add or remove event types (specific to event charts).
    - **Move chart** Click and drag to reposition the chart within the view.
- Minimize chart tree Click to minimize the chart tree, collapsing it for a more compact view.
- Delete chart Click to delete the chart from the view.
- Minimize parameter Click to minimize a parameter within the chart tree, collapsing its details.
  - Hide parameter Click to hide or unhide a parameter from the chart.
- Display parameters by parameters in PQSCADA Sapphire can be displayed as channels (e.g., channels 1, 2, 3, etc.), logical (e.g., V1, V2, V3, etc.), or additional (e.g., temperature, pressure). Use the Display parameter by to sort parameters according to type.

### 6.6.1. Move Parameters Between Charts

To move a parameter between charts in PQSCADA Sapphire, follow these steps:

- 1. Locate the parameter you want to move within the chart tree.
- 2. Select the parameter by clicking on it.

1

All

- 3. Click and hold the selected parameter.
- 4. Drag the parameter to the scrollbar area, which is outside the chart tree section.
- 5. While dragging, you will see a visual indicator showing the parameter being moved.

6. Release the mouse button to drop the parameter into the new chart.

By dragging and dropping the parameter between the chart trees, you can easily move parameters from one chart to another, organizing and customizing the charts according to your preference and analysis needs.

# 6.7. Templates

Templates in PQSCADA Sapphire are preconfigured investigations that include topologies, charts, and parameters. They serve as a convenient starting point for creating new investigations with specific focuses or analysis needs. You can create your own custom templates or use pre-existing templates provided by PQSCADA Sapphire.

For instance, an event investigation template could be designed to analyze power quality events such as voltage sags or dips. This template would include high-resolution parameters, such as Voltage RMS, that are relevant to capturing and analyzing the specific event. By using this template, you can quickly set up an investigation with the necessary charts and parameters already configured.

### 6.7.1. Investigation Template

To streamline the process of creating a new investigation or view in PQSCADA Sapphire, you have the option to use a preexisting investigation template. These templates come with preconfigured topologies, charts, and parameters, allowing you to quickly set up an investigation with a specific focus or analysis objective.

To open a new Investigation/View from a Template, select **Template** from the **Chart type** page of the **Add new Investigation/View** wizard.

### 6.7.1.1. Create a New Investigation Template

- 1. Create a View with all the charts and parameters you wish to include in the template. The view cannot include more than 1 component.
- 2. Click on the Actions menu and select Save as template.
- 3. In the Save template window, perform the following actions:
  - Under 'Template type', select 'Investigation'.
  - Provide a name for the new template.
  - Choose the appropriate topology from the "Topology" dropdown menu, specifying where this template will be active.
- 4. If you want the template to include events, enable the "<u>Create a separate view for each of the</u> <u>following events</u>" checkbox and select the events you want to include.
- 5. Finally, click on the "Save" button to save the template.

#### 6.7.1.2. Modify an Investigation Template

A single template can include different parameters for different power topologies. For example, the same template will include differential voltages when you open a component configured as Delta and phase to neutral voltages when you open a component configured as WYE.

- 1. Create a View with all the charts and parameters you wish to include in the template. The view cannot include more than 1 component.
- 2. Click on the Actions menu and select Save as template.
- 3. In the Save template window, perform the following actions:
- 4. Under 'Template type', select 'Investigation'.
- 5. Select the template you want to modify.
- 6. Choose the appropriate topology from the "Topology" dropdown menu, specifying where this template will be active.
- 7. If you want the template to include events, enable the "<u>Create a separate view for each of the</u> <u>following events</u>" checkbox and select the events you want to include.

8. Finally, click on the "Save" button to save the template.

### 6.7.2. Include Event in a Template

In PQSCADA Sapphire, templates offer the option to open separate views for selected events. This feature allows for a more detailed analysis of specific events that occur within the selected time interval of the view.

When using a template and selecting a time interval for the view, if there are events detected within that interval, such as dips, PQSCADA Sapphire will automatically open additional views for each of those events. For example, if there were three dips detected during the selected time interval, PQSCADA Sapphire would open three additional views, one for each dip.

### 6.7.3. Event Template

Event templates are used to open a view with predefined charts and parameters for a specific event type. For example, a template for a dip will include voltage waveform and RMS charts, while a Harmonic event will include a spectrum chart.

### 6.7.3.1. Create a New Event Template

- 1. Create a View with all the charts and parameters you wish to include in the template. The view cannot include more than 1 component.
- 2. Click on the Actions menu and select Save as template.
- 3. In the **Save template** window, perform the following actions:
  - Under 'Template type', select **Events**.
  - Choose the appropriate topology from the "Topology" dropdown menu, specifying where this template will be active.
  - Select the event type.
  - Check the enable user tags to select the user tags range.
- 4. Finally, click on the "Save" button to save the template.

### 6.7.3.2. Modify Events Template

A single template can include different parameters for different power topologies. For example, the same template may include differential voltages when you open a component configured as Delta and phase to neutral voltages when you open a component configured as WYE.

- 1. Create a View with all the charts and parameters you wish to include in the template. The view cannot include more than 1 component.
- 2. Click on the Actions menu and select Save as template.
- 3. In the **Save template** window, perform the following actions:
  - Under 'Template type', select Events.
  - Select the template you want to modify.
  - Choose the appropriate topology from the "Topology" dropdown menu, specifying where this template will be active.
  - Select the event type.
  - Check the enable user tags to select the user tags range.
- 4. Finally, click on the **"Save"** button to save the template.

### 6.7.4. Files Template

In PQSCADA Sapphire, the File Template feature allows you to open a new investigation based on PQZIP and PQZ files. These files contain recorded power quality data and can be used as a starting point for your analysis.

When you upload a PQZIP or PQZ file to the PQSCADA Sapphire application, you can define a File Template that specifies the initial investigation settings for that file. This includes the charts, parameters, and other configurations that you want to have preconfigured when opening the file.

### 6.7.4.1. Create New File Template

- 1. Create a View with all the charts and parameters you wish to include in the template. The view cannot include more than 1 component.
- 2. Click on the Actions menu and select Save as template.
- 3. In the Save template window, perform the following actions:
  - Under 'Template type', select File.
  - Choose the appropriate topology from the "Topology" dropdown menu, specifying where this template will be active.
  - Select the file type.
- 4. Finally, click on the **"Save"** button to save the template.

### 6.7.4.2. Modify File Template

A single template can include different parameters for different power topologies. For example, the same template will include differential voltages when you open a component configured as Delta and phase to neutral voltages when you open a component configured as WYE.

- 1. Create a View with all the charts and parameters you wish to include in the template. The view cannot include more than 1 component.
- 2. Click on the Actions menu and select Save as template.
- 3. In the Save template window, perform the following actions:
  - Under 'Template type', select File.
  - Select the template you want to modify.
  - Choose the appropriate topology from the "Topology" dropdown menu, specifying where this template will be active.
  - Select the file type.
- 4. Finally, click on the **"Save"** button to save the template.

# 7. Power Quality Module

The Power Quality module in the system provides valuable information about the power quality conditions in your network or at individual measurement points. It allows you to configure the power quality compliance standards according to your specific requirements, such as EN50160, FOL, IEEE519, and others.

By applying these compliance conditions, the module helps you identify any violations and determine the root cause and type of the violation quickly and efficiently. It supports multiple compliance conditions for a single measurement point, enabling easy comparison.

In addition to real-time monitoring and analysis, the Power Quality module also offers the capability to generate comprehensive reports based on the power quality data. These reports provide detailed insights into the power quality conditions, making it easier to analyze and address any issues.

For more detailed information on power quality compliance and standards, you can refer to Appendix A of the system documentation. It will provide you with additional guidance and specifications related to power quality compliance.



Figure 7-1. Power Quality screen

The Power Quality module screen is divided into two main sections:

The **left section** is dedicated to displaying the connected Instances and their hosted Components. This section provides an overview of the different instances and components within your power system.

The **right section** of the screen is reserved for displaying the Compliance results of the selected object. This section provides detailed information about the compliance status and any violations detected based on the configured power quality compliance conditions.

To adjust the size of the sections and allocate more space to either the Instances and Components section or the Compliance results section, you can use the splitter control line. The splitter control line is a vertical line located between the two sections. By clicking and dragging the splitter control with

your pointing device, you can move it to the left or right, thereby changing the width of each section according to your preference.

# 7.1. Compliance Toolbar

The compliance toolbar in the Power Quality module provides various options for adjusting the compliance view and navigating through the time intervals. Here's an explanation of each option:



# 7.2. Starting a New Compliance Investigation

1. Select the component from the **Components** tree. To sort the components by tags, click the **Tag** icon.

For details on Open tree settings, see section 5.8.4.

- 2. Select the time interval from the compliance toolbar with one of the following options:
  - Click the **Fixed time intervals** or icon to select a fixed time interval.
  - Type the Start and End times in the time picker box.
- 3. Click the Start query O icon.

# 7.3. Compliance Trend

In the Compliance Trend part of the screen in PQSCADA Sapphire, you can analyze the compliance results over time based on selected standards. Here's a closer look at the different elements:



- **Compliance Standard** Select the specific standard you want to investigate. You can choose from various compliance standards, such as EN50160 or others. Multiple compliance conditions can apply to a single measurement point, allowing for comparison and analysis.
- **Compliance Chapter** Compliance is organized into chapters, each having its own set of rules, evaluation window, observation window, sliding window, and result over time. The rules within a chapter determine the compliance criteria and parameters to be evaluated.
- **Compliance Results Over Time** Compliance assessment is performed over a specified period. For example, EN50160 has an evaluation period of 1 week. The sliding window determines the frequency of the results. If the sliding window is set to 1 day, you will see a result for each day, representing the compliance status for the past 7 days.
- **Sub-Time-Intervals** The compliance result over time section is divided into sub-timeintervals that represent the compliance results for each sliding window period. When selecting a time interval, PQSCADA Sapphire divides it into sub-time-intervals of 7 days based on the sliding window duration. Each sub-time-interval represents a portion of the selected time interval.
- For example, when selecting a time interval of 10 days (May 1st to May 10th) for a compliance standard with an evaluation window of 7 days and a sliding window of 1 day, PQSCADA Sapphire will display 3 sub-time-intervals: the first represents the result from the 1st to the 8th day, the second for the 2nd to the 9th day, and the third for the 3rd to the 10th day. The maximum number of sub-time-intervals is 96.
- Colors for Compliance Results The compliance results are displayed using four different colors:
  - **Green -** Indicates a pass, meaning the power quality parameters meet the compliance criteria.
  - **Orange** Represents a pass, but the parameters did not meet the target specified by the standard.
  - **Red** Indicates a failure, indicating that the power quality parameters did not meet the compliance criteria.
  - Gray Indicates insufficient data to evaluate compliance for a particular sub-timeinterval.
- Generate Report Clicking the "Generate report" button allows you to generate a report based on the configured compliance standards. This report can provide a comprehensive overview of the compliance status and analysis.

### 7.4. Drill In

When working with the Compliance Trend section in PQSCADA Sapphire, you can use the "Drill in" feature to obtain more detailed information about specific sub-time-intervals and sliding windows. Here's how you can do it:

1. **Hover over a sub-time-interval:** Move your cursor over a particular sub-time-interval on the Compliance Trend chart. This action will trigger a pop-up window called the "List of sliding windows."



- 2. **Click on a row:** In the "List of sliding windows" pop-up window, click on the row that corresponds to the sliding window you wish to drill into. You have two options based on the type of click:
  - a. **One-click -** By performing a single click on a row, you can change the observation window of the Rules overview section. This allows you to focus on specific compliance rules and their evaluation within the selected sliding window.
  - b. **Double click -** If you double click on a row, the compliance window time interval will be adjusted to match the selected sliding window. This action provides a more detailed view of the compliance results specifically within that time range.

# 7.5. Rules Overview

In the Rules Overview section of PQSCADA Sapphire's Compliance Trend, you can access a detailed overview of a specific chapter and observation window related to the compliance trend. This section provides information about the rules associated with the selected chapter and the corresponding results within a specific time interval.

Harmonic	Time [%]	Regulation max [%]	Measured max [%] V1N	Measured max [%] V2N	Measured max [%] V3N	Result [% within the limits] V1N	Result [% within the limits] V2N	Result
2	95	6	0.02	0.02	0.02	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
3	95	5	0.8	0.55	0.56	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
4	95	5	0.01	0.01	0.01	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
5	95	6	0.86	0.97	0.91	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
6	95	5	0.01	0.01	0.01	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
7	95	5	1.48	1.52	1.45	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
8	95	5	0.01	0.01	0.01	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
9	95	6	0.66	0.81	0.58	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
10	95	6	0	0	0	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
11	95	5	0.58	0.58	0.58	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
12	95	5	0	0	0	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
13	95	Б	0.64	0.82	0.59	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
14	95	5	0	0	0	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
15	95	5	0.19	0.24	0.3	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
16	95	5	0	0	0	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
17	95	6	0.08	0.04	0.04	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	
18	95	6	0	0	0	Pass (100%)	Pass (100%)	

To enhance the visualization of the data, you have two display modes available: table and chart.

- Table Selecting the table mode will present the detailed data in a tabular format.
- Chart Opting for the chart mode will display the detailed data in a graphical representation.

By switching between the table and chart modes in the Rules Overview section, you can choose the presentation style that best suits your analysis and interpretation needs.

# 7.6. Events

In PQSCADA Sapphire, the Events section provides a continuous display of events that are typically observed in a power quality monitoring system. These events can be managed and edited through the Events tab in the System module (refer to section 5.9.8 for more information).

The Events column header can be interactively dragged up to group events based on the selected column. This feature allows you to organize and analyze events based on specific criteria or parameters, providing a more structured view of the data.

Clicking on an event in the Events section automatically creates an investigation related to that event. This enables you to delve deeper into the event, analyze it further, and gather more detailed insights. For more comprehensive information on investigations and their functionalities, you can refer to Chapter 5 of the documentation.

# 8. Energy Module

The Energy Module in PQSCADA Sapphire is a robust tool designed to analyze energy-related data for the customers. Here are some key specifications and features of the Energy module:

- Enterprise License The Energy module is available as an Enterprise licensed feature, providing advanced energy analysis capabilities to the users.
- Integration with Billing Tab The Energy module is closely coupled with the Billing tab in the client's System module (refer to section 5.9.16). This integration ensures that much of the displayed data is based on the billing configuration, allowing for accurate and relevant energy analysis.
- **Customizable Dashboards** Users have the flexibility to create custom dashboards in the Energy module, tailoring the displayed information and visualizations to their specific needs and preferences.
- **Export to Word** The Energy module allows users to export their custom dashboards to Word format. By clicking the Export Energy icon located on the top right corner of the screen, a Word file is generated based on an XML template. This template can be modified as per the customer's requirements, and the exported file serves as a comprehensive report of the energy analysis.

The Energy Module is a powerful tool that can be used to analyze energy by the customer's PQSCADA Sapphire.

Custom dashboards can be exported to Word by clicking the **Export Energy** icon on the top right corner of the screen. The Word file is created from an XML template that can be modified per customer requirements at (C:\Users\<username>\AppData\Roaming\PQS\Templates\Export).

## 8.1. Home Page



Figure 0-1. Energy Module

In the **Energy module** of PQSCADA Sapphire, the screen is divided into two main sections separated by a vertical splitter control line. Here's a breakdown of each section:

- Left Section This section displays the connected Instances and their hosted Components. It provides a hierarchical view of the energy-related objects and their organization within the system. You can navigate through the Instances and Components to select the specific objects you want to analyze.
- **Right Section** The right section of the Energy module screen is dedicated to displaying the Energy Consumption of the selected objects. It provides detailed information and visualizations related to energy consumption, such as charts, graphs, and tables. This section allows you to analyze and interpret energy consumption data for the selected objects.

To adjust the size of the sections, you can click and drag the splitter control line to the left or right with a pointing device. This allows you to allocate more screen space to either the Instances and Components section or the Energy Consumption section, depending on your preference and the information you want to focus on.

Day:Today 🔻 💽 🕂 Add Widget

# 8.2. Energy Toolbar

🔏 111 🗵 +

The Energy toolbar in the Energy module of PQSCADA Sapphire provides several important functionalities for managing energy dashboards and querying data. Here's an overview of the features available in the Energy toolbar:

- **Create New Energy Dashboard** This button allows you to create a new energy dashboard. Energy dashboards are customizable views that display energy-related data, charts, and visualizations based on your specific requirements and preferences.
- **Resolution** The resolution option enables you to select the level of detail or granularity for the displayed energy data. You can choose from various resolution options such as hourly, daily, weekly, monthly, or custom intervals, depending on the available data and your analysis needs.
- **Start Query** Clicking the Start Query button initiates the data retrieval process based on the selected resolution and other filter settings. It retrieves the energy consumption data and updates the Energy Consumption section of the screen, accordingly, reflecting the latest available information.
- Add Widget The right side of the home page screen in the Energy module displays energy consumption Widgets, which provide summarized information and insights regarding energy consumption.

## 8.3. Add New Dashboard

To create a new energy dashboard in the Energy module, follow these steps:

1. Click on the "Add new dashboard" icon .



- 2. Fill in the required information and make the necessary selections:
  - Energy Name Enter a name for the energy dashboard to identify it.
  - **Resolution** Choose the desired resolution for the displayed energy data. Options typically include Day, Week, Month, Year, and Custom.
  - **Sub resolution -** Set a sub-resolution for the energy data, which depends on the selected resolution.
- 3. Click "Next" to proceed to the Feeders page.
- 4. Select the desired feeders for the dashboard.

If there are multiple feeders available, the selected feeders will be displayed in the Selected Feeder pane or section.

5. Click "Next" to proceed to the Add New Widget page.

vdd energy widget					
Add New Widget					
Trends Bars	Pie	Table	Billing		
Create bar chart showing:					
Parameter	Phase/Charge	Grouped by	Pivot by	Display	
Active Energy Consumption (in) Reactive Energy Consumption (in) Apparent Energy Active Energy Production (Out) Reactive Energy Production (Out) Cost					
Selected parameters					Clear All
				Back Finish	Cancel

6. Select the **type of widget** you want to add from the top bar. Common options include Trends, Bars, Pie, Table, and Billing.

The available parameters and how to display them will depend on the selected widget type.

7. Choose the specific **parameter** you want to display in the widget. If applicable, make additional selections or configurations for the chosen parameter.

The selected parameters and their display settings will be added to the Selected Parameters pane.

8. Once you have made all the necessary selections, click **"Finish**" to create the new energy dashboard.

In the Energy module, each widget within a dashboard has two icons at the top right corner, which allow you to perform specific actions on the selected widget:

**Chart settings -** This icon opens the chart settings menu, where you can customize various aspects of the widget's chart. Chart settings include:

- Add/Remove Parameter This icon allows you to add or remove parameters from the widget. Clicking on it opens a menu or dialog where you can select additional parameters to be included in the widget's chart or remove existing parameters.
- **Export the Chart to Excel** This option allows you to export the widget's chart data to an Excel file.
- **Copy the Chart to Clipboard -** This option enables you to copy the widget's chart image to the clipboard.

**Close** - Clicking on this icon will remove the widget from the dashboard, and it will no longer be displayed.

### 8.4. Resolution

The energy toolbar in the Energy module of PQSCADA Sapphire provides options for setting the display resolution and allows for easy comparison of energy data based on different time intervals. Here's an explanation of the available options for setting the display resolution and performing comparisons:

- **Day** Today, Yesterday, Compare to (Previous day, Same day last week, Same day last year, Same day of week last year).
- Week Last 7 days, This week, Last week, Compare to (Previous period, Four weeks ago).
- **Month** Last 30 days, This month, Last month, Compare to (Previous period, Four weeks ago, Previous year, 52 weeks ago).
- Year Last 12 months, This year, Last year, Compare to (Previous period).
- **Custom** Time range, Compare to (Previous period, Last year).

### 8.5. Start Query

To initiate a query and retrieve energy data based on your selected parameters, you can click on the "Start query" icon in the energy toolbar. This action will trigger the system to fetch the relevant energy consumption information according to the specified resolution and any other criteria you have set.

Note: whenever you change the resolution, the system will automatically initiate a new query to retrieve the energy data based on the updated resolution.

## 8.6. Widgets

The right side of the home page screen in the Energy module displays energy consumption Widgets, which provide summarized information and insights regarding energy consumption.

### 8.6.1. Add new Widget

Add widget - Widgets can be added to a selected dashboard by clicking +Add Widget on the Energy module toolbar. Multiple widgets can be added and displayed.



### 8.6.2. Consumption Chart and Data

The **left widget** in the Energy module displays a numeric and graphical presentation of the consumed energy parameters, including Consumption, Peak Demand, Power Factor, and Cost. The widget provides both a numerical value and a graphical representation of these parameters.

The chart within the widget can be customized to display data according to any one of the selected energy parameters: Consumption, Peak Demand, Power Factor, or Cost. Depending on the selected energy parameter, the chart can be further refined by choosing from the dropdown list of values:

- **Per measurement point** The chart will show the selected parameter based on individual measurement points.
- Per tariff The chart will display the selected parameter based on different tariff rates.
- **Per shift** The chart will present the selected parameter based on different shifts or time periods.
- **Per charge** The chart will showcase the selected parameter based on different charging periods or billing cycles.

The **numeric values** displayed in the widget represent the overall consumption for the selected parameter. These values provide a summarized view of the total energy consumed.

The **chart bars** in the widget represent the selected parameter, while the trending curve represents either the Demand (when selecting Consumption or Cost) or the Consumption (when selecting Peak Demand). This visual representation helps identify consumption patterns and trends over time.

By **hovering the pointing device** (mouse) over the chart bars or trend line, users can view the corresponding values per point, providing more detailed information on energy consumption at specific intervals.

### 8.6.3. Consumption by Time of Day

The **center widget** in the Energy module displays the consumption data based on time and day. It presents a grid-like structure with seven columns representing the days of the week (Sunday to Saturday) and 24 rows representing each hour of the day.

The values within the grid represent the consumption for a specific day and hour. By hovering the pointing device (mouse) over any value in the grid, users can view the numeric value corresponding to the specific day and hour. If the selected period includes multiple time windows, the displayed value will be a summary of all the windows.

The color of the grid cells corresponds to the magnitude of the consumption value. Higher values are represented by darker colors, allowing users to quickly identify periods of higher energy consumption.

The dropdown list within the widget provides the option to switch between different parameters for the presentation of consumption by the time of day. The available options in the dropdown list are:

- **Consumption** Selecting this option will display the energy consumption values for each day and hour. It provides insights into the patterns of energy usage throughout the day and across different days of the week.
- **Cost** Choosing this option will show the cost associated with energy consumption for each day and hour. This allows users to analyze the cost implications of energy usage patterns at different times and days.

### 8.6.4. Real Time Consumption

The **right-side widget** in the Energy module presents real-time consumption data with numeric values for various parameters: Total, Current, Demand, and Peak Demand. These values provide insights into the current energy consumption status.

The widget also includes a chart that visualizes the real-time consumption data. The chart can be customized based on the selected value from the dropdown list. The available options in the dropdown list are:

- Active energy In This option displays the real-time values of active energy being consumed.
- Active energy Out Selecting this option shows the real-time value of active energy being exported or generated.
- **Reactive energy In** This option presents the real-time values of reactive energy being consumed.
- **Reactive energy Out** Choosing this option displays the real-time values of reactive energy being exported or generated.
- **Apparent energy** This option visualizes the real-time values of apparent energy, which represents the total magnitude of power being consumed.

The real-time chart bars are displayed at 15-minute intervals, allowing users to monitor energy consumption patterns and fluctuations in near real-time.

### 8.6.5. Consumption and Cost

The bottom widget in the Energy module provides information on energy consumption and cost based on the selected value from the dropdown list. There are two options available in the dropdown list:

- **TOU (Time of Use)** Selecting this option displays the energy consumption and cost chart based on time-of-use rates. The vertical axis of the chart represents the rates per time of use, while the horizontal axis represents the consumption vs. cost. Hovering the mouse over the chart allows users to view the specific values associated with each point on the chart.
- **Shifts** Choosing this option presents the energy consumption and cost chart based on shifts. The vertical axis of the chart represents the shifts, which are predefined time periods

within a day, such as morning, afternoon, and evening. The horizontal axis represents the consumption vs. cost. Like the TOU chart, users can hover over the chart to view the corresponding values.

# 9. Overview Module

The Overview module in PQSCADA Sapphire provides multiple visualization options to display measuring points and their real-time data:

- **Geographical Map** The Geographical Map view presents all measuring points on a live map. Each point is represented by an icon, allowing you to visualize their locations. The map provides real-time data and general statuses for the measuring points, giving you an overview of their current conditions.
- Line Diagram The Line Diagram view displays a graphical representation of the system using lines and symbols to represent measuring points and their connections. It allows you to visualize the topology and interconnections between different components or instances in your system.
- **Table View** Table View presents a tabular representation of all instances and components in a structured format. It provides a comprehensive overview of the measuring points, their properties, and real-time data. You can customize the displayed columns and sort or filter the data based on your requirements.

These different views in the Overview module offer flexibility in visualizing and analyzing the data from measuring points. You can choose the most suitable view based on your needs and preferences, whether it's a geographical map for spatial representation, a line diagram for network topology, or a table view for detailed information and data analysis.



Figure 0-1. Overview screen

In the Overview module of PQSCADA Sapphire, the screen is divided into two main sections:

- Left Section The left section displays the connected Instances and their hosted components in different visualization modes, such as a live geographical map, a table view, or a line diagram. You can switch between these modes based on your preference or the type of information you want to visualize.
- **Right Section** The right section of the Overview module displays <u>Widgets</u> (see section 0). These Widgets provide additional functionalities and information related to the selected Instances or components. The specific Widgets available may vary based on the configuration and customization of your PQSCADA Sapphire system. The Widgets can offer

real-time data, analytics, alarms, or other relevant information for monitoring and managing the system effectively.

## 9.1. Overview Toolbar

In the Overview module toolbar of PQSCADA Sapphire, you will find the following symbols for performing various actions:

Search	<b>Search</b> – allows you to search for a specific component or measuring point on the map.
	<b>Split view</b> – enables you to split the screen view into different sections. You can choose to split the view vertically, horizontally, or into four equal areas.
	<b>Toggle Map/List view/Line diagram</b> – allows you to switch between different views for displaying the Instances and components. You can toggle between the map view, a list view in table format, or view electrical line diagrams of specific instances.
12	<b>Pop-up</b> – opens a separate floating window with the selected view.
×	<b>Close map</b> – applicable when you are in a split view mode. It allows you to close a specific view or map when you no longer need it.

### 9.2. Map Components

In the map components display of PQSCADA Sapphire's Overview module, you will find the following elements (see following Figure 0-2):

- **Physical Location** The map components are visually represented on the map based on their actual physical locations. Each component is displayed at its corresponding geographical position.
- **Window icons** The window icons provide additional functionality for the selected measurement. There are 3 types of window icons:
- **Chart Icon** allows you to view a chart or graph of a selected measurement. For example, you can click on the chart icon to see the frequency or power data in graphical form.
- Add/Remove Parameters enables you to add or remove specific parameters from the displayed measurements.
- **Hide Measurements Window** allows you to hide the measurements window associated with a component.

**Power Quality Status -** appears as a green icon and reflects whether the electrical conditions of the component follow the preconfigured grid code. A green status indicates that the power quality conditions meet the required standards.

System Status - appears as a green icon and represents the operational status of the measuring device associated with the component. A green status indicates that the device is in normal operating condition.

Device Website Link - If applicable, a link is provided to open the device's website. This link allows you to access additional information or details related to the selected component or measuring device.



Figure 0-2. Map Component

### 9.2.1. Adding/Removing a Component to the Map

To add or remove components from the map in PQSCADA Sapphire's Overview module, you can follow the steps below:

#### To add a component to the map

- 1. Click on **"Configure map"** located on the left edge of the map section. This will open the **Components pane**.
- 2. In the Components pane, locate the desired component that you want to add to the map.
- 3. **Right-click** on the component and **drag** it to the desired location on the map, indicating its physical position.
- 4. Once you have placed the component at the desired location, click on **"Save changes"** on the map view to apply the configuration.
- 5. If you decide to disregard the changes made and not save them, you can switch to a different view and click on **"Don't save"** on the Save Configuration pop-up.

#### To remove a component from the map

- 1. **Right-click** on the component that you want to remove from the map.
- 2. From the context menu that appears, select "Remove component from the map".
- 3. This will remove the selected component from the map display.

Note: the ability to add or remove components from the map requires writing permissions. Ensure that you have the necessary permissions to perform these actions.

### 9.2.2. Adding/Removing Parameter to a Component

#### To add a real-time parameter to a component

 Click on the **Parameters** icon located on the top right corner of the map component. Alternatively, you can right-click on a component in the components tree and select "Add/remove parameters". This will open the Add parameters configuration window.

Add Parameters		
Logical Channel Additional		
Parameter	Phase	Based On
Search		
Active Power - Fundamental Active Power - Harmonics Aggregation Active Power - Per Harmonic Apparent Power - Fundamental Apparent Power - Harmonic Apparent Power - Per Harmonic Crest Factor		
Selected Parameters		Clear All
Active Power, Phase Total, Cycle, Sample Frequency, Phase Frequency, 10 Seconds, San Reactive Power, Phase Total, Cycle, Sample Power Factor, Phase Total, Cycle, Sample	mple	x x x
		Apply Cancel

- 2. In the Add parameters configuration window, you will see a Parameter list containing available parameters that can be displayed for the selected component.
- 3. Select the desired parameter from the Parameter list by checking the corresponding checkbox next to it.

 Once you have selected the parameter(s) you want to add, click on "Apply" to apply the changes. The selected parameter(s) will now be displayed in real-time for the component on the map.

#### To remove a real-time parameter from a component

- 1. Click on the **Parameters** icon on the top right corner of the map component, or right-click on a component in the components tree to open the Add/remove parameters configuration window.
- 2. In the Add/remove parameters configuration window, you will see a list of currently displayed parameters for the selected component.
- 3. To remove a specific parameter, click on the **Delete** icon next to that parameter.
- 4. If you want to remove all parameters at once, you can click on "Clear All".
- 5. After removing the desired parameter(s), click on **"Apply"** to apply the changes. The selected parameter(s) will no longer be displayed for the component on the map.

Note: The availability of parameters for display may vary depending on the component type and configuration.

## 9.3. Line Diagram

Line diagrams of an instance can be added in various formats (DWG, DXF, JPEG, PNG). For adding Line diagrams, see section 5.8.5.



### 9.3.1. Line Diagram parameters

#### To add a parameter on the line diagram:

- 1. Switch to the Line diagram view in the left section of the Overview module.
- 2. Right-click on the object in the line diagram where you want to display the parameter.
- 3. From the context menu that appears, select **"Add/Remove Parameters"** This will open the Add/Remove Parameters configuration window.

- 4. In the configuration window, you will see a list of available PQ server components. Select the component you want to display its parameters list.
- 5. Then, you will see a list of available parameters. Select the parameter you want to display on the line diagram by checking the corresponding checkbox.
- 6. Click "Save changes" to confirm the selection and add the parameter to the line diagram.
- 7. The parameter will now be displayed on the line diagram for the selected object or component.

Parameter format - Feeder name, parameter name, based on, Phase, RT value.

Example: Feeder 1, RMS, Half cycle, I1: 2.5A

#### Note: the above scenario is correct for line diagram from formats as DWG, DXF

#### Parameter configurations:

After adding a parameter, you can perform additional actions by **right-clicking** on the parameter itself. The available options include:

- **Parameter's location** You can click and drag the parameter to a different position on the line diagram.
- **Showing/hiding connecting line** You can choose to display or hide the line that connects the parameter to the object or component.
- Select font size You can adjust the font size of the displayed parameter for better visibility.
  - **Font size –** select the desired font size, The default font size can be set via client overview settings.
  - **Apply to all parameters blocks in the specific diagram –** allow you to apply the font size change to all parameter blocks within the specific line diagram.
  - Set as default for all diagrams make it the default font size for all diagrams.
- Select name You can customize the parameter name.
  - **Display name** select the desired parameter name.
  - Set default if checked, the default parameter name will be displayed.
- **Changing the parameter's font color** You can adjust the font color of the displayed parameter for better visibility, The default font color can be set via client overview settings.
  - **Connected –** color of the parameter when the component status is connected.
  - Error color of the parameter when the component status is disconnected.
  - Event color of the parameter when the parameter is under defined threshold.
  - **Apply to all parameters blocks in a specific line diagram -** allow you to apply the colors to all parameter blocks within the specific line diagram.
  - Set as default for all line diagrams make it the default colors for all diagrams.
- Set event threshold allows you to define a specific threshold value for a parameter and configure the system to trigger an event when the parameter value exceeds or falls below that threshold.

### 9.3.2. Line Diagram tool bar

Line diagram includes a toolbar that provides users with various tools and options to control and manipulate the diagram. Here are some common tools that you can find:

**Zoom fit** - Clicking this button or icon automatically adjusts the zoom level to fit the entire line diagram within the view, ensuring it is fully visible.

**Pan** - This tool enables you to move or pan the diagram within the view, allowing you to explore different parts of the diagram.

**Zoom** - These buttons or icons allow you to zoom in or out of the line diagram.

**Zoom window** – allows you to draw a rectangular area on the line diagram, and upon release, the view automatically zooms in to display only the selected area in more detail.

**Magnifying glass** - provides a magnified view of a specific portion of the line diagram when you hover the cursor over that area.

### 9.3.3. Widgets

The Power Quality widget, Fault Recorder widget, and System widget in the Current Issues section of PQSCADA Sapphire provide valuable information about the status of the electrical network. Here's an explanation of each widget:

- **Power Quality** Displays a list of measurement points that are in violation of the preconfigured grid code. It alerts you to any power quality issues detected in the system. The widget provides information about the specific measurement points that are experiencing violations. It includes details such as component name, feeder, violated compliance, and its start time. The widget also offers convenient links to the map or the Power Quality module for quick access to additional information and analysis.
- Fault Recorder Displays a list of short, predefined events that have occurred during the specified period (last hour, day, week, or month). These events typically represent electrical faults or disturbances in the system. The widget provides information about events, such as the type of fault or disturbance and the time it occurred. It also includes links to the map or investigation for quick access to more detailed information. Clicking on a specific event in the list will open the associated investigation according to the event template, allowing for further analysis and troubleshooting. Investigation for a specific event in the list will be opened according to the event template.

To customize the preferences of the Fault Recorder widget, you can click on the **Preferences tool** icon (represented by a gear or settings icon) within the widget. This will allow you to adjust settings such as the period for displaying events and any specific criteria for event filtering.

• **System –** Displays a list of system messages and warnings related to the operating conditions of the electrical network. These messages may include notifications about system performance, equipment status, or any other relevant information. The widget provides a quick overview of the current system status and alerts you to any potential issues that require further investigation. It may also provide links to the system module for in-depth analysis and troubleshooting.

# 10. Setup

The Setup icon a in the upper right corner of the PQSCADA Sapphire application provides access to the setup menu, where various configuration options and settings can be accessed. Clicking on the Setup icon opens the setup menu, allowing users to customize and manage different aspects of the application according to their preferences and requirements.



**Note:** When there is an update available for the PQSCADA Sapphire application, the Setup icon will be displayed with an orange color to indicate that an update is ready to be installed. (see section 0 for details).

# 10.1. Users/Groups

The Setup **Users/Groups** screen in the PQSCADA Sapphire application provides a user interface divided into two main sections. The left section displays the Server object and Users/Groups objects, allowing users to manage and configure user and group settings. The right section displays the properties of each selected object, providing options to modify and customize their properties.

In the Enterprise edition of PQSCADA Sapphire, the application operates in security mode. This means that users connecting to the PQS Enterprise server need to provide valid credentials, including a Username and Password, to access the system. The security scheme implemented in PQSCADA includes user and group definitions to manage access and permissions.

### **10.1.1. Authentication Providers**

PQSCADA Sapphire supports three types of authentication providers for users and groups:

### PQSCADA Sapphire authentication

With this authentication provider, users and groups are created and managed internally within the PQSCADA Sapphire application itself. User accounts and group memberships are maintained within the application's database. This authentication method is primarily used for managing users and groups specific to PQSCADA Sapphire and is not directly tied to any external authentication systems.

In a hierarchical structure of primary and secondary servers, authentication between the instances is based on PQSCADA Sapphire authentication. This means that user authentication and authorization are handled within the PQSCADA Sapphire application across the server instances.

#### Local machine authentication

allows users and groups to be created and managed at the operating system level. These user accounts and groups are recognized by PQSCADA Sapphire and can be assigned permissions and roles within the application.

With local machine authentication, users and groups are typically managed by the underlying operating system. Users authenticate using their operating system credentials, and their permissions and access rights within PQSCADA Sapphire are controlled based on the assigned roles and permissions.

#### Active directory configurations

To create users and groups based on an organization's existing user directory, the Setup Active Directory Integration button is available. This functionality enables integration with the organization's active directory, which is typically managed by the IT manager and contains user information for the organization.

Upon clicking the "Setup Active Directory Integration" button, you will be prompted to provide the necessary credentials to establish the connection to the active directory. The required information includes:

- Domain: The domain name of the active directory, in this case, "elspec.local".
- Username: Your username for authentication.
- **Password**: Your password for authentication.
- **Base DN Users**: The base distinguished name for the users in the active directory, specifying the organizational unit (OU) structure. In this example, the base DN for users is "OU=SBSUsers, OU=Users, OU=MyBusiness, DC=Elspec, DC=local".
- **Base DN Groups**: The base distinguished name for the groups in the active directory, following the OU structure. In this example, the base DN for groups is "OU=Security Groups, OU=MyBusiness, DC=Elspec, DC=local".

Setup active directory integration	Remove active directory integration
Domain:	
User name:	
Password:	
Confirm password:	
Base DN for users:	
Base DN for groups:	
Use LDAP Encription chann	el

After configuring the active directory integration, the PQSCADA client will display modules based on the user permissions defined in the active directory. The PQSCADA server will then validate user requests against these permissions to ensure proper access and functionality within the system.

To configure Active Directory authentication in PQSCADA Sapphire, you need to set up the domain name and provide a valid username and password for binding to Active Directory. This configuration is performed on the server object within the application.

- users and groups are created and managed externally by an administrator on the Domain level, recognized by PQSCADA Sapphire, and can be assigned with permissions and roles.
- To utilize Active Directory authentication, the domain name needs to be configured with a valid username and password, which will be used for binding to Active Directory. This configuration is done on the server object.
## **10.1.2. Creating Users**

To add a user in PQSCADA Sapphire, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the "Actions" menu and select "Add user" from the options.
- 2. Choose the appropriate <u>Authentication Providers</u> from the available options (PQSCADA Sapphire authentication, Local machine authentication, or Active Directory authentication) and click **"Next"**.
- 3. If you selected **PQSCADA Sapphire authentication**, choose the user type (**Admin/Non-Admin/Device Notification**) and click "Next".
- 4. Enter a **Username** and **Password** for the user. Confirm the password, provide an email address, and select a Priority from the dropdown list. Click **"Next".**
- Optionally, you can add the user to one or more groups by selecting the group(s) from the "Available groups" list and clicking the arrow to add them to the "Member of" field. This step is not mandatory.
- 6. Click "Finish" to complete the user creation process.

For **Device Notification** users, they are specifically used to allow push files from G5 devices into the existing components. These users enable G5 devices to send files to PQSCADA Sapphire. When creating a Device Notification user, select the appropriate User type and configure the necessary details.

If you choose **Local machine authentication** or **Active Directory authentication** as the authentication provider, you need to select a user from the drop-down menu, provide a valid email address, select the User type (Admin/Non-Admin), and optionally add the user to groups. Click "Finish" to complete the process. In these cases, the username and password are configured either on the operating system level or the domain level, depending on the selected authentication provider.

It's important to note that the password for users must meet certain requirements:

- The password length must be at least eight (8) characters.
- The password must contain at least 3 of the following 4 categories:
- Lowercase Roman letters (a, b, c, ..., x, y, z).
- Uppercase Roman letters (A, B, C, ..., X, Y, Z).
- At least one special character (!@#\$%^&\*()\_-+).
- Digits (0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9).
- The password must not contain the user's name.
- The password must not contain a sequence of digits, letters, or characters on the keyboard.

#### Note: Admin user should be separated from regular users with a distinct sign 🥕

## 10.1.3. Creating Groups

To add a group in PQSCADA Sapphire, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the "Actions" menu and select "Add group" from the options.
- Choose the appropriate <u>Authentication Providers</u> from the available options (PQSCADA Sapphire authentication, Local machine authentication, or Active Directory authentication) and click "Next".
- 3. If you selected PQSCADA Sapphire authentication, select the group type (Admin/Non-Admin) and click "Next".
- 4. Enter the Group name and click "Next".

- 5. Optionally, you can add users to the group by selecting the user(s) from the **"Available users"** list and clicking the arrow to add them to the **"Members"** field. This step is not mandatory.
- 6. Click "Finish" to complete the group creation process.

If you choose **Local machine authentication** or **Active Directory authentication** as the authentication provider, you need to select a group from the drop-down menu, choose the group type (Admin/Non-Admin), and click "Close". In these cases, the name of the group and the member users are configured either on the operating system level or the domain level, depending on the selected authentication provider.

Note: Admin Group should be separated from regular groups with a distinct sign 🧖

## 10.1.4. General tab

In the "General" tab of the Users/Groups configuration in PQSCADA Sapphire, the admin user can configure various settings related to users and groups. Here are the configurations that can be set in this tab:

- User Email The admin user can specify the email address associated with a user.
- Username The admin user can set or modify the name of a user.
- User Group Relationship In this section, the admin user can manage the relationship between users and user groups. This includes adding users to specific user groups or removing them from groups as needed. User groups provide a way to organize users with similar roles or permissions.
- **Priority** The priority of groups/users in PQSCADA Sapphire becomes relevant when there are limitations on **concurrent users** specified in the **enterprise** license. Here's how the priority works in such scenarios:
- **Example:** Suppose the enterprise license allows a maximum of five concurrent users to connect to the server at any given time. When a user with a higher priority than any of the currently connected users attempts to connect to the server, their priority level is considered. If all five concurrent user slots are already occupied, the **user with the lowest priority will be disconnected** from the server to make room for the new user.
- However, if the new user has the lowest priority among the connected users, they will not be able to connect to the server since their priority does not meet the criteria for allowing a connection.
- **Reset Password -** admin users can **reset the passwords** of PQSCADA users. This can be useful in situations where a user forgets their password or needs to change it for security reasons. By resetting the password, the admin user can ensure that the user can regain access to the system.

## 10.1.5. Assigning Permissions to Groups and Users

**Permissions** are primarily applicable to **non-admin users and groups**. Admin users and groups have unrestricted access and are not limited by permissions.

PQSCADA Sapphire's security module offers a comprehensive set of features for creating a highly granular access policy. This policy is configured on the Permissions tab after adding a new user or group, specifically for non-admin users and groups.

When setting permissions, you can define specific access rights and restrictions for non-admin users and groups. This allows you to control and restrict their access to certain modules, functionalities, data, or actions within the PQSCADA Sapphire application.

It is important to carefully assign the admin status to users and groups and ensure that only trusted and authorized individuals or entities are granted admin privileges to maintain the overall security and integrity of the system.

Value	Permission
Germany	Read
Value	Permission
Germany - AND	
230 - AND	Read/Write -
North	
Value	Permission
Germany - AND	
South - AND	Deny -
400 -	
	Value Germany • Value Germany • AND 230 • AND 230 • AND North • Value Germany • AND South • AND South • AND

## 10.1.5.1. Rules

The access policy and permissions are applied only when **tags exist** for the components. This means that the rules and conditions set for groups or users are effective and enforced based on the presence of defined tags on the server.

Rules	E	ceptions	Server actions	
+ 🗇	0	Manage ru	lles No tags defined on the server	

## <u>Rules</u>

For each group or user object, you can create one or multiple rules to define their access permissions. The logical operator between multiple rules is **'OR'**, meaning that if any of the rules match, the corresponding permissions will be applied.

## **Conditions**

Within each rule, you can create one or multiple conditions. The logical operator between multiple conditions is **'AND'**, indicating that all conditions must be met for the permissions to be applied.

Conditions are tag-oriented, which means they are based on specific tag-value combinations. You can assign 'Read', 'Read/Write', or 'Deny' permissions for each combination.

- 'Read' permission allows the user or group to view data in the component's tabs.
- **'Read/Write' permission** allows them to edit editable fields in the component's tabs, such as component names.
- **'Deny' permission** means the user or group cannot see or access the specific component in the components tree at all.

The permissions are based on the association of tags with components. If a component has the specified tag-value combinations, the corresponding permissions will be applied.

**For example**, let's consider a user named "David." David has 'Read' permissions on all components associated with the "Country" tag with the value "Germany." Additionally, for components associated with the "voltage" tag with the value "230" and the "location" tag with the value "North," David has 'Read/Write' permissions. However, for components associated with the "voltage" tag with the value "400" and the "location" tag with the value "South," David has 'Deny' permission, which means he cannot access any data stored in those components.

Please note that the permissions are only applicable when tags are defined for the components. If there are no defined tags on the server, there is no option to set rules or conditions based on tag-value combinations.

## 10.1.5.2. Exceptions

Exceptions provide a component-oriented approach to permissions. They allow for direct assignment of 'Read', 'Read/Write', or 'Deny' permissions to specific components on the system. Exceptions take precedence over rules, allowing for further fine-tuning of permissions.

Let's consider the example of the user "David" from the previous example. Suppose David has been assigned 'Read' permissions for all components associated with the "Country" tag Germany, as well as 'Read/Write' permissions for components associated with the "voltage" tag 230 and the "location" tag North. However, by default, David would have been denied access to components associated with the "voltage" tag 400 and the "location" tag South based on the rules and conditions set.

In this case, if there is a specific component named "Munich-400V-3" that is associated with the "voltage" tag 400 and the "location" tag South, but David needs access to this component, an exception can be created. The exception would grant David 'Read' permission specifically for the "Munich-400V-3" component.

By creating this exception, David will be able to gain access to the "Munich-400V-3" component despite the rule that would have initially denied him access. Exceptions allow for overriding the default permissions set by rules and provide a way to grant specific access to individual components as needed.

Rules Exception	Server Actions		
+ 🗑 📀			
Component		Permission	
Munich-400V-3		Read -	*

## 10.1.5.3. Server Actions

**Non-administrative** users can be **delegated** certain permissions and actions that are typically associated with administrative privileges. Here are some examples of the actions that can be delegated to non-administrative users:

• **Query period limit** - This permission allows administrators to set a specific period limit for non-administrative users when performing queries. By setting a query period limit,

administrators can restrict the amount of historical data that non-administrative users can retrieve or analyze.

- **Create components -** non-administrative users can be granted permission to create new components within the system. This allows them to add new devices, measurement points, or other entities to the system as per their role and responsibilities.
- Add/Remove tasks By enabling or disabling this permission, administrators can control whether non-administrative users are allowed to add or remove tasks within the system. Tasks can include various automated processes, data analysis routines, or other scheduled actions.
- **Reset password** When the "Reset password" permission is granted to a non-administrative user, they can change the passwords of other users within the system. This can be useful in scenarios where user passwords need to be reset or managed by designated users without granting them full administrative access.

## **10.2. Client Settings**

In the setup Client Settings screen, the layout is divided into two sections, separated by a vertical splitter control line. Here's an overview of each section:

- Left Section Client Settings Groups: The left section displays the Client Settings groups. These groups are used to organize and categorize different client settings configurations. Each group represents a specific set of settings that can be applied to the client application.
- **Right Section** Properties of Client Settings Groups: The right section displays the properties of the selected Client Settings group. When you select a group from the left section, its corresponding properties will be displayed in the right section. These properties include various settings and configurations related to the selected group.

You can adjust the width of each section by clicking and dragging the splitter control line to the left or right using a pointing device. This allows you to customize the view and allocate more space to either section based on your preferences or the amount of information you need to see.

Note: After making modifications to the client settings, it is necessary to restart the application for the changes to take effect. This ensures that the updated settings are applied and reflected in the functioning of the PQSCADA Sapphire application.

## 10.2.1. Localization Settings

In the setup Client Settings screen, there are several configuration options available for customizing the display and precision settings. Here's an explanation of each setting:

## Day and Time Display Format

- **Auto culture** This option uses the Windows configurations for the date and time format (default).
- **Custom culture** Selecting this option allows you to choose a specific culture from the dropdown menu, which sets the date and time format according to the selected country.
- **Manual** With this option, you can manually customize the date and time format according to your preferences.

## UTC Offset

- **Time zone** This option uses your local computer's time zone as the client's time zone (default).
- **Custom time zone -** You can select a specific time zone from the drop-down menu to set the client's time zone according to a particular country.
- Manual With this option, you can manually set the UTC offset for the client's time zone.

## <u>Calendar</u>

Select the first day of the week. Choosing "Auto" will use the Windows configuration for the first day of the week.

## Language

Select the language of the client. Choosing "Auto" will use the Windows configuration for the language. If the selected language is not supported by PQSCADA Sapphire, the default language will be English.

## Precision Settings

• **Decimal places for number -** Choose the number of figures to display after the decimal point for absolute numbers.

• **Decimal places for percentage -** Choose the number of figures to display after the decimal point for percentage numbers.

Note: After making modifications to the client settings, it is necessary to restart the application for the changes to take effect. This ensures that the updated settings are applied and reflected in the functioning of the PQSCADA Sapphire application.

## 10.2.2. Proxy Settings

In the setup Client Settings screen, there are options available for configuring proxy settings if your organization uses a proxy server. Proxy servers act as intermediaries between users' computers and the Internet, providing control over internet access, bandwidth optimization, and enhanced security. Here's an explanation of the proxy configuration options:

## <u>No Proxy</u>

Selecting this option means that PQSCADA Sapphire will connect directly to the internet without going through a proxy server. No additional configuration is required.

### Use system proxy settings

With this option, PQSCADA Sapphire will use the same proxy settings as configured in Windows' Internet Options. These settings can be found in the Connections tab and LAN Settings. No manual configuration is required in PQSCADA Sapphire.

## Manual proxy configuration

Choose this option if you need to specify a different proxy server for PQSCADA Sapphire compared to the operating system. In this case, you will need to provide the Proxy server hostname and port. Additional configuration is required for this option.

The **"No Proxy for"** field allows you to specify hostnames and IP addresses that should not be accessed through the proxy server.

If the **"Bypass proxy server for local addresses"** checkbox is marked, connections to other hosts on your local network will not be proxied.

### **Network Credentials**

Depending on the proxy server configuration and authentication requirements, you have two authentication methods available:

- Windows Authentication If your organization uses Windows logon credentials for proxy authentication, PQSCADA Sapphire can use your Windows logon credentials for authentication. This method is commonly used in domain environments.
- **Manual** This option allows you to manually enter a valid username and password for proxy authentication. You can also choose to save the credentials by marking the "Save credentials" checkbox.

## **10.2.3. Investigation Settings**

In the setup Client Settings screen, there are various settings available for performing investigations in PQSCADA Sapphire. Here's an explanation of these settings:

### Default charts display mode

- **Normalized** Voltage and current values will be normalized to their nominal values, and power will be calculated as the product of voltage and current nominals.
- **Regular** Displays absolute data without normalization.

#### Default charts curve mode

- **Enable** Creates a continuous curve from the chart point values.
- Disable Displays the points as discrete values on the chart.

## Default number of ranges

Controls the number of displayed bars in a statistics chart.

### Default trend charts horizontal crosshair mode

Selects the type of crosshair to display on trend charts.

### Default power factor display mode

- **Load** If the readings are conducted on a load.
- **Source** If the readings are conducted on a generator.

### Default charts angle mode

Selects how angles will be displayed in a pie chart.

### Default calculation base mode

- Auto PQSCADA Sapphire automatically selects the base resolution based on the selected parameter and investigation duration. In long investigation periods a small resolution will give more than 1 million testing points. For min/max values, the highest available resolution in the database is used.
- **Manual** User selects the base resolution on the parameter selection page of the add new chart wizard.

### Default energy chart layout

Selects the chart type to display for energy charts.

#### Default flagged data mode

Determines whether flagged events are included or excluded in statistics and spectrum charts.

### Chart export settings

Specifies the size in pixels of the exported image of a chart.

#### View export settings

Specifies the size in pixels of the viewed image of a chart.

#### Default charts background color

Selects the color of the chart background.

#### Event approach

Determines whether events should be displayed as polyphase or by channel in grid charts.

## Unit settings

Marks the checkbox to scale units in Excel exports.

### IEEE1366 chart

When checked, the IEEE1366 chart is added to the chart list when creating an investigation. This chart is related to interruption-type events.

## Grid percentile settings

Enables setting percentile value and base interval for grid charts.

### Phase color definitions

Allows selecting the displayed color for each phase, frequency channel, auxiliary channels, and total parameters.

In the Advanced tab, you can define colors per parameter, phase, and quantity, allowing further customization of the visualization.

Note: After making modifications to the client settings, it is necessary to restart the application for the changes to take effect. This ensures that the updated settings are applied and reflected in the functioning of the PQSCADA Sapphire application.

## 10.2.4. PQ Settings

In the PQ Settings, there are two parameters that can be marked to control the generation of PDF reports in the Power Quality module:

### Synchronized power quality requests to compliance evaluation window

When marked, the power quality requests will be synchronized with the compliance evaluation window. This parameter affects the behavior of the Power Quality module.

### Run single report for each window

When marked, a single report file will be generated for each window in the Power Quality module. The number of exported reports is determined by this parameter.

Based on how these parameters are marked, the generation of PDF reports will follow the following scenarios:

#### Scenario 1

Run single report for each window is marked.

Power Quality module has only one period (no sliding window).

Result: A single report file will be generated for the entire period.

### Scenario 2

Synchronized power quality requests to compliance evaluation window is marked.

Run single report for each window is not marked.

Power Quality module has multiple periods (sliding window).

**Result:** A single PDF report file will be generated, which will include separate reports for each period.

### Scenario 3

Synchronized power quality requests to compliance evaluation window is marked.

Run single report for each window is marked.

Power Quality module has multiple periods (sliding window).

**Result:** Separate PDF report files will be generated, one for each period. Each report will correspond to a specific period, such as every 7 days with a 24-hour sliding window.

## **10.2.5. System Module Settings**

In the PQ Settings, there are additional options and settings available:

#### Data availability period

This value is related to the available data in the System module under the component tab. It serves as a reference for the 100% data availability calculation. The data availability is refreshed every 60 minutes by default.

The updating period can be modified in the PQSClient.wrs configuration file using the </AvailabilityTimePeriod> parameter (the value is in minutes).

### Tree settings

When the checkbox is marked, the local server will not be presented in the tree settings by default.

### Data acquisition

Under the data acquisition and processing tab, you can change the IP address of the units simultaneously.

When the checkbox is unmarked, you have the flexibility to choose multiple components in the System module.

When the checkbox is marked, you are restricted from changing the IP address of the components.

## 10.2.6. Overview Settings

In the PQSCADA Sapphire application, there are additional customization options available for line diagrams in the Overview module:

### **Disable Popup of the component on notification**

By default, when components on the map are in a minimized mode and a notification arrives, they pop out again to ensure their visibility to the user.

However, there might be cases where you prefer the components to remain minimized and not pop up when notifications are received.

By checking the "Disable Popup" option, you can prevent components from popping out of their minimized mode when notifications occur.

### **Electrical diagram defaults**

Once you upload an electrical drawing (line diagram), you can add parameters to the drawing and customize their appearance.

You can set the color and font size of the parameters to enhance visibility and highlight specific information on the diagram.

This customization feature allows you to optimize the presentation of data and make it more visually informative.

## 10.2.7. Security Settings

In the PQSCADA Sapphire application, there is a feature that allows you to view and manage approved certificates from your local PQSCADA server to other PQSCADA servers. Here are some key points about this feature:

### **Approved Certificates**

The list displays the certificates that have been approved for use between your local PQSCADA server and other PQSCADA servers.

These certificates enable secure and authenticated communication between the servers.

### Cleaning the List

If you choose to clean the list of approved certificates, it does not directly affect the other servers you are currently connected to.

However, when you reconnect to those servers, you will need to obtain a new certificate for the renewed connection.

### **Default Authentication Mode**

The default authentication mode determines the authentication method that will be used by default when connecting to a new PQSCADA server.

This mode simplifies the connection process by automatically selecting the preferred authentication method for new server connections.

## **10.3. About Application**

Click the **Setup** icon and select **About Application** to see the installed application's version and update.

## 10.4. Install/Upgrade License

Click the **Setup** icon and select **Install/Upgrade license** to upgrade the license of the installed application. For more details, see section 4.4 above.

## 10.5. Download New Update

An update to the PQSCADA Sapphire application is available when the Setup icon is orange.

- 1. Click on the Setup icon and select the "Download new update" line.
  - A brief description of the available update's release notes will be displayed, along with a shortcut to access the full release notes.
- 2. Click the "Download & install" button to initiate the update download.
  - The download process will begin, and a window titled "Update installation" will appear.
- 3. Verify that the Client installation path displayed in the "Update installation" window is correct.
  - Ensure that the installation path points to the correct location where the PQSCADA Sapphire application is installed.
- 4. Click the "Update" button to proceed with the update installation.
  - The client will be closed, and the update process will begin.
- 5. Wait for the update to complete.
  - The application will be updated with the latest version.
- 6. Click the "Close" button on the "Update installation" window once the update is finished.
- 7. Restart the PQSCADA Sapphire application.
  - Close the application and then reopen it to start using the updated version.

# **11. Scheduler**

The Scheduler module in PQSCADA Sapphire provides users with extensive functionality for managing and monitoring tasks in real-time. This module allows users to oversee tasks that are currently running, scheduled to run, or have already been executed. Users can add, modify, delete, stop, and resume tasks, giving them complete control over task management.

Tasks in PQSCADA Sapphire are add-ons that run as individual processes. There are three task types supported by PQSCADA Sapphire:

- **Control and Maintenance:** This task type focuses on managing and controlling various aspects of the system, such as configuring system settings, performing maintenance operations, and ensuring optimal functionality.
- **Export:** The Export task type enables users to generate and export data in different formats, allowing for seamless data exchange and integration with other systems or applications.
- **Report:** With the Report task type, users can generate detailed reports containing valuable insights and analysis of power quality data. These reports help users make informed decisions, identify trends, and evaluate the performance of the power system.



Figure 11-1. Scheduler

The **Scheduler module** screen is divided into two main sections that are divided by a splitter control line (a vertical line between the two sections).

Left Section - Connected Instances and Hosted Components

• The left section of the screen provides an organized display of the connected instances and their hosted components. This section offers an overview of the system's architecture, allowing users to easily navigate through the interconnected elements. Users can explore the hierarchical structure of instances and components, gaining insights into the system's configuration.

#### Right Section - Configured Tasks

- The right section of the screen presents the configured tasks related to the selected object. When an instance or component is chosen from the left section, the right section updates to show the tasks associated with that specific object. This section provides a centralized view of the tasks, enabling users to efficiently manage and modify their properties. Users can customize scheduling parameters and configure execution settings from this section.
- Splitter Control
- The splitter control line, positioned between the left and right sections, allows users to adjust the width of each section based on their preferences. This feature provides flexibility in customizing the screen layout for better usability.

## 11.1. Add or Disconnect a Server

On the Components section top-right, the following can be performed:

- 1. Click Connect to Add a Server.
- 2. Click Actions and select Disconnect server to disconnect a connected server.

## 11.2. View mode

You can use the View mode in the Scheduler module to toggle between the <u>Tasks list</u> and <u>Log</u> views. Here's how you can switch between these views:

- 1. Open the Scheduler module in PQSCADA Sapphire.
- 2. Look for the View mode option, which is typically located in the toolbar or menu of the module.
- 3. Click on the View mode option to toggle between the Tasks list and Log views.

When you select the Tasks list view, you will see a list of tasks that are currently running, scheduled to run, or have been executed. This view allows you to manage and monitor the status of your tasks.

On the other hand, when you switch to the Log view, you will be able to see a log of past task executions. This view provides a historical record of task execution details, including start and end times, status, and any relevant log messages.

## 11.3. Tasks List

The section you mentioned in the Scheduler module provides valuable insights into the execution and progress of tasks. Here's a breakdown of the information displayed in that section:

Task Name	Task Type	Task Run Type	Task Status	Next Execution		
CSV	CSV Export	Schedule	Idle	15/01/2017 00:00:00		×
EN50160	EN50160 Report	Schedule	Idle	15/01/2017 00:00:00		X
SMS notification	Notification	Event	Idle	On next event		×
excel	Excel Export	No trigger	Succeeded	Never	Ø	X

- Task Name This field displays the name of the task that is being monitored.
- **Task Type** This field indicates the type of task, such as Control and Maintenance, Export, or Report.
- Task Run Type This field shows the trigger for the task, which can be one of the following:
- **Schedule** The task is set to run at specific recurring intervals based on a predefined schedule.
- Event The task is triggered by a specific event occurring in the system.
- No Trigger The task is designed to run only once without any specific trigger.

- **Task Status** This field indicates the status of the last operation performed by the task. The possible statuses include:
- Idle The task has not been triggered yet and is waiting for its scheduled time or event.
- Succeeded The task operation was executed successfully without any errors.
- Failed The task operation or output encountered an error or failure.
- Next Execution This field displays the date and time for the next scheduled execution of the task.
- Attachment If an attachment is associated with the task, clicking on the attachment icon will open the attached file.
- **Rerun** For single-running tasks that have already been executed, clicking the rerun icon allows you to manually rerun the task.
- Delete Clicking the delete icon allows you to delete the selected task from the instance.

## 11.4. Log

In the Log mode of the Scheduler module, you can view logs of executed and scheduled tasks in two different ways: Calendar view and List view. Here's an explanation of each view:

- **Calendar View** In this view, the logs are displayed in a calendar format, allowing you to easily visualize the execution and scheduling of tasks over time. Each day is represented on the calendar, and you can navigate between months to view past and future logs. The calendar highlights the days with executed tasks, and you can click on a specific day to see the tasks executed on that day.
- List View In this view, the logs are displayed in a list format, providing a detailed overview of the executed and scheduled tasks. Each log entry includes information such as the task name, task type, task run type, task status, and the date and time of execution. You can scroll through the list to view past logs and easily search for specific logs using filters or search functionality.

## 11.4.1. Calendar Toolbar

In the Scheduler module's Calendar view, you can customize the calendar settings using the options available in the Calendar toolbar. Here's an explanation of each setting:

**Calendar** List **Toggle View Mode** - This button allows you to switch between the Calendar view and the List view. Clicking on it will toggle the display between the two views, allowing you to choose the one that suits your preference.

▲ August, 2016 ► Calendar Date - This feature enables you to navigate through the calendar by moving left or right to change the displayed date. You can use the navigation arrows or click on the date field and select a specific date from the calendar pop-up.

**Day Week Month** Calendar Period - This option allows you to toggle between different calendar periods, such as Day, Week, and Month. By selecting a specific period, you can adjust the level of granularity in the calendar view to focus on a specific time range.

## 11.5. Adding a task

To add a new task in the Scheduler module, you can follow these steps:

- 1. Launch the Add Task wizard:
  - Click on "New Task" at the top right corner of the main viewing area.
  - Click on the "Actions" menu and select "Add Task" from the menu.

- Right-click on the instance and select "Add Task".
- 2. Select the Task Group: In the Add New Task wizard, you will be prompted to select the task group. There are three task groups available:
  - **Control and Maintenance** This group focuses on managing and controlling various aspects of the system.
  - Exports This group enables you to generate and export data in different formats.
  - **Reports** This group allows you to generate detailed reports containing valuable insights and analysis of power quality data.

The Add New Task wizard consists of two stages:

- Stage 1 Scheduler Settings: In this stage, you will configure the scheduler settings for the task. This includes setting the schedule for when the task should run, such as a specific date and time or a recurring schedule.
- Stage 2 Add-on Settings: In this stage, you will import the configuration required by the task add-on. This may include specifying the parameters to be exported, selecting the type of report to be generated, or defining other settings specific to the task.

## 11.5.1. Export Task Common Wizard

## 11.5.1.1. Task Group and Type

In the Export Task Common Wizard, the first section is Task Group and Type. To set up an export task, you can follow these steps:

1. Mark the "Export" task group. This indicates that you want to create an export task.



- 2. Click **"Next"** to proceed to the Task Type page. Here, you will see the available task type options based on the <u>installed add-ons</u> in your PQSCADA Sapphire system.
- 3. Mark the required Task type. Select the specific task type that suits your export requirements from the available options.
- 4. Click **"Next"** to upload the Add-on configuration and go to the Task initial configuration page. This step uploads the necessary add-on configuration for the selected task type. It may take a few minutes for the upload process to complete. Once the add-on is uploaded, you will be directed to the Task initial configuration page.

#### Note:

- The time taken for the initial upload of the Task add-on may vary depending on the size and complexity of the add-on.
- After the Task add-on is uploaded, you won't be able to return to the Task Type page to change the selected task type. Therefore, ensure that you have selected the correct task type before proceeding.

## 11.5.1.2. Task Initial Configuration

Task name:		
Select CSV Separato	or , ~	
Create file per compo	nent	
O Combine data from al	l components into a	single file
Write value status		
Time format	Local	5
<ul> <li>Advanced file saving of</li> </ul>	options	
•		

In the Task Initial Configuration section of the Export Task Common Wizard, you will configure various options for the initial setup of the task. Here are the steps involved:

- 1. On the Initial Configuration page, configure the following options:
  - Task Name Enter a name for the task.
  - Select CSV Separator Choose the CSV separator character from the dropdown list.
  - Create file per component or Combine data from all components into a single file:
    - Create file per component This option will generate separate output files for each selected component. The number of output files will correspond to the number of selected components.
    - **Combine data from all components into a single file** This option will merge the data from all selected components into a single output file.

If you want to change the default **destination folder**, click the expand arrow for Advanced file saving options:

- Mark the "Set output folder manually" checkbox to set the following options:
- Server output folder Choose this option to save the task output on the instance machine. Make sure that the PQSCADA Sapphire instance has permissions to store files in the specified path.
- **FTP output folder** Choose this option to save the task output on a remote FTP server. You will need to enter the FTP details.
- 2. Click "Next" to proceed to the Task run type page.

Task initial configuration	Task run type	
Single task run		
<ul> <li>Single task run</li> <li>Scheduled task run</li> </ul>		

- 3. On the **Task run type** page, select one of the following options:
  - Single Task Run The task will run only once.

- Schedule Task Run (enterprise edition only) This option allows you to create a task that will be executed automatically after a designated time interval.
- Event Base Task Run (enterprise edition only) This option allows you to define events that, when triggered, will start the execution of the task.
- 4. Click "Next" to proceed to the Running time configuration page.

By following these steps, you can configure the initial settings for the **CSV Task** in the Export Task Common Wizard.

## 10.5.1.3. Running Time Configuration

O Hourly		Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday
Weekly		Thursday Friday Saturday
O Monthly		
Oreany		
Range Of Recurrence	e	
Now		No end time
O Start time: 13,	01/2017 12:31:24:227152	O End time: 14/01/2017 12:31:24:227152
Run Time		
Wait for data up to:	2 Hours	
Start at: 9 : 0	: 0	
Advanced Task C	offset Settings	
Custom time zone:	(UTC) Coordinated Universal Tim	ne 🔻
) Manual:		
) Manual:		
) Manual:		

In the Running time configuration page, you will configure the options specific to the selected Task run type. Here are the steps for configuring the options when selecting **"Schedule Task Run"** (enterprise edition only):

- 1. Configure the following options:
  - **Recurrence Pattern** Select how often the task will be executed. You can choose from options like hourly, daily, weekly, monthly, or yearly.
  - **Range of Recurrence** Specify the start and end dates for the recurring task. By default, the recurrence is set to start now and has no end time.
  - Run Time:
    - Wait for data up to Use this option to delay the task execution if part of the data is missing. You can specify the time duration for which the task will wait for the data to become available.
    - **Start at** Set the specific time at which the task should be executed.
- Advance Task Offset Settings Use this option to set a time offset different from the instance machine. This allows you to adjust the execution time of the task based on a specific time zone or offset.

For example, if you configure the task to be executed every Sunday at 9:00 AM UTC and specify a wait time of 2 hours, the task will wait for up to 2 hours for the required data to become available. After the wait period, the task will be executed regardless of the data availability.

3. Click "Next" to proceed to the Data range configuration page.

## 11.5.1.4. Data Range Configuration

isk initial Configura	auon / Task Run Type	/ Run Time Configurat	ion Data Range Conng	uration Components	Records Type Selection
Data duration:	1 Weeks	•			
Duration time:	hours before	run time			
					Data duration Next run time Wait for data
08/01/2017 00:00:00			,,	15/01/2017 11:00:00 15/01/2017 00:00:00	1

In the Data range configuration page, you will configure the options related to the data duration and end time for the export task. Here are the steps to configure these options:

- 1. Configure the following options:
  - **Data Duration** Set the duration of the data to be exported. You can choose a specific duration, such as 1 day, 1 week, 1 month, etc.
  - **Duration Time (Hours before run time)** Set the end time relative to the Run Time configured in the Run-Time Configuration page. This determines the time range from which the data will be exported.

For example, if you set the Data Duration to 1 week and the Duration Time to 9 hours, and the task is scheduled to run every Sunday at 9:00 AM UTC, the export task will execute every Sunday from 9:00 AM to 11:00 AM UTC. The exported file will contain the data from the previous week, starting from midnight to midnight.

2. Click "Next" to proceed to the Components page.

## 11.5.1.5. Components

To select the components for executing the task, you have two options: Component selection and Tags selection. Here's how you can perform these selections in the Components page:

- 1. Component Selection
  - Mark the checkboxes of individual components in the **Components** section on the left side of the page. You can select multiple components by marking their checkboxes.
  - Click the **Tag** icon to sort the components by tags. This will group the components based on their tags.
  - To reset the tag selection, click on the "Open tree settings" icon.
  - Alternatively, you can click the **"Load Group"** button in the Selected Components section. This allows you to load a saved group of selected components. To save the current selection as a group, click **"Save Group."**

	Selected Components	Selected Components				
Search	Load Group Save Group Task Selected Tags	Selected Components	Clear All			
<ul> <li>✓ popcada.com</li> <li>✓ Expec Belt-Snean</li> <li>✓ Expec Cestarea</li> <li>✓ Expec Cestarea</li> <li>✓ Expec Portugal</li> <li>✓ G4K.04</li> <li>✓ G4K.05</li> <li>✓ G4K.06</li> <li>✓ G4K.06</li> <li>✓ G4K.09</li> <li>✓ G4K.14</li> <li>✓ G4K.Portable</li> </ul>	Oben tree setting	Elspec NA	(			

### 2. Tags Selection

- Click the **Tag** icon to sort the components by tags. This will display a list of available tags.
- Mark the checkboxes of the desired tags in the **Components** section. This will select all components that are configured with the selected tags.
- The selected tags will appear in the "Task Selected Tags" column.

omponente.		Selected Components			
Search		Load Group Save Group		Selected Components	Clear All
<pre>paceds.com</pre>	Open tree settings	Authontication: Demo	×		

Once you have made the component or tag selection, click "Next" to proceed to the **Records type** selection page.

## 11.5.1.6. Records type selection

Task Initial Configuration	Task Run Type	Run Time Configuration	Data Range Configuration	Components	Records Type Selection
Periodic and Events					
) Periodic Only					
) Events Only					

In the Records type selection page, you need to choose one of the following options:

### • Periodic and Events

This option is used to export both low-resolution parameters for the entire task data duration and high-resolution parameters and waveforms for events that occurred during the task data duration.

### • Periodic Only

This option is used to export parameters continuously for the entire task data duration, without including event-related data.

### Events Only

This option is used to export high-resolution parameters and waveforms for events that occurred during the task data duration. Each event is considered a data record with a duration equal to the event duration plus pre/post margins.

Choose the appropriate option based on your requirements. Once you have made the selection, click "Next" to proceed to the next page, which is the "Low-resolution Parameters for periodic" page.

## 11.5.1.7. Low-Resolution Parameters for Periodic

elect parameters by: Logical Channel A	dditional		Resolution:	10 Minutes
Parameter	Phase	Quantity	Selected Parameters	Clear All
Reactive Power - Harmonics Aggregation Reactive Power - per Harmonic MMS KMS - Fundamental RMS - non-Fundamental RHD - Even Harmonics THD - Even Harmonics THD - Odd Harmonics Koltage and Current - Harmonics Amplitude (%) Zero Sequence Unbalance (U0/U1)	<ul> <li>V2N</li> <li>V3N</li> <li>VN</li> <li>V12</li> <li>V23</li> <li>V31</li> <li>I1</li> <li>I2</li> <li>I3</li> <li>IN</li> <li>IAuxiliary</li> </ul>	Average	RMS, V2N, Min/Max, 10 Minutes RMS, V3N, Min/Max, 10 Minutes RMS, V1N, Average, 10 Minutes RMS, V2N, Average, 10 Minutes RMS, V3N, Average, 10 Minutes	6 9 9 9

In the Low-resolution Parameters for periodic page, you need to configure the following options:

- 1. Select how parameters are **tagged** 
  - Choose one of the following options:
    - **Logical** Parameters are logically tagged based on their power-related characteristics.
    - **Channels** Parameters are stored without any power topology and can be sorted by channel number.
    - o Additional Non-power parameters, such as temperature, are included.
- 2. Select the Resolution
  - Choose the desired resolution from the dropdown menu in the upper right corner. This determines the interval at which the low-resolution parameters will be recorded.
- 3. Select the **Parameter** 
  - From the parameter column, choose the specific parameter you want to include in the export. The available parameters depend on the selected component, time interval, and task type.
- 4. Select the **Phase** 
  - From the phase column, select the desired phase for the parameter. Clicking on a phase again cancels the selection. You can select multiple phases if needed.
- 5. Select the Quantity
  - Choose the desired quantity of the parameter. This determines the quantity that will be displayed in the output file.

The selected parameters will be displayed in the right column.

#### Note:

- for a CSV export task, low-resolution parameters will be exported as a single file. For an Excel export task, the low-resolution parameters will be exported to a dedicated sheet.
- Once you have configured the options, click "Next" to proceed to the High-resolution parameters for periodic page.

#### Task Initial Configuration 》 Task Run Type 》 Run Time Configuration 》 Data Range Configuration 》 Components 》 Records Type Selection ) Low Resolution Parameters for Periodic 》 High Resolution Parameters for Periodic 》 Waveform Parameters for Periodic Events Log Configuration Devent Records Configuration High Resolution Parameters for Events Waveform Parameters for Events Notifications Configuration Select Parameters Logical Channel Additional Resolution: 150/180 Cycles Select parameters by: Para Min/Max V1N rms RMS, V1N, Average, 150/180 Cycles × V2N RMS × RMS, V2N, Average, 150/180 Cycles V3N RMS - Fundamental RMS, V3N, Average, 150/180 Cycles × VN RMS - non-Fundamenta V12 V23 V31 11 IN Auxiliary ▲ Back Next ► Cancel

## 11.5.1.8. High-Resolution Parameters for Periodic

In the High-resolution Parameters for periodic page, you need to configure the following options:

- 1. Select how parameters are tagged
  - Choose one of the following options:
    - o Logical Parameters are logically tagged based on their power-related characteristics.
    - **Channels** Parameters are stored without any power topology and can be sorted by channel number.
    - o Additional Non-power parameters, such as temperature, are included.
- 2. Select the Resolution
  - Choose the desired resolution from the dropdown menu in the upper right corner. This determines the interval at which the High-resolution parameters will be recorded.
- 3. Select the Parameter
  - From the parameter column, choose the specific parameter you want to include in the export. The available parameters depend on the selected component, time interval, and task type.
- 4. Select the Phase
  - From the phase column, select the desired phase for the parameter. Clicking on a phase again cancels the selection. You can select multiple phases if needed.
- 5. Select the Quantity

• Choose the desired quantity of the parameter. This determines the quantity that will be displayed in the output file.

The selected parameters will be displayed in the right column.

#### Note:

- For a CSV export task, High-resolution parameters will be exported as a single file. For an Excel export task, the High-resolution parameters will be exported to a dedicated sheet.
- Once you have configured the options, click "Next" to proceed to the Waveform parameters for periodic page.

## 11.5.1.9. Waveform Parameters for Periodic

Events Log Configuration	for Periodic Event Records Configu	olution Parameters for Periodic Wavefor Wavef	orm Parameters for Periodi vents Waveform Parame	ters for Events
Notifications Configuration	i]	10 - 3	1	
Select Parameters				
Select parameters by: Log	ical Channel		Resolution:	64 Samples Per Cycle
Parameter	Phase	Selected Parameters		Clear All
Search				
larmonics Waveform /aveform /aveform - Fundamental				
Number of points above 1,0	00,000 is not recommend	ed. Please choose lower resolution or chang	e running times	

In the Waveform Parameters for periodic page, you need to configure the following options:

- 1. Select how parameters are **tagged** 
  - Choose one of the following options:
    - **Logical** Parameters are logically tagged based on their power-related characteristics.
    - **Channels** Parameters are stored without any power topology and can be sorted by channel number.
- 2. Select the Resolution
  - Choose the desired resolution from the dropdown menu in the upper right corner. This determines the interval at which the Waveform-resolution parameters will be recorded. The max. number of exported points per parameter is **limited to 1,000,000**.
- 3. Select the **Parameter** 
  - From the parameter column, choose the specific parameter you want to include in the export. The available parameters depend on the selected component, time interval, and task type.
- 4. Select the Phase

• From the phase column, select the desired phase for the parameter. Clicking on a phase again cancels the selection. You can select multiple phases if needed.

The selected parameters will be displayed in the right column.

#### Note:

- For a CSV export task, Waveform-resolution parameters will be exported as a single file. For an Excel export task, the Waveform-resolution parameters will be exported to a dedicated sheet.
- Once you have configured the options, click "Next" to proceed to the Event log configuration page.

## 11.5.1.10. Events Log Configuration

Available Events		Selected Events
		Dip
Event based on user settings Frequency Frequency Harmonics Interharmonics Interharmonics Interharmonic distortion Long current TDD Cong current TDD South Valing compliance violation Positive transient Power Quality compliance violation Rapid voltage changes Usa Short current Tbm Short current Tbm Short current Tbm Short current Tbm	× IIII	Transient
Unbalance Variations		

In the Events log configuration page, you can configure the settings related to events records for the export task.

1. Select the events to include in the event log table by **double-clicking the event** type from the Available events list. This will move the selected events to the Selected events list.

#### Note:

- for a CSV export task, Waveform-resolution parameters will be exported as a single file. For an Excel export task, the Waveform-resolution parameters will be exported to a dedicated sheet.
- Once you have configured the options, click "Next" to proceed to the Events records configuration page.

## 11.5.1.11 Event Records Configuration

Events Log Configuration       Freent Records Configuration       High Resolution         Notifications Configuration       High Resolution         Available Events       Standard S	c >>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>
Available Events Search_ Harmonics Incerharmonics Incerharmonic distortion Long current ThD Using current ThD Using current ThD Wain signaling Notch Positive transient Power Quality compliance violation Rapid voltage changes Umax Rapid voltage changes Umax Rapid voltage changes Umax Short current TbD Short current TbD Mar gin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:0:500 Post margin Diage Post margin 0:0:0:500 Post margin Diage Post margin Diage Post margin Diage Post margin Pre-margin Pre-marg	Parameters for Events Waveform Parameters for Events
Available Events S Search Harmonics Invuch current Interharmonic distortion Long current TDD Long current TDD Long current TDD Main signaling Notch Positive transient Power Quality compliance violation Rapid voltage changes Usas Root current TDD Short current c	
Available Events S	
Search Harmonics Insuch current Interharmonics Interruption Long current harmonic distortion Long current TDD Long current TDD Main signaling Notch Positive transient Power Quality compliance violation Rapid voltage changes Usa Short current harmonic distortion Short current TDD Short current TDD Short current TDD Margin Pre-margin 0:0:0:500 Post margin Pre-margin 0:0:0:500 Post margin Pre-margin Pre-	elected Events
Harmonics Indershapping Interharmonic distortion Long current harmonic distortion Long current TbD Main signaling Notch Positive transient Power Quality compliance violation Rapid voltage changes Umax Rapid voltage changes Uss Short current TbD Short current ThD Short current ThD Short current ThD Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:0:0 Post margin Pre-margin Pre-ma	nsient
Incush current Incherharmonics Internuption Long current TDD Long current TDD Long current TDD Admin signaling Notch Positive transient Power Quality compliance violation Rapid voltage changes Uss Short current harmonic distortion Ihort current TDD Short current Curren	
hterhamonics hteruption .ong current hamonic distortion .ong current TbD oog current TbD .ong current TbD .ong current TbD .ower Quality compliance violation tapid votage changes Umax lapid votage changes Umax .orent TbD .orent T	
nterruption .ong current Tamonic distortion .ong current TDD .ong current TDD .ong current THD Main signaling Votch 'oritive transient Power Quality compliance violation tapid vottage changes Umax tapid vottage chang	
ung current harmonic distortionong current TDDong current THD Main signaling Wotch Work Transient	
ong current TDD         Vain signaling         Voich         Positive transient         Power Quality compliance violation         Appld voltage changes Umax         Appld voltage changes Uss         Finant Current Tammanic distortion         Nibrat current TIDD         Unbalance         Margin         Pre-margin       0 : 0 : 500         Post margin       0 : 0 : 500	
ong current THD         Wain signaling         Votch         Sortike transient         Power Quality compliance violation         Appld votage changes Umax         Appld votage changes Umax         Short current harmonic distortion         Short current THD         Weel         What         Margin         Pre-margin       0 : 0 : 500         Post margin       0 : 0 ! 500	
Vain signaling Votch Votch Vote: Tuansient Vover Quality compliance violation Tapid voltage changes Umax tapid voltage changes Umax tapid voltage changes Uss hort current Tapid Nort current Tapid Not current Tapi	
Jotch Sortike transient Jover Quality compliance violation Lapid voltage changes Umax Lapid voltage changes Umax Lapid voltage changes Umax Lapid voltage changes Umax Inort current THD Minort current THD Wirell Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:01:500	
Vositive transient Voser Quality compliance violation Apid voltage changes Umax Apid voltage changes Umax Short current harmonic distortion Nont current TPD Nont current THD Nohalence Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:500	
Vover Quality compliance volation Agold voltage changes Umax Agold voltage changes Us Short current Tho Abort current TID Jobalance Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:0:500	
Apple Votage changes Umax apple Votage changes Uss short current harmonic distortion short current THD swell Malance Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:0:500	
Apple Votage charges 055 hort current Tammonic distortion hort current TIDD hort current THD well Abalance Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:0:500	
Mort current TDD Mort current TDD Mort current THD Jobalance Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0[:500	
Mar coment THD well Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:500	
Margin Discontinue Dis	
Maslance         •           Margin         Pre-margin         0 : 0 : 500         Post margin         0 : 0 : 500	
Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:500	
Margin Pre-margin 0:0:500 Post margin 0:0:500	
Pre-margin         0 ÷ 0 ÷ 500         Post margin         0 ÷ 0 ÷ 500	

In the Event Records Configuration page of the Add task wizard, you can specify the events that will trigger event records and set the Pre/Post margins for the event records.

Here are the steps to configure this section:

- Select the events that you want to include as triggers for event records by double-clicking on the event type from the Available events list. This will move the selected events to the Selected events list.
- 2. On the bottom part of the page, you can set the **Pre/Post margins**. These margins determine the duration of the event records by specifying the time before and after the event.
- 3. Once you have selected the events and set the Pre/Post margins, click **Next** to proceed to the next step, which is the configuration of **high-resolution parameters for events**.

Note: Please note that the options and available events may vary depending on the specific task type and settings.

## 11.5.1.12. High-Resolution Parameters for Events

Notifications Configuration	ent necolus conligu		Material Parameters for Events	
elect Parameters				
lect parameters by: Logical	Channel Addition	nal	Resolution: H	alf Cycle
arameter	Phase	Quantity	Selected Parameters	Clear All
IIS - Fundamental IIS - non-Fundamental	V2N V3N VN V12 V23 V31 I1 I2 I3 IN I Auxiliary	Average	RMS, V2N, Min/Max, Half Cycle RMS, V3N, Min/Max, Half Cycle RMS, II, Min/Max, Half Cycle RMS, I2, Min/Max, Half Cycle RMS, I3, Min/Max, Half Cycle	8

In the High-resolution parameters for events page of the Add task wizard, you can configure the parameters that will be included in the event records and specify their resolution, tag type, phase, and other settings.

Here are the steps to configure this section:

- 1. Select how parameters are tagged
  - Choose one of the following options:
    - **Logical** Parameters are logically tagged based on their power-related characteristics.
    - **Channels** Parameters are stored without any power topology and can be sorted by channel number.
    - o Additional Non-power parameters, such as temperature, are included.
- 2. Select the Resolution
  - Choose the desired resolution from the dropdown menu in the upper right corner. This determines the interval at which the low-resolution parameters will be recorded.
- 3. Select the Parameter
  - From the parameter column, choose the specific parameter you want to include in the export. The available parameters depend on the selected component, time interval, and task type.
- 4. Select the Phase
  - From the phase column, select the desired phase for the parameter. Clicking on a phase again cancels the selection. You can select multiple phases if needed.
- 5. Select the Quantity
  - Choose the desired quantity of the parameter. This determines the quantity that will be displayed in the output file.

6. The selected parameters will be listed in the Right column, indicating that they will be included in the event records.

Note:

- for a CSV export task, low-resolution parameters will be exported as a single file. For an Excel export task, the low-resolution parameters will be exported to a dedicated sheet.
- There is a maximum limit of 1,000,000 exported points per parameter. If the event duration is too long, PQSCADA will export only the first 1,000,000 points.
- Once you have configured the high-resolution parameters for events, click **Next** to proceed to the next step, which is the configuration of **waveform parameters for events**.

### 11.5.1.13. Waveform Parameters for Events

Parameter         Phase         Selected Parameters         Clear All           Scornh_         MN         Waveform, V1N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M           Maxeform         V2N         V2A         Waveform, V2N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M           Waveform - Fundamental         VN         Waveform, V3N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M         M           V12         Waveform, V3N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M         M         Waveform, V3N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M           V12         Waveform, 11, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M         M         Maveform, 13, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M           V13         V12         Waveform, 13, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M         M           V31         Vaveform, 13, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M         M         Maveform, 13, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M           IN         IAuxiliary         IAuxiliary         IAuxiliary         Maveform, I3, 1024 Samples Per Cycle         M	Events Log Configuration Events Log Configuration Events Notifications Configuration Select Parameters Select parameters by: Logical	vent Records Configura	ation 》High Resolution Parameters for Events 》	Waveform Parameters for Events Resolution: 1024 Samples Per Cycle
	Parameter SnorAL Harmonics Waveform Waveform Waveform - Fundamental	Phase           V1N           V2N           V3N           V12           V23           V31           11           12           13           14           12           13           14           15           16           17	Selected Parameters Waveform, V1N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle Waveform, V2N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle Waveform, V3N, 1024 Samples Per Cycle Waveform, 11, 1024 Samples Per Cycle Waveform, 13, 1024 Samples Per Cycle	ClearAl X X X X X X

In the Waveform Parameters for Events page, you can configure the parameters for exporting waveform data associated with events. Here are the steps to follow:

- 1. Select how parameters are tagged:
  - Logical Parameters will be logically tagged.
  - **Channels** Parameters will be stored without any power topology and can be sorted by channel number.
- 2. Select the **Resolution** from the dropdown menu in the upper right corner.
- 3. Select the **Parameter** in the parameter column. The list of available parameters is dynamic and depends on the selected component, time interval, and task type.
- 4. Select the **Phase** from the phase column. A second click cancels the selection. Multiple phases can be selected.

A list of the selected parameters will be presented in the Right column.

#### Notes:

- In the CSV export task, each event record generates two files: high-resolution and waveform.
- In the **Excel export** task, all event records generate a single file. The file includes two sheets for each event record: high resolution and waveform.

• The maximum number of exported points per parameter is limited to 1,000,000. If the event duration is too long, PQSCADA will only export the first 1,000,000 points.

Once you have configured the Waveform parameters for events, click **Next** to proceed to the next step, which is the configuration of **Notification configuration**.

## 11.5.1.14. Notification Configuration

isk Summary		efine The Type	Of Notification and Its D	etails	
Task Name: CSV Export		Enable notific	ations by SMS/Text		
Task Trigger Type: Scheduled Task Run		Phone number:			Add Number
				(1)	
Task selected components:			541/543010		
pgscada.com Elspec Beit-Shean					
pgscada.com Elspec NA	1				
Weakly recovered on					
Sunday					
		Chable notific	ations by email		
Waiting for data: 2 hours		East	-		
		Citital.			
Shift from next execution: 9 hours.			Devid@Chielde.com	(w)	
Determined when the starts			David@Snields.com		
Data time duration: 1 weeks					
Selected Events					
	*				

In the Notification Configuration page, you can define the type of notification and its details. Here's how you can do it:

- 1. Enable notification by SMS/Text:
  - Mark the Enable notification by SMS/Text checkbox.
  - Add cell phone numbers to send text message notifications on task execution.
- 2. Enable notification by email:
  - Mark the Enable notification by email checkbox.
  - This allows you to send email notifications and attachments (if enabled) on task execution.

Note: Do not enable email/SMS notification if the email/SMS configuration has not been set up and tested.

3. Click Finish to apply the changes.

## 11.5.2. Specific export types

### 11.5.2.1. Based on template

			1	and the second sec
				Add templates
ayout template (Word template): Inves	stigationWordTemplate			Select template
ayout template (Word template): Load	۰ bi			
ngel mode: 0 - 2	2π ~			
agging approach: Poly	yphase 💙			

Referring to a task that is created or derived from a pre-existing template in PQSCADA Sapphire, there are two types of templates that can be used:

#### 1. Investigation template

- This template is used for tasks that generate output in the form of charts, tables, and parameters based on a selected template from the investigation folder.
- The <u>investigation template</u> allows you to define the specific layout and content of the generated reports based on your requirements.

#### 2. Layout template (Word template)

- This type of template refers to a Word document template that provides a predefined structure and styling elements, such as fonts, headings, margins, and page layouts.
- By using a layout template, you can ensure consistent formatting and branding across your generated reports.

If the task is configured to run on multiple components, each component will generate its own individual report based on the selected template. This means that for each component, a separate report will be created, providing specific information and data related to that component.

### 11.5.2.2. Comtrade export

Task combines selected parameters across different resolutions in a wizard interface. It then generates a **pair of Comtrade** files for each chosen component.

### 11.5.2.3. CSV export

Task combines selected parameters across different resolutions in a wizard interface. It then generates a **CSV file** for each chosen component.

### 11.5.2.4. Excel export

Task combines selected parameters across different resolutions in a wizard interface. It then generates an **Excel file** for each chosen component.

## 11.5.2.5. Siemens CSV export

Task will run by pulling data from two components:

- Main meter The component from which Input Frequency and Active Power parameters will be pulled.
- **SCADA** This component must be FastModbus type, from this component we will pull the parameters Baseline, SOE import, SOE export, availability.

### 11.5.2.6. PQDIF export

Task combines selected parameters across different resolutions in a wizard interface. It then generates a **PQDIF file** for each chosen component.

## 11.5.2.7. PQZ export

Task combines selected parameters across different resolutions in a wizard interface. It then generates a **PQZ file** for each chosen component.

Task initial configuration	Task run type	Running time configuration	Components	Records type selection	>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>	PQZ settings
Notifications configuration	on					
Include binary data						
Include historical data						
Include historical harmo	nic data					
Export data option Save	as single file \vee					

Users can export a PQZ file, which includes binary data, historical data, and historical harmonic data. The usage of harmonic data is dependent on the availability of historical data.

Furthermore, users have the option to export the data from the PQZ file as a single file or separate files per day.

## 11.5.3. Report Task Common Wizard

## 11.5.3.1. Task Group and Type

In the Report Task Common wizard, the first section is Task group and Type. To set up a report task, you can follow these steps:

1. Mark the "**Report**" task group. This indicates that you want to create a report task.

Task Wizard	
Task Group	
<ul> <li>○ Control and Maintenance</li> <li>○ Export</li> <li>③ Report</li> </ul>	
A Back Next  Cancel	

- 2. Click "Next" to proceed to the task type page. Here you will see the available task type options based on installed add-ons in your PQSCADA Sapphire system.
- Mark the required Task Type. Select the specific task type that suits your report requirements from the available options.
- 4. Click "Next" to upload the Add-on configuration and go to the Task initial configuration page. This step uploads the necessary add-on configuration for the selected task type. It may take a few minutes for the upload process to complete. Once the add-on is uploaded, you will be directed to the Task initial configuration page.

- Note:
  - The time taken for the initial upload of the Task add-on may vary depending on the size and • complexity of the add-on.
  - After the Task add-on is uploaded, you won't be able to return to the Task Type page to • change the selected task type. Therefore, ensure that you have selected the correct task type before proceeding.

For this example, it is assumed that task EN50160 was selected. This will ensure that all steps in the wizard are fully explored.

## 11.5.3.2. Task Initial Configuration

<form>         Itel Kultud Configuration       Itel Kunturget         Itel Kunturget       <t< th=""><th>Task Wizard</th><th></th><th></th></t<></form>	Task Wizard		
Task Name: E Notice: <ul> <li>Generation of the Saving Options:</li> &lt;</ul>	Task Initial Configuration	Task Run Type	
<ul> <li>Advanced File Saving Options</li> <li>Server output folder manually</li> <li>Server output folder: UNReport?Y1/19/10/10[</li> <li>FTIP output folder: UNReport?Y1/19/10/10[</li> <li>FTIP output folder: UNReport?Y1/19/10/10[</li> <li>TTIP protect</li> <li>Prannen: UNREPORT?Y1/19/10/10[</li> <li>Component Unitual Name</li> <li>Y Reamont: UNReport?Y1/19/10/10[</li> <li>Component Unitual Name</li> <li>Y Reamont: UNREPORT?Y1/19/10/10[</li> <li>Component Unitual Name</li> <li>Y Reamont: UNREPORT?Y1/19/10[</li> <li>Y</li></ul>	Task Name: EN50160	)	
Set output folder manually <ul> <li>Server output folder:</li> <li>CNReport/Yn/1M101</li> <li>manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder.</li> <li>In manual location, make sure to set folder.</li> <li>In the (hh, man set go 23, 02, 2010)</li> <li>In the (hh, man set go 23, 02, 2010, set set set set folder.</li> <li>In the (hh, man set go 23, 02, 2010, set set set folder.</li> <li>In the (hh, man set go 23, 02, 2010, set set set folder.</li> <li>In the (hh, man set go 23, 02,</li></ul>	Advanced File Saving	Options	
Image: Server output folder:       Image: Imag	Set output folder manu	ally	When selecting manual location, make sure to set folder permissions manually to the selected folder.
PTP output tokide:       IN - Component ID         User name:       V: Component Virtual Name         Passora:       W: Month         Proposotion:       The state         Proposotion:       Test path         Test path       For example:         C\\Temp\\CompName-TV\\C_results ==>>         C\\Temp\\CompName-CompT\\26_01_2010_results	Server output folder:	C:\\Report\?\\?M\?D	In manual location the following characters can be used to create a template for the output path
User name: Password: PTP protoco: PTP protoco: PTP protoco: PTP protoco: Test path Test path Preserver Test path Preserver Test path Preserver Password: Test path Preserver Password: Preserver Password: Preserver Password: Preserver	O FTP output folder:		7N - Component ID 7V - Component Virtual Name
Passavord FTP protocol Passive Test path Per sample C(\\Temp\\CompName-7\\R2_results ===> C\\Temp\\CompName-Comp7\\26_01_2010_results Ment Cancel	User name:		?Y - Year ?M - Month
FTP protocol Passive Test path Test path FC - Use (dd, mm, yyy) format, eg (23, 02, 2010) TT - Time (hit, eg (02, 43, 55)) For example: C\\Temp\\CompName-TV\\XC_results ===> C\\Temp\\CompName-CompT\\25_01_2010_results	Password:		7D - Day
Test path For example: Cl\Temp\\CompName-TV\\XC_results ===> Cl\Temp\\CompName-CompT\\25_01_2010_results	FTP protocol:	Passive *	<ul> <li>?T - Time (hh_mm_syyyy format, e.g 02_43_55)</li> </ul>
C(\\Temp\\CompName-TV\\\Z_results ===> C(\\Temp\\CompName-CompT\\25_01_2010_results		Test path	For example:
Rack Next Cancel			C:\\Temp\\CompName-?V\\?C_results ===> C:\\Temp\\CompName-Comp7\\26_01_2010_results
Back Next D Cancel			
Back Next D Cancel			
Back Next D Cancel			
Back Next Cancel			
Back Next      Cancel			
			Back Next Cancel

See section 11.5.1.2.

## 11.5.3.3. Run Time Configuration

Necurrence Pattern	
Hourly     Daily     Weekly     Monthly     Yearly	Sunday Monday Wednesday     Thursday Friday     Shurday
Range Of Recurrence	
Now     Start time: 14/01/2017 11:34:29:2642:	No end time     Dend time     Dend time     Dend time     15/01/2017 11:34:29:264229     V
Start at: 9 : 0 : 0 Advanced Task Offset Settings	
Custom time zone: (UTC) Coordinated Un	niversal Time 💌
) Manual:	

See section 11.5.1.3.

## 11.5.3.4. Data Range Configuration



See section 11.5.1.4

## 11.5.3.5. Components

	Selected Components		
Search	Load Group Save Group Task Selected Tags	Selected Components	Clear All
PECKAG.cm           Impre Delt-Shean           Expec Cetssree           Expec NA           Expec Portugal           G4K.03           G4K.04           G4K.05           G4K.04           G4K.05	Open tee settings	Elspec Beit-Shean	ſ
	•		

See section 11.5.1.5

## **11.5.3.6. Select Compliance Chapters**

k Wizard						
Task Initial Configuration	📎 Task Run Type	Run Time Configuration	Data Range Configuration	Components	Select Compliance Chapters	Notifications Configuration
Compliance Chapters						
Power Frequency						
🗷 Supply Voltage Va	riation					
Flicker Severity						
🗷 Supply Voltage Un	balance					
🗷 Harmonic Voltage						
Total Harmonic Dis	tortion					
					Back	Next  Cancel

- 1. On the Compliance Chapters Selection page, you will have the option to choose the specific Compliance Chapters that you want to include in the report.
- 2. Select Compliance Chapters:
- 3. Mark the checkboxes next to the Compliance Chapters that you want to be included in the report.
  - You can select one or multiple Compliance Chapters, depending on your requirements.
- 4. Click "Next" to Proceed to the Notification Configuration page

## 11.5.3.7. Notification Configuration

k Initial Configuration	Configuration 🚿 Task Run Type 🚿 Run Time Configura		n 》 Data Range Configuration 》 Components		Select Compliance Chapters	Notifications Configurati	
ask Summary			C.	efine The Type	Of Notification and Its Deta	ils	
Tack Name: ENS0160				Enable notifi	cations by SMS/Text		
Task Name: ENDUIDU Task Tringer Tune: Scheduled Task Run			1	Phone number:			Add Number
rusk migger type, sen	couled rosk null						
Task selected compon	ents:				5417543010	×	
authontication: Demo Elspec Beit-Shean						201	
Authontication: Demo	Elspec NA						
Authontication: Demo	Elspec Portugal						
Task Selected Tags:			=				
Authontication: Demo							
				Enable notifications by email			
Weekly recourence on:				Email			Contra Process
Sunday				Lillda.			
					5	-	
Waiting for data: 2 hou	urs				David@Shields.com	×	
Shift from next executi	on: 9 hours.						
	And the second se						
Data time duration: 1 V	weeks		100				
					C	N (	70-

See section 11.5.1.14

## **11.5.4. Specific Report Types**

## 11.5.4.1. Sub-Harmonic Analysis Report

The sub-harmonic analysis task is offered as an Add-on (<u>See section 5.8.7</u>) that enables generating a Sub-Harmonics report.

Analyzing sub-harmonics can be useful for a variety of applications and diagnosis, because subharmonics may cause transformer saturation, torque amplification, errors in phasor estimation and other phenomena.

The Sub-Harmonic analysis report filters harmonics equal to and above the 10th and can be exported to CSV. A single html file will be generated for every 5 minutes in the report, and an index file will be created in case of multiple files. The index will include links and timestamps for each 5-minute file.

## 11.5.4.2. Control and Maintenance Task (Enterprise edition only)

This Control and Maintenance task is used to configure notifications. Customers can use it to upgrade all their units by one task instead of performing a single firmware upgrade to each unit, or for configuring physical devices.

## 11.5.4.2.1. Task Group and Type

1. Select the Control and Maintenance option.

Task Wizard
Task Group
<ul> <li>Control and Maintenance</li> <li>Export</li> <li>Report</li> </ul>
Back Next Cancel

2. Click Next to go to the Task Type page.



3. Select one of the four displayed task types. The available types depend on the installed add-ons.

In the first three task types, the task configuration begins with selecting the components and ends with the notification configuration (selecting the email/text notification).

For the Unit Maintenance task type, see details in section 0.
4. Click **Next** to upload the Add-on configuration, beginning with the **Task Initial configuration** page. The page will be according to the selected Task type.

### Notes:

- Uploading the task add-on for the first time can take a few minutes.
- Once the task add-on is uploaded, returning to the Task type page is no longer available.
- To this description, it is assumed that the EN50160 task is selected. This will ensure that all the wizard steps are fully explored.

### 11.5.4.2.2. Task Initial Configuration

Task Wizard			
Task Initial Configuration	Components	Event Configuration	Notifications Configuration
Task Name: SMS N	otification		
		Back	Next  Cancel

See section 11.5.1.2.

### 11.5.4.2.3. Components

Components	Selected Components		_
Search	Load Group Save Group Task Selected Tags	Selected Components	Clear All
<ul> <li>pqsada.com</li> <li>Elspec Belt-Shean</li> <li>Elspec Casarea</li> <li>Elspec NA</li> <li>Elspec Portugai</li> <li>G4K-03</li> <li>G4K-04</li> <li>G4K-05</li> <li>G4K-05</li> <li>G4K-07</li> <li>G4K-08</li> <li>G4K-09</li> <li>G4K-04</li> <li>G4K-04</li> <li>G4K-05</li> </ul>	OPen tree settings	Elspec NA	

### See section 11.5.1.5

### 11.5.4.2.4. Task Type Configuration

The task configuration page and details depend on the selected Control and Maintenance task type.

Configure the task details and click Next.

### 11.5.4.2.4.1. Data Availability Notification

The **Data Availability Configuration** page within PQSCADA Sapphire allows users to define parameters related to data availability. This configuration is crucial for ensuring that data is continuously accessible. Here are the key components of this configuration:

- **Calculate Data availability** This setting refers to the time interval over which data availability is measured. It defines the duration within which data should be continuously available without interruption.
- Trigger a notification if Data availability is less than (%) Users can specify a percentage of data availability. If the actual data availability falls below this percentage, a notification will be automatically generated and sent to alert users of the issue.
- **Trigger a notification if latest available data is older than –** This setting allows users to define a time threshold. If the latest available data exceeds this specified time threshold, a notification will be triggered.

Data Availability Notification [Version: 1.0.0.4]				
Task initial configuration Components Data ava	ilability configura	ation Notifications configu	uration	
Calculate Data Availability for the most recent	24	hours		
Ingger a notification if Data Availability is less than Trigger a notification if latest available data is older than	100	hours		
			Back Next      Cancel	

### 11.5.4.2.4.2. Notifications

The **Event configuration** page enables configuring the source that should trigger the event (including non-power quality events such as the system).

Notification [Version: 1.0.0.17]		
Task initial configuration Components Event configuration Notifications	ns configuration	
Source a System a Dower Quality b Digital (JO, Analog I/O and Relay a Custom Custom	Destination	
	A Back	Vext  Cancel

### 11.5.4.2.4.3. Real Time Event Notification

The **Event configuration** page enables configuring the power quality event that will trigger the event, The task should read the counter every 5 seconds and in case the counter increases from the previous reading a notification should be triggered.

The list of event counters is part of the Emerson Modbus block.

- Only for G4K devices (Based on Modbus/Json)
- Only power quality events

Source @ Power Quality Dip: Fickering Frequency Harmonics Long interruption Rapid voltage changes Short interruption Swell Unbalance Variations:	Destination
---	-------------

### 11.5.4.2.4.4. Unit Maintenance

Selecting the **Unit Maintenance** task type enables configuring components and firmware (fw) upgrade tasks.

- 1. Select task running time from one of the following:
  - a. Now
  - b. Running time select the date and time from the dropdown calendar.
  - c. Click Next to go to the Unit type page (G4, G5, Pure).
- 2. Select the unit type from the dropdown list.
  - a. Click Next to go to the Components page.
- 3. Select the Components (See section 11.5.1.5)
  - a. Click Next to go to the Select action page
- 4. Mark one or both of the following actions:
  - a. Configuration file and browse to the location (path) of the fw/cnfg file.
  - b. Upgrade file and browse to the location (path) of the fw/cnfg file.
  - c. Click Next to go to the Notifications Configuration page.
- 5. Notification Configuration (See section 11.5.1.14)

### 11.5.4.2.4.5. Daylight saving updater

Selecting the Daylight Saving Updater task will allow users to check the transition times configured in G4 devices hourly, daily, or weekly. The task will compare these transition times to the transition times

configured in the operating system. If there are any differences, the task will update the daylight configuration in the G4 devices accordingly. In this task you only need to select the Run type and component.

## 11.5.4.3. Modifying a Task

- 1. Switch to the **"Tasks List"** view within the Scheduler's main interface.
- 2. Locate the task you want to modify and double-click on it.
- 3. Follow the instructions provided by the task modification wizard to make the necessary changes.

# 11.5.4.4. Deleting a Task

- 1. Navigate to the "Tasks List" view in the main Scheduler interface.
- 2. You can delete a task using one of the following methods:
  - a. Right-click on the task you wish to delete and select "Delete."
  - b. Find the task's corresponding row and click on the **"X"** icon in the delete column to remove it.

# 11.5.4.5. Opening an Attachment

### Option 1(Task list view):

- 1. Within the Scheduler's main interface, switch to the **"Task list"** view.
- 2. Locate the requested task you want to inspect or access.
- 3. Press on the "Attachment" button
- 4. Select the requested files that you would like to download and press the "Download" button

### Option 2 (Log view):

- 1. Within the Scheduler's main interface, switch to the **"Log"** view.
- 2. Locate the task log associated with the task you want to inspect or access.
- 3. Double-click on the task log entry to open it. This will allow you to view any attachments or additional information related to the task.

# **12. Special Features**

PQSCADA provides users with a range of special addons to enhance data analysis and management.

# 12.1. CSV Import

One such addon is CSV Import, which enables users to import data from CSV files. This addon includes a mapping file wizard that allows users to define how CSV data should be interpreted. The mapping file can be saved for future use, streamlining the import process. CSV Import allows users to bring in data from CSV files through various methods, including drag-and-drop, file/folder selection, or by adding a new component with CSV data.

# 12.1.1. Mapping selection

First user should drag and drop a CSV file, then the CSV Wizard is initiated.

In the mapping selection page, users have the option to create a new map or use an existing one from the server.

To create a new CSV mapping, users should provide a name and click 'Next' to proceed.



### 12.1.1.1 Create new map

In this wizard page, the user can configure the mapping and parameter settings for the CSV file.

### 12.1.1.1.1 Configuration for the CSV file

nfiguration fo	r the CSV f	ile									
File Encoding	Delimite	r	Data Ty	pe		Maximum rows	Header Row		Angle		
[	•	3	* Trend		-	100	1		Radians	•	
Time Type	Trigger t	ime	Time Fo	rmat		Time Zone	Installation Type	2			U
Absolute	- 15/11/	2023 09:06:04:42248	36 🔻			(UTC+02:00) Jerusalem -	Load	-	Networks/Fe	eders	

- File encoding Select the desired file encoding, such as UTF-8 or ANSI.
- Delimiter Specify the character used to separate or split text in the CSV file.
- Data type Choose how PQSCADA will parse the data, based on whether it's trend data (to be mapped to PQZ parameters) or log data (to be mapped to specific log table columns).
- Maximum rows Define the number of data rows to parse from the CSV file.
- Header row Specify which row in the CSV file contains the header information.
- Angle Decide whether to use angle values in degrees or radians.

- Time type Users can choose between two options:
  - **Relative time -** This setting incorporates CSV configured time alongside the selected time zone.
  - **Absolute time -** Enables the configuration of Trigger time, time format, and time zone for precise settings.
- **Installation Type** In Sapphire, there is support for two standards regarding power factor parameters: IEC and IEEE. This setting determines the approach used for the conversion of power factor parameters within the system.
- Network\Feeder button By default, the designated component is set with one network and one feeder. Users have the capability to modify existing network/feeder configurations or add new ones as needed.

Feeders	
+ 🗑	
ID Name Topology 1 Feeder1 WYE ~	
2 Feeder2 Delta *	
Network 2 Network 2	
+ 🙂	

• Reload the map Based on configurations – Refresh the new map page when configuration changes are made.

### 12.1.1.1.2 Column definition

Within the CSV Import wizard, users can further configure how the columns in the CSV file are interpreted.

Colum	ns definitio	ons													
Туре:	Time	• T	уре:	Parameter	•	Туре:	Parameter •	] Туре	:	Parameter •	Type:	Parameter 🔹	Туре:	Parameter	•
Interval:	Seconds		🗑	1		<b>@</b>	2	1		3	8	0.037	<b>8</b>	0.026	
			Units		•	Units		Uni	ts	•	Units		Units		•
		3	Scaling	1	÷	Scaling	1	Sca	ling	1 🕽	Scaling	1 🗊	Scaling	1	Ĵ

### Data type is 'Trend'

• Parameter – This is typically used for measurement data.

o Name

- Non-standard name PQSCADA Sapphire will generate a parameter name automatically.
- Standard parameter Click on the three dots to open the parameter selection wizard and a list of parameters will be presented. Feeders list will be displayed according to user modification.
- Units users can select a unit to Non-standard parameters, for standard parameters, the original units associated with these parameters are automatically recognized and displayed.
- **Scaling –** Users have the option to scale parameter values. This means multiplying the original value by a specified scaling factor.

- **Time –** Usually, the first column in a CSV file represents time.
  - Interval This setting determines the duration between each data row and is accessible exclusively when the time type is set to 'Relative'.
- **Flag** Certain devices include a "status" column primarily for the flagging concept. In such cases, customers may need to map the corresponding values to the supported statuses in PQSCADA for compatibility and proper integration.
- **Clear –** This button allows users to clear any parameter name or selection previously made for a column.

#### Data type is 'LogData'

C	olum	ns definitions												
C F	Column Header	Name •	Column Header	StartTime •	Column Header	EndTime •	Column Header	Duration •	Column Header	Phase •	Column Header	Value 🔹	Column Header	1
											Scaling	1 +		

Column header – allows the user to determine the column data type.
 Note: Column header must be correct.

### 12.1.1.1.3 Data preview

In the CSV file, data rows are organized for each column, and all data should be mapped and displayed per column in a list.

This ensures that each column of data is correctly associated with its corresponding parameter or attribute in PQSCADA Sapphire, allowing for precise data analysis and visualization .

#### To finalize the creation of the mapping file:

- Once you've configured the mapping file settings, click on the 'Save' button.
- The wizard window will close, and the mapping file will be saved for future use.
- Additionally, a new investigation will be generated in PQSCADA Sapphire, incorporating the specified configurations you've set.

### To cancel the configuration process:

- If you choose not to proceed with creating the mapping file, click on the 'Cancel' or 'X' buttons.
- This action will result in the closure of the wizard window without saving any new file mapping configurations you might have set.

### 12.1.1.2 Existing mapping file

Users can choose to utilize an existing mapping file or modify an existing file:

#### Modify an existing mapping file

- Select the desired mapping file from the list of existing files.
- Click on the 'Edit' button.
- Make the required updates or modifications to the existing configurations.
- Upon completion of changes, click the 'Save' button to preserve the updated mapping file.

### Execute an existing mapping file

- Select the desired mapping file you intend to run from the available list of existing mapping files.
- Click on the 'Run' button linked to the chosen mapping file to initiate its execution.

# 12.1.2. CSV Component

Another option is to create a component from CSV type, but to use this component preparation should be done.

### Copy existing CSV mapping file

- Navigate to the directory: \\AppData\Roaming\PQS\AddOns\Converters\CSV\MAPS
- Copy 'MAPS' folder containing the required mapping files.
- Paste these copied mapping files into: C:\ProgramData\PQS\AddOns\Converters\CSV\MAPS
- Restart the PQS server service

### To create new CSV component

- 1. Go to Actions >> 'add new component'
- 2. Select CSV\_component and click on the 'Next' button
- 3. Enter details such as: device IP\Address, port, username, password and directory path of the requested device, click on the **'Next'**
- 4. Under the CSV mapping page, choose between:
  - a. **Single map file** Choose this option if you want the component to work with only one existing mapping file.
  - b. Multiple map files Select this option if you want the component to work with multiple existing mapping files. For each CSV mapping file, insert a search word. Every time a CSV file contains this search word, the component will know which mapping file to use.
  - c. **Add new row** You can add a new row to specify additional mapping files to associate with the CSV component.
  - d. click on the 'Next' button
- 5. Choose the desire DB type and click on the **'Next'** button
- 6. Insert valid component name and click on the 'Next'
- 7. Complete the process by clicking 'Finish'.

Now, you can create an investigation using data from this newly created CSV component within PQS.

# **12.2. Event source detection**

PQSCADA involves detection of events from dip and interruption types, with the software distinguishing between 'Upstream,' 'Downstream,' and 'Unknown' sources:

- Upstream: Denotes an external network as the source of the event.
- **Downstream:** Indicates an internal network as the source of the event.
- Unknown: Signifies that the source of the event couldn't be identified.

This information regarding the event source is presented as a column in the Event chart available under the investigation and Power Quality modules within PQSCADA.

Starting from Sapphire version .1.0.7.28, PQSCADA automatically recognizes the source of events for data processed after the installation of this version.

However, for historical events, if the user wishes to enable PQSCADA to detect their sources, they can do so using the event source detection feature found in the Schedule\Task module. This allows the system to identify the source of historical events.

### Event chart

Event source column will always be display with the source detection.

### Event source detection task (Historical data)

The Event Source Detection task in PQSCADA allows users to perform historical data analysis to detect event sources. Here's a step-by-step guide on how to execute this task:

- 1. Navigate to the Schedule\Task module within the PQSCADA interface.
- 2. Click on the option to create a new task.
- 3. Choose the "Control and Maintenance" option and proceed by clicking the 'Next' button.
- 4. Select 'Event Source Detection' from the available options and proceed to the next step.
- 5. Insert a valid name for the task and click 'Next' twice to advance.
- 6. Select the time interval for the task to run and process the historical data. Then, click 'Next'.
- 7. Choose the relevant component for which you want to detect event sources, then click 'Next'.
- 8. Move the specific event types (limited to Dip and Interruption events) from the source to the destination area, then press the 'Next' button.
- 9. Once configured, click 'Finish' to conclude the task setup.

Upon completion of the above steps, you can create an event chart based on the specified data time interval from step 6 to visualize and analyze the event sources detected by PQSCADA for the selected component.

# **13. Appendices**

# Appendix A. Compliance

In PQSCADA, compliance settings play a crucial role in assessing the quality of the electrical network between the supplier and the consumer. Compliance settings are specific regulatory standards or guidelines that vary by country or region. These standards are used to evaluate and ensure the quality of the power supply. Here are some key points about compliance settings in PQSCADA:

Available Compliances:

- 1. Belarus FOCT 32144-2013
- 2. DranetzFOL
- 3. EN 50160
- 4. FOL
- 5. Generic
- 6. FOCT 32144-2013
- 7. IEEE519 2014
- 8. IEEE-519 2022
- 9. NRS
- 10. PQElia

### Recalculation on Past Data:

Compliance settings can be applied retroactively to past data, enabling you to assess historical power quality against current compliance standards.

### Purpose of Compliance:

Compliance settings are used to determine if the electrical network's quality meets the regulatory standards of a specific region. This is important for ensuring the reliability and stability of the power supply.

### Parameters and Time Frame:

Each compliance is based on specific parameters, and these parameters are evaluated within a defined observation window, typically a week. Statistics are generated based on data collected during this time frame.

### Variety of Rules:

Compliance settings consist of rules or chapters within the compliance report. Each rule defines certain criteria that must be met. For example, a rule might specify the maximum allowable number of voltage dips within the observation window. If this limit is exceeded, the compliance fails. Another rule might establish boundaries within which a parameter's value should remain. Deviating from these boundaries for more than a specified percentage of the time would also result in compliance failure.

### **Customization and Selection:**

In PQSCADA, you can select the compliance that needs to be calculated for each component. Once a compliance is selected, the relevant parameters and events required for that compliance are highlighted in yellow, indicating that they cannot be changed. This ensures that the assessment is conducted according to the selected compliance's criteria.

### Multiple Compliances:

PQSCADA allows users to select one or more compliances, enabling a comparison of compliances based on the same data. This feature is valuable for evaluating power quality against multiple sets of standards or regulations simultaneously.

For example:

Harmonic	Time Percent Limit[%]	Regulation max [%]	Harmonic	Time Percent Limit[%]	Regulation max [%]
2	99	7.5	2	99	15
3	99	30	3	99	30
4	99	7.5	4	99	15
5	99	30	5	99	30
6	99	7.5	6	99	15
7	99	30	7	99	30
8	99	7.5	8	99	30
9	99	30	9	99	30
10	99	7.5	10	99	30
11	99	14	11	99	14
12	99	3.5	12	99	14
13	99	14	13	99	14
14	99	3.5	14	99	14
15	99	14	15	99	14
16	99	3.5	16	99	14
17	99	12	17	99	12

#### IEEE-519 2014 limits

#### IEEE-519 2022 limits

# Appendix B. Loads and Connections

This appendix provides an overview of different load types and connection configurations commonly used in electrical systems. Understanding these concepts is essential for managing and monitoring power quality effectively.

### Load Connection Basics:

**Current Flow:** When a load is connected to an electrical system, it creates a path for electric current to flow from the power source to the load itself. In essence, it completes the circuit, allowing the flow of electricity.

**Meter Connection Options:** When connecting a meter to an electrical system, there are typically two options:

- **Measuring Output from Source:** This option involves measuring the electrical parameters as they exit the power source.
- **Measuring Load Consumption:** The more commonly used option is to measure the electrical parameters as they leave the load, i.e., after passing through the load.

**Measuring Point:** The location where the meter is connected to measure load consumption is known as the "measuring point." In Elspec, this measuring point is referred to as a "Feeder."



### Load Connection Topologies:

Understanding the topology at the measuring point (Feeder) is crucial because it determines which electrical channels are relevant. Several topologies are important to know:

### WYE (Star Connection):

This is the most common type of electrical connection.

Voltage is measured as the difference between potentials. For example, V1 (L1) refers to the voltage difference between V1 and the Neutral (N).

In household electrical sockets in Israel, there is one phase (V1) along with Neutral (N) and Ground (GND). However, at the entrance to the house in the electrical cabinet, all three phases are present.



### Delta (Triangle Connection):

Delta connections aim to reduce the number of wires needed by not using a Neutral (N) wire.

In Delta configurations, the potential difference is not between the voltage and the ground, but between phase-to-phase voltages, such as V1 to V2, V2 to V3, and V3 to V1.

This configuration can result in higher voltages (e.g., 345V) and lower currents, which reduces heat generation. It is often used for high-energy-consuming devices.



### LN (Line to Neutral):

In LN topology, there is only one household phase along with Neutral (N) and Ground (GND).

This method is used when a load operates in a single phase, and current flows from the Voltage (V) to Neutral (N). An example is an electrical light train.

V1 \_\_\_\_\_ N

### LL (Line to Line):

LL is a special case of the Delta connection where Line-to-Line voltage (e.g., V1 to V2) is utilized.

This configuration is used in cases where current flows from one phase to another, such as in a bullet train.



### Safety Notes:

- Birds perching on electrical wires typically only touch one wire (phase). If they don't touch the ground, there's no voltage difference, and electricity doesn't flow through them.
- Rubber boots act as insulators, preventing electricity from passing through a person wearing them.

### 2 Phase TR (Two-Phase Transformer):

This topology is used when long electrical wires are required in remote areas, such as the Australian desert.

It uses only two phases (V1 and V2) for long-distance transmission.

When connecting at the destination, one of the phases may be connected to ground.

This configuration provides both line-to-line (V1 and V2) and line-to-ground measurements.



# Appendix C. Historical Data

PQSCADA Sapphire manages historical data using two primary types: Binary Data and Summary Data. Understanding these data types and their characteristics is crucial for effective power quality analysis.

## C.1. Binary and Summary Data

- 1. **Binary Data:** Binary data consists of waveform data stored in chunks of 1 minute each. This data can include raw information on harmonics or compressed waveform data (depending on the source). Binary data is stored in a dedicated database table (binary 1 table).
  - Binary data is typically used for requests that cover less than 3 hours of data.
  - For requests spanning more than 3 hours, Summary data is used.
- 2. **Summary Data:** Summary data consists of calculated parameters, including minimum, maximum, and average values over different time intervals. Summary data is crucial for quickly accessing data at lower resolutions (e.g., 1 hour, 1 day, etc.).
  - Summary data may include thousands of parameters, which can be calculated from binary data, fetched instance data, or acquired directly from a device.
  - Summary data can arrive in two ways: it can be calculated by PQSCADA based on the incoming data, or it can be obtained directly from a unit.

### Calculating Historical Data:

- Calculating historical data, especially from raw binary data, can be resource-intensive and time-consuming.
- Summaries calculated in the unit itself might differ slightly from those calculated in PQSCADA due to variations in raw data. Recalculating parameters in PQSCADA can ensure precise results but may require significant processing time.

### Managing Summary Data Size:

- Summary files are not compressed, making them large. This can lead to issues with file accuracy.
- One way to manage this is by adding a database (DB) in newer units (like G5 and the new G4). PQSCADA can then directly retrieve summary data from the unit using the PQZ communication protocol. This keeps files small but may limit the ability to retrieve older data from the unit's DB.

### Fetch Data for Real-Time Charts:

- Fetch data is mainly used for real-time charts and involves obtaining instant data from the device. Not all parameters displayed in real-time are saved into the database.
- In Elspec's units (Pure, G5, and new G4), parameters are typically based on an average of 200ms, with min/max values based on cycle frequencies (HCYC). When data is pulled from the unit to PQSCADA, this is the base.

## C.2. Recalculation Process

Recalculation is a vital process for maintaining data accuracy and adjusting when necessary. It is used in the following scenarios:

- 1. Adding, removing, or modifying power quality parameters in the summary data.
- 2. Adding, modifying, or removing events from a component.
- 3. Adding, modifying, or removing compliance standards for a component.
- 4. Changing unit configurations due to misconfiguration or incorrect installations.

The recalculation process involves recalculating selected parameters, events, or compliance standards from the raw waveform data. When unit configurations change, the recalculation applies to all historical data, ensuring consistency and accuracy in the analysis of power quality data.